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Chairman’s Statement
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Words from the Chairman: Leoch International — a Leader

in Battery Power Supply Innovation and Reliability

TGS - LB —

I, on behalf of the Board of Directors, am pleased to present
the annual result as of 31 December 2010.

2010 was a very important milestone for the Company. We
successfully listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited on 16 November 2010, being a strong
endorsement of our corporate strategy, strong employee
driven culture and management team by very high profile
local and international investors. On 7 March 2011, we
became a component stock of the Hang Seng Small to Mid
Cap Composite Index, which is another important milestone
for the Company and a symbol of our increasing profile with
investors. We have taken and will continue to take full
advantage of our broad capital platform as a public company
to further expand our global sales network, reinforce our
team’s structure and management capability, and enhance
our research and development ability and innovation, which
allow us to lead our markets and the industry. We continue
to strive towards our main goal, which is to become the
world’s leading lead acid battery manufacturer.

Due to the global financial crisis, many industries and many
of our competitors have struggled. The Company not only
survived the financial crisis, but delivered continuous and
significant growth through the crisis. The global financial crisis
forced our existing and potential customers to focus on cost
control, and given our more favourable position as compared
to our competitors in this end, we have seen a significant
increase in request for quotations. Importantly, over the same
period governments across our markets have generally put
in place much more stringent requirements relating to
environmental and safety standards on imported products.
The Company, given its unique positioning in China in
providing customers with higher value-added products, was
able to grasp this opportunity more fully and faster than its
competitors and grew quickly.
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Therefore, it is with great pride that, on behalf of the
Company, | present our first annual report as of 31 December
2010. The Company recorded revenue of RMB 2,116.9
million, representing an increase of 52.1%, and profit of RMB
257.5 million representing an increase of 77.3%.

Future Prospects: Growth Underpinned by Four Key
Drivers

Technology and industry upgrade in China battery
industry

Since our establishment in 1999, we initially focused on the
international market and by 2009 had quickly grown to
become a leading Chinese lead-acid battery exporter.
Technology improvement, development and innovation have
brought vitality and visibility to the Leoch brand and in the
recent years we are proud to have become the supplier for
top world brands such as Eaton, Emerson, BMW, and Mattel.
Our products are viewed by our bluechip customer base as
world-class in terms of reliability and innovation, and our
technology and production ability has reached leading
position. We are uniquely positioned to fully leverage these
advantages over the near-term with both local and
international customers.

Urbanisation and national income increase in China

China’s economy is clearly in a rapidly growing period. This
economic growth and the parallel growth in consumer
demand keeps expanding the demand for core infrastructure
and power generation related products that we supply such
as substations, telephone exchange power supply, and UPS.
Due to continuing urbanisation in China, the secular growth
in demand will continue for many years and we believe is a
great opportunity for the Company. We will positively respond
to this rapid market evolution, providing more advanced,
exacting and high quality products in order to expand market
share in our important domestic market.
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Consolidation of China battery industry

The current battery industry in China is highly fragmented
with a significant number of players who operate highly
inefficiently consuming excessive raw materials and power.
This phenomenon has already been recognised by main
industry association and the central government. Saving
energy, reducing emissions and the consumption of key
natural resources will be main themes for the future. We
expect in the coming few years to see significant
consolidation in the battery industry. The PRC Ministry of
Environmental Protection has already implemented more
stringent regulations focusing on environmental protection
with an aim to eliminating low-end producers. We have an
experienced and outstanding management team who are
well placed with all the key stakeholders from customers to
government authorities to act as consolidators and have the
financing platform as a public company to effect this
consolidation.

Renewable energy is supported by governments
worldwide with increasing application in the future

Governments around the world, especially in developed
countries, pay great attention to renewable energies such
as solar and wind energies. The PRC government has also
stepped up its effort to support the renewable energy
industry recently resulting in a growing demand for a number
of products, including offline power systems such as offline
solar energy. This will lead to significantly growing demand
for energy-storage batteries, a main component in offline
energy systems. We believe this is another great future
growth opportunity for us.
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Our future strategies

In order to fully capture the enormous market opportunities
facing us, we implement the following strategies:

1. Strengthen our team structure and human resources:
We have built an excellent culture focused on our
management team and employees which lays our
foundation to be a world class enterprise. To solidify
this foundation, we will continue to invest in staff training
and identification, recruitment and retention of talents.
Human resources are very important for our
development. We were founded in 1999 with only 10
staff and have evolved to be an enterprise with over
7,500 employees worldwide. We continuously recruit
outstanding college graduates and experienced
personnel and provide training and promotion to our
employees. All these measures are critical to our rapid
growth and development. We strive to make the best
use of every employee.

2. Strengthen our research and development capabilities:
We continue to invest in research and development of
technology. We will expand our research and
technology team and continue to cooperate with
world’s leading institutes and experts in order to
enhance the quality, effectiveness and leadership of
our research and development capabilities. We aim to
establish ourselves as an enterprise with innovative
research and technology, leading techniques and
advanced products with which customers seek to
cooperate to design and produce their key products.

3. Increase our investment in equipments and facilities:
custom-designed capital equipment and facilities are
a key strategy pillar and an important factor to our
product quality. We continue to upgrade our existing
equipment and facilities. We also introduce new and
advanced equipment and machinery. As we roll out our
new products, processes and facilities related to the
pure lead areas, our target is to standardise our
operation and maintenance process across all of our
facilities, which requires us to continue to upgrade the
knowledge and transform the concept of our equipment
maintenance and operation staff.
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4.  Become a world leading battery manufacturer: We will
increase our investment in infrastructure, which is
important as we move to full utilisation of our production
capacity at our three main production plants in
Zhaoqging, Anhui and Jiangsu. We have and will
continue to increase the productivity of these three
production plants, while at the same time looking to
invest appropriately in new production facilities
worldwide to increase our production capacity.

Conclusion

The listing on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Lmited is
just the beginning of a new and exciting chapter for the
Company. Our aim is to provide customers with competitive
prices, reliable quality, timely delivery and comprehensive
services and these efforts are being recognised by them and
reflect in our order intake and sales growth. We will continue
to promote our corporate image, increase our customer’s
satisfactory level to build a world-class company. In the
coming years, we will focus and invest to increase our
research and development capability and expand our scale.
At the same time we will pay more effort to expand our sales
in domestic and international markets, in order to build the
Company into a truly multi-national company. The rapid
growth of the Company depends on our loyal and diligent
management and employees. |, hereby, on behalf of the
Board of Directors, am sincerely grateful for the contributions
of all our employees and the support and trust of our
shareholders and other key stakeholders.

2011 is going to be a key year for the Company to the
implementation of its strategic target to become a world class
company. We shoulder great responsibilities. But we will draw
from the spirit of Dr. Sun Yatsen, who said: “I will be pursue
my ambitions without any hesitation and work towards the
goal unyieldingly”. We will continue to work and we believe
that our effort will bring the name of “Leoch International” to
the forefront of world battery manufacturing industry.

Dong Li
Chairman

Hong Kong, 15 March 2011
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Business Review

China is the fastest growing lead-acid battery market in the
world. According to Asia Battery Association, China’s lead-
acid battery market has grown from 54.0 million KVAh in
2005 to 166.5 million KVAh in 2010, representing a
compound annual growth rate (“CAGR”) of 25.3%.

The Group is a leading manufacturer and developer of
lead-acid batteries in China. According to Asia Battery
Association, the Group was the largest lead-acid battery
exporter and the third largest reserve power lead-acid battery
manufacturer in China based on export revenue in 2009.
Lead-acid market is divided into three sectors: reserve power
batteries, SLI batteries and motive power batteries. The
Group manufactured over 1,500 models of lead-acid battery
products including reserve power batteries, SLI batteries and
motive power batteries, ranging in capacity from 0.251 Ah
to 4,025 Ah. Among Chinese battery manufacturers, the
Group offers one of the broadest lines of lead-acid batteries.

Reserve power batteries:

Reserve power batteries are the major source of the Group’s
revenue and it recorded a significant growth in sales during
the year ended 31 December 2010 (the “Period”). According
to Asia Battery Association, the market size of reserve power
batteries is approximately 46.6 million KVAh in 2010. The
Group recorded a sales volume of 3.7 million KVAh which
amounted to RMB1,881.4 million, representing an increase
of 50.9%, for the Period. Reserve power batteries products
are mainly applied to four segments, namely uninterrupted
power supply system (UPS), telecommunications, other
consumer products, and renewable energy. The Group’s
sales in UPS segment increased remarkably, which is mainly
attributable to the fact that the Group has started to replace
foreign battery manufacturers and supply products to the
major worldwide UPS manufacturers. The sales in
telecommunication segment also increase significantly. The
market share of the Group in telecommunications segment
continued expanding. Therefore, the Group still obtained
considerable growth even the telecommunications operators
did not increase investment. As the global economy
recovered, the sales of electronic consumer products
rebounded driving the demand for batteries. The sales in
consumer segment rose significantly during the Period. The
sales in renewable energy batteries was increased
significantly due to the application of new energy sources
such as solar and wind energy power generation increased
and the Group predicts this trend will continue.
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SLI batteries:

SLI batteries are used in starting automobiles and
motorcycles. The Group recorded a substantial growth in
sales of SLI batteries during the Period. According to Asia
Battery Association, the market size of SLI batteries is
approximately 58.4 million KVAh in 2010. The Group
recorded a sales volume of 0.3 million KVAh which amounted
to RMB146.8 million, representing an increase of 61.5%,
for the Period. This is mainly benefited from the cooperation
with foreign manufacturers of automobiles and motorcycles
in the past few years. The quality and value of the Group’s
products have been recognised and therefore foreign
manufacturers speed up transferring orders to the Group.
The Group predicts this trend will continue.

Motive power batteries:

Motive power batteries are mainly used in providing power
for electric vehicles (such as forklifts and golf cars), power
tools and other portable equipment. We recorded a large
growth in sales of motive power batteries during the Period.
According to Asia Battery Association, the market size of
motive power batteries is approximately 61.6 million KVAh
in 2010. The Group recorded a sales volume of 0.1 million
KVAh which amounted to RMB26.5 million, representing an
increase of 863.4%, for the Period. After trial run, the Group
commenced production of motive power batteries in 2010.
Meanwhile, the increasing investment in green energies by
different countries greatly raises demands for these kinds of
motive power batteries. The Group predicts this trend will
continue.

Sales network

The Group’s China sales headquarter was located in Beijing
and the Group has 31 sales representative offices in major
provinces and municipalities nationwide. The Group’s
international sales headquarter was located in Shenzhen.
The Group also has five international sales offices and
warehouses in the United States, the European Union and
Singapore. The Group’s products are sold to more than 100
countries and regions worldwide. Currently, the Group has
over 250 sales personnel and after-sales personnel and has
established business relationships with distributors in 14
countries. The Group will continue expanding its sales teams
and sales network.
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Production base

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had five production
bases and operated 53 production lines with plant area of
240,000 square metres. The installed annual production
capacity was approximately 5.9 million KVAh in aggregate.
The Group will actively seek and construct new production
base in order to further strengthen the production capacity
of the Group.

Research and development and development of new
products

The Group is a leader in developing and deploying lead acid
battery technologies in China. The Group’s growing research
and development team consists of more than 300
researchers and technicians, and works closely with
domestic and international battery experts and battery
research institutions to develop new technologies. To support
its research and development effort, the Group has
established two high-tech research centers with advanced
equipment to complement its research and development
human resources. The Group’s strong research and
development capabilities have enabled it to produce a broad
range of battery products employing most of the key lead-
acid battery technologies and enhanced its ability to deliver
customised products in a short period of time. The Group
continuously pursues technological advancement and
innovation of its products. Currently, the Group has registered
48 patents in China and one patent in Hong Kong and other
145 proprietary technologies are under application for patent
registration.

With the endeavors of the Group’s researchers and
technicians for two years, the Group’s pure lead batteries
production line started trial production at the end of 2010. A
number of customers have placed orders for the Group’s
pure lead batteries for product testing. The Group anticipates
pure lead batteries will provide positive effect towards
enhancing its profits. The Group will continuously develop
and place resources in new high technologies so as to
maintain its leadership in technological aspect.
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Raw materials

Lead constitutes the largest share of raw material of the
Group, which represented approximately 64.1% to the cost
of raw materials for the Period. Pursuant to the contracts
with lead supplier, the price of each shipment is based on
the lead price published on by the Shanghai Metals Market.
To protect itself from the risk of price fluctuation, sales
contracts with the Group’s customers have similar pricing
mechanism, where prices of the Group’s products are
adjusted if the lead price on the Shanghai Metals Market
rises or falls beyond a certain range.

Future Prospects

The Company considers batteries as necessities of modern
society and form an important part of renewable energy
industry. The Company believes green energy is the main
stream of energy industry development. Lead acid batteries
is considered irreplaceable in the foreseeable future, due to
its high cycling rate, low production cost and safety reliability.
The Company, therefore, anticipates that due to the four
aspects of technology and industry upgrade in China battery
industry, consolidation of China battery industry, urbanisation
and national income increase in China and renewable energy
is supported by governments worldwide with increasing
application in the future, the lead acid market in China will
enjoy continuous increase. To grasp these market
opportunities, the Company has the following strategic plans
for the three sectors of lead acid batteries:
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Reserve power batteries:

As the technologies keep improving and the PRC industries
keep upgrading, and as a result of the migration from reliance
on low-end techniques in the past to current high-end level,
international users would speed up the transfer of their orders
to PRC. The Company considers that the four segments of
reserve power batteries, namely UPS, telecommunication,
other consumer products, and renewable energy, will
maintain their expansion trend. The products manufactured
by the Group passed the trial of several quality UPS
manufacturers in local and international markets; hence, it
is expected that more orders from quality customers will be
secured which will also generate substantial orders from the
after-sales market accordingly. The Company believes that
the Group’s ability to provide quality services and products
to telecommunication operators will enable itself to further
increase its market share in the telecommunication battery
market. The continued sales growth of electronic
consumables driven by global economic growth and
highlights of competitive strengths of products manufactured
in China increase the demand for consumer product
batteries. The Group will strive to satisfy the market of such
products. The sales in renewable energy such as solar and
wind energy batteries will also be increased significantly due
to the promotion and application in green energy industry.

SLI batteries:

PRC economy is in a fast growing period and enjoys growing
consumption demands, and urbanisation rate, which
increase the demand for domestic vehicles. During the year
2010, China ranked first in vehicle production and sales in
the world, which further power the demand for SLI batteries.
The Group will further seize the market by producing more
advanced products of high quality. In the coming years, the
Group will enlarge its investment in SLI batteries, and it is
expected that SLI batteries will contribute to the continuous
growth of the Group’s sales.

Motive power batteries:

Various countries, particularly the developed ones, have
placed emphasis on green energy in recent years. China
also increases its support to the green energy industry, and
extensively promotes electric vehicles. The Chinese
government has included the promotion of green energy
vehicles into its national plan, which enhanced demand for
motive power batteries. The Group will further develop its
capacities in the level of research and development as well
as in production and sales to provide competitive products
in the market, in order to continuously satisfy the increasing
market demand.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s revenue increased by 52.1% from RMB1,391.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2009 to RMB2,116.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2010, mainly
because of an increase in sales volume for the Group’s
products.

In terms of battery types, revenue from reserve power
batteries increased from RMB1,246.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2009 to RMB1,881.4 million for the
year ended 31 December 2010, representing an increase of
50.9%. Revenue generated from SLI batteries raised by
61.5% from RMB90.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2009 to RMB146.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2010. Revenue from motive power batteries
increased from RMB2.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2009 to RMB26.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2010, representing an increase of 863.4%. Details

HA 755 15
&

AEBHWREHBEE-_SZNAF+=-A=+—
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of the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December ZTAER-_T—ZF+_-_A=+—HILFE
2009 and 2010 by product categories are set out below: REMERESE D HKREAA
2010 2009
—E-2F —TThF
Percentage
Revenue Share increase Revenue Share
Product Category EmER W= (=154 BREE W g {5 d
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AREBTT
Reserve power batteries HREM 1,881,424 88.9% 50.9% | 1,246,768 89.6%
SLI batteries BEEN 146,750 6.9% 61.5% 90,845 6.5%
Motive power batteries HAEM 26,541 1.3% 863.4% 2,755 0.2%
Other Hh 62,156 2.9% 21.5% 51,165 3.7%
Total AEf 2,116,871 100% 52.1% 1,391,533 100%
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Geographically, the Group’s customers are principally located
in China, the United States, the European Union and other
Asian countries/regions. As at the year ended 31 December
2010, the Group’s sales revenue in China increased
significantly by 40.4% from RMB625.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2009 to RMB878.2 million, representing
41.5% of total revenue (31 December 2009: 44.9%).
Although sales in China recorded substantial increase, the
Group’s revenue from other Asian countries/areas recorded
proportionately greater increase during the Period, as the
manufacturers of the region transferred larger number of
orders to the Group. As the increase in sales in other Asian
countries/areas is comparably higher than that of other
regions, the proportion of sales from China and the United
States decreased relatively. The following table sets forth
details of the Group’s revenue during the year ended 31
December 2009 and 2010 based on the geographic
locations.

FiFEME FEEBRPEZTEMAPE - X
Bl  MBEREMEMNBER e - HE—ZF—
TZF+_A=1+—HLFE  AEEEHEN
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M625.48 B T AR EF404%E T —FF+
—A=+—HIM8782AE T ' (AN
41.5%(ZFZNF+A=+T—8 : 44.9%) °
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T PERERSHEHE L HIEESE T
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2010 2009
—B-F —TTNEF
Percentage

RMB’000 Share (%) increase RMB’000 Share (%)

ARBTR Batt BRE| ARBTT B

China H 878,176 41.5% 40.4% 625,398 44.9%

United States e 343,894 16.2% 34.2% 256,199 18.4%

European Union (] 409,179 19.3% 64.7% 248,439 17.9%
Other Asian HAth 32 M

Countries/Areas Bz /& 399,417 18.9% 97.5% 202,198 14.5%

Other Countries H A B 86,205 4.1% 45.4% 59,299 4.3%

Total &af 2,116,871 100% 52.1% | 1,391,533 100%

Cost of Sales

The Group’s cost of sales increased by 44.4% from
RMB1,102.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2009
to RMB1,591.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2010, mainly because of the increased sales volume.
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Gross profit

The Group’s gross profit increased by 81.6% from RMB289.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2009 to RMB525.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2010. The overall
gross profit margin increased from 20.8% for the year ended
31 December 2009 to 24.8% for the year ended 31
December 2010. This was mainly due to decreased unit fixed
costs as the result of economic of scale caused by increased
sales, and the improvement of existing production
procedures, which also contributed to higher gross profit
for the Group.

Other Income and Gains

Other income and gains increased by 8.8% from RMB20.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2009 to RMB22.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2010, which was
primarily due to increases in bank interest income.

Selling and Distribution Costs

The Group’s selling and distribution costs increased by
33.5% from RMB57.3 million for the year ended
31 December 2009 to RMB76.5 million for the year ended
31 December 2010, mainly because of the increase of freight
and staff cost related to the expanding sales.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses increased by 70.2%
from RMB70.1 million for the year ended
31 December 2009 to RMB119.3 million for the year ended
31 December 2010, mainly because of the professional
expenses relating to the global offering of the Company and
the increase in staff cost to strengthen the Group’s
management.

Other Expenses

The Group’s other operating expenses increased by 129.3%
from RMB13.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2009
to RMB30.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2010,
mainly because of the increased research and development
cost.
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Finance Costs

The Group’s finance costs increased by 131.0% from
RMB9.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2009 to
RMB22.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2010,
mainly because of an increase in bank borrowings.

Profit before Income Tax

As a result of the foregoing factors, the Group recorded profit
before income taxes of RMB299.7 million in the year ended
31 December 2010 compared to RMB159.8 million in the
year ended 31 December 2009, representing an increase of
87.6%.

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense increased by 190.6% from RMB14.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2009 to RMB42.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2010, mainly
because of the increase in the Group’s profits and two of
the Company’s PRC subsidiaries no longer enjoy full
exemption from income tax.

Profit for the Year

As a result of the foregoing factors, the Group’s profit for the
year increased by 77.3% from RMB145.3 million for the year
ended 31 December 2009 to RMB257.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2010.

Net Current Assets

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had net current assets
of RMB1,442.0 million (31 December 2009: RMB52.8
million). The Group’s current assets mainly consist of
inventories, trade and bills receivables, cash and bank
balances, and prepayments, deposits and other receivables.
The Group’s current liabilities mainly consist of trade and
bills payables, other payables and accruals, and interest-
bearing bank borrowings.
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Inventories

Inventories constituted one of the principal components of
the Group’s current assets. As at 31 December 2010, the
Group had inventories of RMB687.7 million (31 December
2009: RMB180.7 million). The increase in inventories was
primarily due to higher sales volume lead to high preparation
inventory and increased purchases of raw materials
associated with increased production volume.

Trade and Other Receivables Analysis

(a) Trade and bills receivables

The Group’s trade and bills receivables primarily relate
to receivables for goods sold to its customers. As at
31 December 2010, the Group had trade and bills
receivables of RMB585.1 million (31 December 2009:
RMB340.4 million). The increase in trade and bills
receivables was primarily due to the increase in sales
volume.

(b) Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

The Group principally makes prepayments and
deposits in connection with its purchase of raw
materials, the large majority of which relates to its
purchase of lead. As at 31 December 2010, the Group
had prepayments, deposits and other receivables of
RMB175.0 million (31 December 2009: RMB28.5
million). The increase in prepayments, deposits and
other receivables was primarily due to the increase in
the Group’s scale of operations and the related
increase in the deposits paid to the Group’s suppliers.

Trade and Bills Payables

The Group’s trade and bills payables primarily relate to its
purchase of raw materials that the Group requires for its
production process. The largest component of trade and
bills payables relates to the Group’s purchase of lead. As at
31 December 2010, the Group had trade and bills payables
of RMB345.5 million (31 December 2009: RMB163.1 million).
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Other Payables and Accruals

The Group’s other payables and accruals primarily consist
of payments for its expenditures related to construction and
outfitting of its production facilities, payments it makes in
connection with transportation charges, advance payments
that some international customers make to it in advance of
its shipments, and payroll and benefits for its employees
and staff. Deferred government grants represent subsidies
from PRC government in relation to prepaid land lease
payment as encouragements to the Group’s capital
investments. As at 31 December 2010, the Group had other
payables and accruals of RMB161.3 million (31 December
2009: RMB130.6 million).

Capital Expenditures

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group
invested RMB197.7 million (31 December 2009: RMB100.6
million) in construction in progress and property, plant and
equipment for its new production facilities.

Borrowings

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had bank borrowings
of RMB416.6 million (31 December 2009: RMB173.3 million),
all of which are interest-bearing and repayable within one
year. The Group’s borrowings are denominated in RMB and
U.S. dollars, and the effective interest rates of which as of
31 December 2010 were 3.46% to 5.89% (31 December
2009: 2.28% to 5.31%).

Most the Group’s bank borrowings are secured by pledges
of certain of the Group’s assets including prepaid land lease
payments, property, plant and equipment, trade and bills
receivables and bank deposits.

As at 31 December 2010, the Group’s gearing ratio was
13.5% (831 December 2009: 21.4%), which was calculated
by dividing total borrowings by total assets as of the end of
each respective period, multiplied by 100%.

Contingent liabilities

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities
as at 31 December 2010 (31 December 2009: nil).
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Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group operates primarily in the PRC. For the Group’s
companies in the PRC, their principal activities are transacted
in RMB. For other companies outside of the PRC, their
principal activities are transacted in U.S. dollars. The Group
does not enter into any hedging transactions to manage the
potential fluctuation in foreign currency as the Directors
believe that the Group does not have significant foreign
currency risk exposure. However, as a result of the Group’s
revenue being denominated in RMB, the conversion of the
revenue into foreign currencies in connection with expense
payments is subject to PRC regulatory restrictions on
currency conversion. The value of the RMB against the U.S.
dollar and other currencies may fluctuate and is affected by,
among other things, change in PRC’s political and economic
conditions. The Group’s product sales adopted price
mechanism, the currency fluctuation is basically transferred
to the customers, but the Group’s foreign currency trade
receivables may still be exposed to risk in the credit period.
Due to the Directors’ consideration of that the Group is not
exposed to material currency exchange risk, the Group did
not arrange any hedge transaction to manage potential
fluctuation risk.

Use of Net Proceeds from the Company’s
Initial Public Offering

The Company was successfully listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 16 November
2010, raising net proceeds (after deduction of the related
expenses) of HK$1,717.6 million. The Company has utilised
such net proceeds in the manner consistent with that
mentioned in its prospectus dated 3 November 2010 under
the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds”. As
at 31 December 2010, HK$656.0 million of the net proceeds
has been utilised, of which approximately HK$478.3 million
was used for the expansion of production capacity,
approximately HK$0.9 million was used for the research and
development of new products, and approximately HK$5.0
million was used for expansion of sales channels, and
HK$171.8 million was used for working capital. The balance
of un-utilised proceeds was deposited in banks.
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Executive Directors

Dong Li (£%), aged 44, is an executive Director and our
chief executive officer, chairman and founder. He was
appointed as our Director on 27 April 2010, the date of the
incorporation of our Company. He is also a director and legal
representative of Anhui Leoch Power, Xining Leoch,
Shenzhen Leoch Battery, Anhui Leoch Battery, Dongguan
Leoch and Shenzhen Leoch and a director of Leoch Power
Supply, Leoch Battery Pte, Honour Label, Peak Year, Leoch
Battery Company and Shieldon. Mr. Dong graduated from
Northwest Textile University of Science and Technology, the
predecessor of Xi’an Polytechnic University, in 1988 with a
bachelor’s degree in engineering and Xi’an International
Studies College, the predecessor of Xi’an International
Studies University, in 1990 with a bachelor of arts degree.
From 1988 to 1998, Mr. Dong was an lecturer in English in
Northwest Textile University of Science and Technology.
Starting in 1991, Mr. Dong began to spend a portion of his
time on commercial activities while remaining a part-time
lecturer in Northwest Textile University of Science and
Technology. From 1994, he began to assist the sales and
marketing of a battery sales company. Recognising the
growth potential of the lead-acid battery industry, in 1999,
Mr. Dong ceased to be a lecturer and founded Shenzhen
Leoch to fully concentrate on the battery business, and has
worked for our Group since then. Mr. Dong has over 10 years
of experience in the battery industry. He led our development
and application for over 20 patent rights relating to batteries.
Contributing to his business experience and social
participation, he received various recognitions and honours
in the past including Outstanding China Non-governmental
Entrepreneur (FBEF R & BB FK ), Rising Star
Entrepreneur of Shenzhen (31l [&IZ %2 | ), Honorary
Citizen (%2 R ) of Zhaoging City in China and Texas in
the United States, and also holds social positions including
Committee Member of the Youth Committee of All-China
Federation of Returned Overseas Chinese ( F & & B &
Z 8 2% 8 ), Council Member of China Society For
Promotion of the Guangcai Program (P Bt & B ¥R ES
FE = ), Member of the Commercial Council of the All-China
Federation of Industry & Commerce (F# 2 F T E B
& 8 ), Vice Chairman of Guangdong Commercial Chamber
of High-Technology Estate (ER SR EEXBTIETR),
Honorary Chairman of the Chinese CEO Organization (&
EhIEHe 42 € R)and Executive Vice President of the
Southern California. Overseas Chinese Association (=& 2l
EIMMNEAZBHaAESTHRTR).
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Zhao Huan (%), aged 35, is an executive Director and
vice president in charge of international sales, administration,
human resources and treasury of our Company, as well as
the global promotion of our products. She was appointed
as our Director on 11 June 2010. Ms. Zhao graduated from
Guangdong Economics Management Cadre College
specializing in finance in 1996 and from the University of
Hertfordshire in the UK in 2004 with a master of arts degree
in international business. She has over six years of experience
in international sales. Ms. Zhao first joined our Company in
2004 as a foreign trade clerk. She was subsequently
promoted to foreign trade manager, deputy general manager
of foreign trade department and finally to her current position,
in which her responsibilities focus more on the overall
management and strategic development of our sales and
marketing.

Philip Armstrong Noznesky, aged 71, is an executive
Director of our Company and sales president of Leoch
Battery Corp. Mr. Noznesky was appointed as our Director
on 11 June 2010. He is also the sales president of Leoch
Battery Corp. Mr. Noznesky graduated from Xavier University
in 1962 with a bachelor’s degree in sciences and obtained a
master of arts degree in Russian History from Georgetown
University in 1965. He joined us in 2007 as sales president
of Leoch Battery Corp. in charge of the sales of our products
in the U.S. market. Before joining us, Mr. Noznesky had been
in the management of other companies in the battery
industry, including Energy Battery Group, Accumuladores
Mexicanas, GNB Inc. and General Battery Corp. He has over
40 years of experience in sales of battery in the U.S. market.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

An Wenbin (% X# ), aged 71, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 14 October 2010.
Mr. An graduated from Zhongshan University, Guangzhou,
China with a bachelor’s degree in English language and
literature in 1963. In 1965, he obtained a master degree in
English from Beijing Foreign Languages University. He was
appointed as a diplomat to the Chinese Embassy in Canada
between 1978 and 1986 and between 1990 and 1994, part
of which periods he served as a Ambassador and Consulate
General of the PRC. In 1987, he headed the delegation to
set up the Chinese Consulate General Office in Los Angeles,
California, and served as the Deputy Counsel General and
later the Counsel General at the office for the next seven
years. In 1995, he was the Chief of Protocol for the
4thWorldWomen Conference, Beijing, China. From 1995 to
1997, Mr. An served as the Director General of Protocol
Department of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of PRC, during
which he was the Chief of Protocol Director for Hong Kong’s
Sovereignty Return to China Grand Ceremony. In 2001, he
was the Chief of Protocol Coordinator for APEC, Shanghai,
China. As the Chief Protocol and before his retirement in
2002, Mr. An arranged for and accompanied Chinese
leaders, including President Jiang Zemin, Premier Li Peng
and Premier Zhu Rongji, in their visits to more than 30
countries, including the United States, France, Germany and
Russia.

Cao Yixiong Alan (& Ji % ), aged 42, was appointed as
our independent non-executive Director on 14 October 2010.
Mr. Cao holds a bachelor’s degree in accounting from
Sonoma State University and an MBA degree from the
Anderson School of the University of California, Los Angeles.
He worked at the auditing department of Coopers & Lybrand
between 1993 and 1996, and obtained his CPA license
(California, United States) in 1996. From 1997 to 2002, he
worked at J.P. Morgan and Merrill Lynch in their respective
private banking divisions. Since 2002, he has been the
executive director of Etech Capital, a subsidiary of Etech
Securities, Inc., responsible for its Greater China private
equity advisory business. He is also currently the chief
executive officer, director and founding partner of Shanghai
Great Wall Etech Capital Management Company, a joint
venture between China Great Wall Asset Management
Company, one of the largest Chinese asset management
companies, and Etech Group. Mr. Cao is also currently the
chairman of the board of supervisors of Chongging Tongli
Heavy Machinery Company.
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Liu Yangsheng (215 4 ), aged 64, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 14 October 2010.
Mr. Liu studied wireless communications at Beijing College
of Posts and Telecommunications, the predecessor of Beijing
University of Posts and Telecommunications, from 1965 to
1970. After that, he worked at Beijing College of Posts and
Telecommunications for more than 10 years until 1984. Mr.
Liu joined the Ministry of Posts and Telecommunications,
the predecessor of Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology, in 1984, and served as the director of the cadre
members department and director of the human resources
department. Mr. Liu retired from the Ministry of Information
Industry, the predecessor of Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology, in 2007. Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology is responsible for the overall
management such as promulgation of industry policies and
strategies, implementation of laws and regulations, and
assessment for approvals and permits of the
telecommunication industry in the PRC which covers aspects
of telecommunication equipment such as telecommunication
batteries. Therefore, during his time with Ministry of Industry
and Information Technology and its predecessor, Mr. Liu had
the experience in working in the telecommunication battery
area. Mr. Liu is now the chairman of Cosmos Posts &
Telecommunications International Leasing Co., Ltd. (325
MEBHEEEER A7) and a supervisor of Viton Wireless
Technology AG, a company listed on the Frankfurt Stock
Exchange (stock code: CHEN99).
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Liu Shuen Kong (E#)T ), aged 39, is our chief financial
officer and our company secretary. Mr. Liu joined our
Company in October 2010. He graduated from RMIT
University of Australia with a bachelor’s degree in accounting
and a master’s degree in accounting in 1996 and 2002,
respectively. He further obtained a master’s degree in
business administration from Deakin University of Australia
in 2004. Mr. Liu has more than ten years of experience in
accounting, auditing and management and has worked at
KPMG since 1996 as a manager, senior manager and
supervisor. From 1996 to 1999, he worked in the audit
department of the Hong Kong office of KPMG. From 1999
to 2010, he worked in the financial advisory service
department of the Guangzhou office and Shenzhen office of
KPMG. Mr. Liu is a qualified accountant of CPA Australia
and Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Qian Guanghong (/£ 7 ), aged 38, is our vice president
of production. He studied management at Tsinghua
University in 2004 and electrochemistry at Harbin Industrial
University in 2006. Mr. Qian joined our Company upon its
establishment in 1999 and has over 10 years of experience
in the production of batteries. Mr. Qian began his career at
our Group as a head of factory, and was subsequently
promoted to general manager and vice president of
production. He is experienced in the production technology
and process of various kinds of rechargeable batteries. He
established our 1ISO14000, TS16949 and precision
production management system and promoted its
application. He is in charge of the production plans at our
production facilities and the procurement and certification
of key production equipment. In December 2008, Mr. Qian
was appointed by the China Electrotechnical Society as a
committee member of the First Lead Acid Reserve Power
Battery Expert Committee from 2008 until 2012.

= B T

BMT - 3958 - AR IS BB A Al M

cBEARZZTE—ZFFTAMAKRRAR - B
%EF hhAE&_gg_iiﬁﬁ ﬁﬂ

EXERAEBETIARE  HRRBEE2LE
NS ELEA - nggmi’mﬁfi
RBAFE B AENEIHEEREBETENMN o
BRAEESS B AEETEERTA+F
K o BAEAB - NNAAFREREFTHES
ERFTEALRE KB REFE BN
NEEZE—NANNF R ESHEFTEHAE
BREENEFHILE - B—NANFEZE
—ZF  MRESHSHEHEMEMNPEERE R
Y PSR SRR REE TE - BEER
BNETMAEREBEHMACTNEERE

St -

#BEL 38K $“ﬂ%$§ﬁﬂ BEL o R
—EENMFREBFERBHEBEERN-_ZEN
FERBEIFASEBE(LE - BEEBAR
RAEAR—NANFERILEINA - HHBBI10F
MEEBBRLR - EEENMAREBEEER
R MEREARBEERERMEENRNRR

HoMERSEABELNEERMABIELR

LEKLE - MAKXQFREIZISO14000
TS1640 N e EETIEE A WHERER - b
BEEERBNEERS  URRERRES

BEERB R-ZEENF+_-R BLEE
FREIRNHEREASE EHBRESESHE
*¥Z8gZ%8  AHA_ZET N\FEE_T—
==



Directors and Senior Management

o B B P e

Hong Yu (1), aged 40, is our vice president in
purchasing. Ms. Hong graduated from Northwest Textile
University for Science and Technology, the predecessor of
Xi'an Polytechnic University, in 1994 majoring in textiles
engineering and minoring in international economics and
sales. Ms. Hong has over 10 years of management and
operational experience. From 1994 to 2000, she worked at
Xi’an Oumei Handicrafts Co. Ltd (FAZBMETERBR A
7l ) as the manager of the foreign trade department. Ms.
Hong joined our Group in 2000 as a salesperson, and was
subsequently promoted to the manager of the foreign trade
department and deputy general manager of the foreign trade
department. From 2000 to 2005, Ms. Hong was in charge
of our foreign trade department. She was appointed the vice
president of our Company in 2005 in charge of our
purchasing department.

Xiong Zhenglin (B2 IE#K ), aged 40, is our vice president in
charge of engineering and technical development. Mr. Xiong
graduated from Xiang Tan University in 1994 majoring in
industrial chemistry. After graduation, he worked in Hunan
Zhuzhou Motorbike Factory (K INEILERK ) as a
technician until 1997. Between 1997 and 1999, Mr. Xiong
worked as a technical engineer at Guangdong Tanggian Xinli
Battery Limited, which is the production base of GS Yuasa
Corporation in the PRC. Mr. Xiong joined our Group in 1999,
and has over 10 years of experience in the management of
battery technology, quality control and equipment. Mr. Xiong
joined our Group as a quality control manager, and was
subsequently promoted to be our chief engineer, and finally
his current position. Mr. Xiong is the joint inventor of eight
patent rights relating to batteries. Mr. Xiong is also a part-
time graduate student advisor at School of Chemistry &
Environment, South China Normal University, a member of
the First Session of Lead-acid Battery Committee (5 — &
WHREEMWREELZEE®ZLE) of China Electrotechnical
Society, a member of the Standardization Committee of the
People’s Republic of China and has participated in the
drafting of several national standards for lead-acid battery
industry.

B - 405% - AARIMREIEIRE - it
R—NANEFERFI 48 T2 (AL ITREAS
MATS) % FEEHHBIRE  SHEBEEL
B oL THREBNLETEARBBIOFHL
B NWNNFE-_TTTF  HLLTIH
RAZBETIERBRAA  BEINEBLE
B RTUITR_ESTFNMAREBEETER
B EEBEAAIBRECERINE I BLK
B -f_EETFEE_TTRFE ML+ FE
BPINER - ARLTR TSR FEZTA
RABIEIBE  TERMORED -

BEIEMK © 405% - AN ARIMEIRE - BETREM
TR - RRATER— NN FRNEREE
¥ FBEIELE - REER  MMABREK
MEREREREME EE—NWAEF - R
—NMNEFE-—NANANF  BREEEERSE
FOERBRQRETRM IR - Z2R A
BASZEM A RERBEAEERNENM o AREAE
R—ANANENMARER - EEEE MM -
EEEFIREHEFEESBRBI0FLR - /&

EMAREEEAEESEIERE  HEBRH A
HMMBATERM  BEAZREMBALL o BRI
ERNEBEBBENEFERNLRZFHE - &

ENMZEEMBANSCBERFERPRER
BB PREIRNESFE —EHBRESED
HEXZEEZLE HEARHNMEZFELES
EHE  WRHBEHBREBEMTESEEX

.
ZE—2_"

=

b
(=27 i B 0 2k 554 o) -



010z Hodey [enuuy |

A3LINIT ADOTONHOFL TYNOILYNYILINI HOOF1

Directors and Senior Management

o B B P e

Li Yujiu (ZX71 /1), aged 60, is our vice president in domestic
sales. Mr. Li graduated from Beijing University of Posts and
Telecommunication in 1980, majoring in physics. Mr. Li has
worked as the deputy station master of Beijing Materials
Supply Station of the Armed Police Headquarter (i Z 425
bR E HE YL ) in charge for procurement. Mr. Li has
almost 20 years of management and sales experience in
the area of telecommunication equipment. Mr. Li joined our
Group in 2005 as a deputy general manager. He was
appointed as our vice president in domestic sales in 2006,
in charge of domestic sales. He also provides support to
industry analysis and operational strategy.

Peng Xiaomeng (& /)\&)) ), aged 35, is our vice president
in charge of external technical exchange. Mr. Peng graduated
from China Nankai University in 1999 with a bachelor’s
degree in physics and electronics and obtained a master’s
degree in natural science from Louisiana State University in
2004. After graduation, he remained at Louisiana State
University as an assistant lecturer until 2006. Mr. Peng joined
our Group in 2006 as an engineer and was promoted to his
current position in 2010. Mr. Peng is the brother-in-law of
Mr. Dong.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Liu Shuen Kong (B /)T ), aged 39, is our chief financial
officer and our company secretary. For additional details
regarding Mr. Liu background, see the section headed
“Senior Management” above.
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Report of Directors
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The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) has
pleasure in submitting their first annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 December 2010. Unless defined herein,
capitalised terms in this annual report shall have the same
meanings as those defined in the prospectus of the Company
dated 3 November 2010 (the “Prospectus”).

Corporate Reorganisation

The Company was incorporated and registered as an
exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman
Islands on 27 April 2010 under the Companies Law, Cap.
22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands. Pursuant to a reorganisation scheme to
rationalise the corporate structure of the Group in preparation
for the listing of the Company’s shares (the “Shares”) on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”), the Company acquired the equity
interests of the companies under common control and
became the holding company of the companies now
comprising the Group. Further details of the corporate
reorganisation are set out in the Prospectus.

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Stock
Exchange since 16 November 2010 (the “Listing Date”).

Principal Activities and Geographical
Analysis of Operations

The principal activities of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries as at
31 December 2010 are set out in note 4 to the financial
statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by
operating segments is set out in note 5 to the financial
statements.

Results and Appropriations
The results of the Group for the year are set out in the

consolidated statement of comprehensive income on
page 59.
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Reserves

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and
of the Company during the year are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 62
to 63 and in note 33 to the financial statements.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment
of the Group are set out in note 15 to the financial statements.

Share Capital

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company
are set out in note 30 to the financial statements.

Distributable Reserves

The Company’s reserves available for distribution comprise
the share premium account and shareholder’s contribution
less accumulated losses. At 31 December 2010, the reserves
of the Company available for distribution to shareholders
amounted to approximately RMB1,656 million.

Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of the final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2010.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association (the “Articles of
Association”) or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing shareholders.

Four Year Financial Summary
A summary of the results of the Group and of the assets,

liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the
last four financial years is set out on page 172.
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Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Shares

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s shares
from the Listing Date to the date of this report.

Directors

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) during the
year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Dong Li (Chairman)
(appointed on 27 April 2010)
Ms. Zhao Huan
(appointed on 11 June 2010)
Mr. Philip Armstrong Noznesky
(appointed on 11 June 2010)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. An Wenbin

(appointed on 14 October 2010)
Mr. Cao Yixiong Alan

(appointed on 14 October 2010)
Mr. Liu Yangsheng

(appointed on 14 October 2010)

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Mr. Dong Li
and Ms. Zhao Huan will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election, at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company for an initial term of three years
from the Listing Date, which may be terminated by not less
than three months’ notice in writing served by either party.

Each of the Independent non-executive Directors was
appointed for a term of three years with effect from the Listing
Date.
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None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company, which is determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management

Brief biographical details of the Directors and senior
management members of the Group are set out on pages
22 to 28.

Remuneration Policy

The remuneration policy for the Directors and senior
management members of the Group was based on
qualifications, years of experiences and the performance of
individual employees and are reviewed regularly. Details of
the remuneration of the Directors are set out in note 9 to the
financial statements.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or
Debentures

Save as disclosed in note 31 to the financial statements
about the Company’s share option schemes, at no time
during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any Directors or their respective spouses or minor
children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was
the Company, or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable
the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.
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Directors Interest in Contracts

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Connected
Transactions” below, no contracts of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

Directors Interests and Short Positions in

Shares

As at 31 December 2010, the interests and short positions
of each Director and chief executive of the Company in the
shares of the Company which (a) were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO; or (b) were required
under Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
required to be kept by the Company referred to in that
section; or (c) were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) set out in the Listing Rules were as follows:
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FRMELAREXB LEMNARRERTE
BEAMREEEANENEEAL

o

LR g

23

A A Y HE

MR-B-—ZTF+-_A=+—H ARFTEER
FETBAERARRRNFHEQREZS
K ER S GBI SEXVER R 7 R8H D BME AR R T K
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Number and
class of securities
subject to options
granted under the Approximate
Number and class of Pre-IPO Share percentage of
Name of Director Nature of Interest securities* Option Scheme shareholding®
EREERDE
BEMBRETE
RENBRERR
£33 EatE REYERER WEHFHERER BARRAD LY
Mr. Dong Li Interest in a controlled corporation 1,000,000,0000() - 75%
3 REEENER
Ms. Zhao Huan Beneficial Owner - 1,500,000%(L) 0.1%
BEL T EREAA
Mr. Philip Armstrong Noznesky Beneficial Owner - 1,500,0009(L) 0.1%

Philip Armstrong Noznesky 7t & ERBA

* The letter “L” denotes long position of the shareholder in the
Shares.
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Notes:

O

Mr. Dong Li is deemed to be interested in 1,000,000,000 Shares
which are beneficially owned by Master Alliance Investment
Limited, a company which is wholly owned by Mr. Dong Li.

Ms. Zhao Huan has been granted an option for 1,500,000 Shares
under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme. Please see the section
headed “Share Option” below for further details of the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme.

Mr. Philip Armstrong Noznesky has been granted an option for
1,500,000 Shares under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.
Please see the section headed “Share Option” below for further
details of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.

This is based on 1,333,334,000 Shares, being the number of
Shares in issue as at 31 December 2010.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2010, none of
the directors or chief executives of the Company had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code, nor had there been any grant or exercise of
rights of such interests during the year ended 31 December
2010.

ML
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Share Option

A. Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to the resolutions in writing passed by all
shareholders of the Company on 25 May 2010, the
Company approved and adopted a share option
scheme (the “Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentive or reward to selected
participants for their contribution to, and continuing
efforts to promote the interests of, the Company and
enabling the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre
employees. As at 31 December 2010, the Company
had conditionally granted options to subscribe for an
aggregate of 39,180,000 Shares (representing
approximately 2.9% of the Company’s total issued
share capital assuming that the options granted under
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and any options
which may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
are not exercised) to 147 participants in consideration
of an option price of RMB1.00 for each acceptance of
an offer of options under the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme. The subscription price in respect of each
Share under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme ranges
from HK$0.2 to HK$5.0. No further options will be
granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.

Details of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme were
disclosed in Appendix VIl to the Prospectus under the
sub-sectioin headed “Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”.

Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to the resolutions in writing passed by all
shareholders of the Company on 14 October 2010,
the Company approved and adopted another share
option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentive or reward to selected
participants for their contribution to, and continuing
efforts to promote the interests of, the Company and
for such other purposes as the Board may approve
from time to time. During the period from 14 October
2010 to 31 December 2010, no share option had been
granted under the Share Option Scheme.
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As at the date of this annual report, the total number
of Shares available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme was 13,333,400 Shares, which represented
10% of the Shares in issue as at that date.

Particulars of the Share Option Scheme are set out in
note 31 to the financial statements.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and
Short Positions in Shares

As at 31 December 2010, the following persons (other than
the directors and chief executives of the Company had
interests and short positions of 5% or more in the Shares as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
336 of the SFO:

MAFERBE - BIBEIRET &R 31T
B AR 17 48 B 513,333,4000% B8 15 (5% A
B 317D 10% °

BRAARRERETENFFRNGZEY
TEERA I FEST ©

F B BCAR Y B HE i S IR

Y/

RZZF-—ZFF+-A=1+—B " BREREFR
HISRBIFE 36 IR TFEMNZRMACE: - TIIA
T(PEBREARFEEREIBTRAR) FHEK
6% IA LML KA R ¢

Approximate

Number and class percentage
Name of Shareholder Nature of Interest of securities* of shareholding®
BRRER BEME EHHE RER BRABRES L
Master Alliance Investment Limited™ Beneficial Owner 1,000,000,000(L) 75%
ERBEBA

* The Letter “L” denotes long position of the shareholder in the * [LIRERERABROFHRE ©

Shares.
Notes: s
(1)  Master Alliance Investment Limited is a company wholly owned (1) Master Alliance Investment Limited & — &5 (B & 2

by Mr. Dong Li. LA BHEANAT o

(2)  This is based on 1,333,334,000 Shares, being the number of
Shares in issue as at 31 December 2010.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2010, no
person, other than the Director whose interests and short
positions are set out in the section headed “Directors’
Interests and Short Positions in Shares” above, had an
interest or a short position in the shares or underlying shares
of the Company as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.
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Connected Transactions

Details of the Group’s related party transactions for the year
ended 31 December 2010 are set out in note 37 to the
financial statements, some of which also constituted
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules, details of which are as follows:

A.

Continuing connected transactions which are
exempted from the independent shareholders’
approval requirement,
announcement requirements under Rule

14A.33(3) of the Listing Rules

reporting and

Mr. Dong Li owns a 60% equity interest in Dongguan
Leoch Power Supply, which makes Dongguan Leoch
Power Supply a connected party of the Company.
Dongguan Leoch entered into a purchase agreement
dated June 30, 2010 with Dongguan Leoch Power
Supply pursuant to which Dongguan Leoch Power
Supply agreed to sell and Dongguan Leoch agreed to
purchase certain buildings with an aggregate GFA of
approximately 10,000 sg.m. constructed by Dongguan
Leoch Power Supply on a piece of land owned by
Dongguan Leoch in Dongguan, PRC. Under the
purchase agreement, the amount of consideration
payable by Dongguan Leoch is to be determined by
an independent valuation expert at the time of issue of
a real estate title certificate in respect of the buildings,
and is only due and payable after the issue of such
certificate by the relevant government authorities to
Dongguan Leoch. Pending the issue of the real estate
title certificate, Dongguan Leoch Power Supply has
granted to Dongguan Leoch a license to use the
buildings at nil consideration.

Details of such transaction were disclosed in the
Prospectus under the section headed “Connected
Transactions”.
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B. Continuing connected transaction which is
exempted from the independent shareholders’
approval requirement, but subject to the
reporting and announcement requirements under

Rule 14A.34 of the Listing Rules

(i)

Leases with Mr. Dong Li and his Associates

The Group has entered into the following leases
with Mr. Dong Li and his associates:

(a)

Lease of Units E8, E9, E148 and E149 of
the Main Building of Xin Bao Hui Building,
No. 2061 Nanhai Avenue, Nanshan District,
Shenzhen City, Guangdong Province, the
PRC

Lease of Units E1-E4, E6, E7, E14-EBS3,
E72-E112, E116-E135 and E138-E145 of
the main building of Xin Bao Hui Building,
No.2061, Nanhai Avenue, Nanshan District,
Shenzhen City, Guangdong Province, the
PRC

Lease of Portion of Unit 901 on Level 9 of
Tianzheng International Plaza, No.399
Zhongyang Road, Nanjing City, Jiangsu
Province, the PRC

Lease of an Office Unit on Level 19 of an
Office Building Located at 14 Kitchener Link,
No.19-29, Singapore

Lease of a Building Located at 19751
Descartes Foothill Ranchs, County of
Orange, State of California, the United
States

EER ST bR I 5R 14A.34 1)
M) 57 % SR E KR 2 {5 ZH 38 ST H
RN 45 R E B 1 48 BR 4 22 5
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Orange, State of California, the
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(i)

Sales of Products to Connected Persons

The Company entered into a master agreement
with Mr. Dong Li dated 1 August 2010 (the
“Master Sales Agreement”) which sets out the
terms and conditions upon which members of the
Group will sell to Mr. Dong Li’s associates, and
Mr. Dong Li’s associates will purchase from
members of the Group, products including lead-
acid batteries, mainly motive power batteries, and
related parts. The products to be sold and
purchased under the Master Sales Agreement
shall be at the prevailing market price, namely,
the price at which the same type of products is
sold by us to independent third parties on normal
commercial terms in the ordinary course of
pbusiness in the PRC. The Master Sales Agreement
is for a term of three years commencing from 1
January 2010. Upon expiry of the term, the Master
Sales Agreement will, subject to the requirements
of the Listing Rules, be renewed for a further
period of three years by mutual agreement. The
annual caps for the sales transactions under the
Master Sales Agreement for the three years
ending 31 December 2012 have been set at
RMB38.0 million, RMB46.0 million and RMB54.0
million, respectively.

Details of such transactions were disclosed in the
Prospectus under the section headed “Connected
Transactions”.

(i)
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Continuing connected transaction subject to the
reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Rule

14A.35 of the Listing Rules

The Company entered into a master agreement dated
1 August 2010 with Mr. Dong Li (the “Master Purchase
Agreement”) which sets out the terms and conditions
upon which members of the Group will purchase from
Mr. Dong Li’s associates, and Mr. Dong Li’s associates
will sell to members of the Group, products including
battery cases, parts, models, chargers and electronic
products (for the manufacturing of the Group’s battery
products or sale as accessories of the Group’s battery
products) and electric scooters (for use by members
of the Group). The products to be sold and purchased
under the Master Purchase Agreement shall be at the
prevailing market price, namely, the price at which the
same type of products is sold to us by independent
third parties on normal commercial terms in the ordinary
course of business in the PRC. The Master Purchase
Agreement is for a term of three years commencing
from 1 January 2010. Upon expiry of the term, the
Master Purchase Agreement will, subject to the
requirements of the Listing Rules, be renewed for
further period of three years by mutual agreement. The
annual caps for the transactions under the Master
Purchase Agreement for the three years ending
31 December 2010 have been set at RMB60.0 million,
RMB60.0 million and RMB60.0 million, respectively.

Details of such transaction were disclosed in the
Prospectus under the section headed “Connected
Transactions”.

The independent non-executive Directors have
reviewed the above non-exempt continuing connected
transactions and confirmed that the transactions have
been entered into:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group;

(2) on normal commercial terms; and

(8) in accordance with the relevant agreement
governing such transaction on terms that are fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the
Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to
Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditor has issued his unqualified letter containing his findings
and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group above in accordance
with Main Board Listing Rule 14A.38. A copy of the auditor’'s
letter has been provided by the Company to The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Directors’ Interest in Competing Business

During the year, none of the Directors is considered to have
interest in a business which competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

On 21 December 2010, each of the controlling shareholders
of the Company Mr. Dong Li and Master Alliance Investment
Limited (the “Controlling Shareholders”), entered into a deed
of noncompetition (the “Deed of Non-Competition”) with the
Company pursuant to which each of the Controlling
Shareholders has individually, jointly, unconditionally and
irrevocably undertaken and represented to the Company and
each member of the Group that, among other things, he/it
will not and will procure that his/its associates will not to
engage, directly or indirectly, in businesses which will or may
compete with the business carried on or to be carried on by
the Group. Details of the Deed of Non-Competition were
disclosed in the Prospectus under the section headed
“Relationship with the Controlling Shareholders”.

Each of the Controlling Shareholders has provided an annual
declaration on his/its compliance with the undertakings
contained in the Deed of Non-Competition undertaken by
them.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and
were satisfied that each of the Controlling Shareholders, has
complied with the Deed of Non-Competition for the year
ended 31 December 2010.
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Report of Directors
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Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed during
the year.

Major Suppliers and Customers

The percentages of purchases for the year attributable to
the Group’s major suppliers are as follows:

the largest supplier 13%
five largest suppliers in aggregate 33%

The percentages of sales for the year attributable to the
Group’s major customers are as follows:

the largest customer 13%
five largest customers in aggregate 39%

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder
(which to the knowledge of the directors owns more than
5% of the Company'’s share capital) had an interest in these
major suppliers and customers.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, it is
confirmed that there is sufficient public float of more than
25% of the Company’s issued shares as at the latest
practicable date prior to the issue of this report.

Subsequent Events

No significant events have been taken place subsequent to
the balance sheet date.

Auditor

The financial statements have been audited by Ernst & Young
who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment at the forthcoming 2010 annual general meeting
of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Dong Li
Chairman

Hong Kong, 15 March 2011
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The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance
Report in the Group’s annual report for the year ended
31 December 2010.

Corporate Governance Practices

The Group is committed to achieving high standards of
corporate governance to safeguard the interests of
shareholders and to enhance corporate value and
accountability.

The Company has applied the principles set out in the Code
on Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”)
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules since the
Listing Date. In the opinion of the Board, the Company has
complied with all the code provisions set out in the CG Code
throughout the period from the Listing Date to the date of
this report with the exception of the code provision A.2.1 of
the CG Code which requires that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. Key corporate
governance principles and practices of the Company as well
as details relating to the foregoing deviations are summarised
below.

The Company will continue to enhance its corporate
governance practices that are appropriate to the conduct
and growth of its business and to review its corporate
governance practices from time to time to ensure they
comply with the increasingly tightened regulatory
requirements and to meet the expectations of shareholders
and investors.
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A.1 Responsibilities and Delegation

The Board, led by the chairman of the Company,
is responsible for leadership and control of the
Company and oversees the Group’s businesses,
strategic decisions and performance. The Board
has delegated to the senior management the
authority and responsibility for the day-to-day
management and operation of the Group. In
addition, the Board has established Board
committees and has delegated to these Board
committees various responsibilities as set out in
their respective terms of reference. All Directors
have carried out their duties in good faith, in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations
and in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders at all times.

The Board reserves for its decision all major
matters of the Company, including: approval and
monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies
and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in
particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of
directors and other significant financial and
operational matters.

The Board has delegated a schedule of
responsibilities to the senior management of the
Company. These responsibilities include
implementing decisions of the Board, directing
and coordinating day-to-day operation and
management of the Company in accordance with
the management strategies and plans approved
by the Board, formulating and monitoring the
operating and production plans and budgets, and
supervising and monitoring the control systems.
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A.2 Board Composition

The Board comprises three executive Directors:
Mr. Dong Li, Ms. Zhao Huan and Mr. Philip
Armstrong Noznesky; and three independent non-
executive Directors: Mr. An Wenbin, Mr. Liu
Yangsheng and Mr. Cao Yixiong Alan.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors
possesses different business experience,
knowledge and professional background. The
Board has at all times met the requirements of
the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
at least three independent non-executive
Directors with at least one of them possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management
expertise. The Board has received a written
annual confirmation from each independent non-
executive Director of independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Board
continues to regard each of them as independent
up to the date of this report.

The Company has also adopted the
recommended best practice under the CG Code
for having at least one-third of its Board members
being independent non-executive Directors.
Independent non-executive Directors have been
invited to serve on the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. Through participation in Board
meetings, taking the lead in managing issues
involving potential conflict of interests and serving
on Board committees, all independent non-
executive Directors make various contributions to
the effective direction of the Company.
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A.3

The list of Directors (by category) is set out under
the section headed “Corporate Information” in this
annual report and is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company
pursuant to the Listing Rules from time to time.
The independent non-executive Directors are
expressly identified in all corporate communications
pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The biographical details of the Directors and the
relationships among the members of the Board
are disclosed under the section headed “Directors
and Senior Management” in this annual report.

Board Meetings

A.3.1 Board Practices and Conduct of Meeting

Schedules for regular Board meetings are
normally agreed with Directors in advance
to facilitate their attendance. In addition,
notice of at least 14 days is given for a
regular Board meeting. For other Board
meetings, reasonable notice is generally
given. Draft agenda of each Board meeting
is usually sent to all Directors together with
the notice of meeting in order to give them
an opportunity to include any other matters
in the agenda for discussion in the meeting.
Board papers together with the related
information are sent to Directors at least 3
days before each Board meeting. Draft
minutes are normally circulated to Directors
for comment within a reasonable time after
each meeting and the final version is open
for Directors’ inspection. The company
secretary of the Company is responsible for
keeping minutes of all Board and committee
meetings.
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The chairman, the company secretary and
chief financial officer and other relevant
senior management members normally
attend regular Board meetings and, where
necessary, other Board and committee
meetings to advise on business
developments, financial and accounting
matters, statutory compliance, corporate
governance and other major aspects of the
Group. The Board and each Director also
have separate and independent access to
the senior management whenever
necessary. Where appropriate, the Directors
can obtain independent professional advice
at the expense of the Company.

According to current Board practice, any
material transaction, which involves a
conflict of interests for a substantial
shareholder or a Director, will be considered
and dealt with by the Board at a duly
convened Board meeting. The Articles of
Association contain provisions requiring
directors to abstain from voting and not to
be counted in the quorum at meetings for
approving transactions in which such
directors or any of their associates have a
material interest.

A.3.2 Directors’ Attendance Records at Board

Meetings

The Board meets regularly for reviewing and
approving the financial and operating
performance, and considering and
approving the overall strategies and policies
of the Company. Additional meetings will be
held when significant events or important
issues are required to be discussed and
resolved. During the period from the Listing
Date to the date of this annual report, the
Board held one meeting and the attendance
records of each director at this Board
meeting are set out below:
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Attendance/
Number of
Name of Director Board Meetings

Executive Directors

Mr. Dong Li 1/1
Ms. Zhao Huan 1/1
Mr. Philip Armstrong Noznesky 1/1
Independent
Non-executive Directors

Mr. An Wenbin 1/1
Mr. Liu Yangsheng 1/1
Mr. Cao Yixiong Alan 1/1

A.4 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates
that the roles of the chairman and the chief
executive officer of the Company should be
separate and should not be performed by the
same individual.

Mr. Dong Li is the chairman of the Board and the
chief executive officer of the Company. As Mr.
Dong Li is the founder of the Group and has
extensive experience in the lead-acid battery
industry, the Board believes that it is in the best
interest of the Group to have Mr. Dong Li taking
up both roles for continuous effective
management and business development of the
Group.

The Board considers that the current structure of
vesting the roles of the chairman and chief
executive officer of the Company in the same
person will not impair the balance of power and
authority between the Board and the
management of the Company.
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A.5 Appointment and Re-election of Directors Ab ZHEREZEZESE

Each of the executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors is engaged for a term of
three years commencing from their respective
dates of appointment and is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election pursuant to the Articles
of Association.

According to the Articles of Association, all
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years. Besides, any new
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy shall submit himself/herself for re-election
by shareholders at the first general meeting and
any new Director appointed by the Board as an
addition to the Board shall submit himself/herself
for re-election by shareholders at the next
following annual general meeting.

Pursuant to the aforesaid provisions of the Articles
of Association, two of the Directors, namely Mr.
Dong Li and Ms. Zhao Huan, shall retire at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company and, being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-election at the meeting. The Company’s
circular, sent together with this annual report,
contains detailed information of the retiring
Directors pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-
election and removal of directors are laid down in
the Articles of Association. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for reviewing Board
composition, developing and formulating
procedures for nomination and appointment of
directors, and assessing the independence of
independent non-executive directors. Details of
the Nomination Committee and its work
performed are set out in the “Board Committees”
section below.
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A.6

A7

Induction and Continuing Development of
Directors

All the Directors received an induction on
appointment to ensure appropriate understanding
of the business and operation of the Group and
full awareness of director responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
regulatory requirements. Such induction is
normally supplemented with visits to the Group’s
key business sites and/or meetings with the senior
management of the Company.

The existing Directors are updated with legal and
regulatory developments and changes in the
business and the market to facilitate the discharge
of their responsibilities. Continuing briefings and
professional development to Directors will be
arranged whenever necessary.

Model Code For Securities Transactions by
Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code as
its code of conduct governing the Directors’
dealings in the Company’s securities. Specific
enquiry has been made of all the Directors and
all of them have confirmed that they have
complied with the required standards set out in
the Model Code throughout the period from the
Listing Date to the date of this annual report.

B. Board Committees

The Board has established three Board committees,
namely, the Remuneration Committee, the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee, for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs.
All Board committees have been established with
defined written terms of reference, which are available
to shareholders upon request. All Board committees
report to the Board on their decisions or
recommendations made.
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The practices, procedures and arrangements in
conducting meetings of Board committees follow in line
with, so far as practicable, those of the Board meetings
set out in section A.3.1 above.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and, upon
reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at
the Company’s expense.

B.17 Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three
members, namely, Mr. Dong Li, Mr. An Wenbin
and Mr. Cao Yixiong Alan, the latter two being
independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Dong
Li is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.

The principal duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to (i) make recommendations to
the Board on the Company’s policy and structure
for all remuneration of Directors and senior
management and the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing policy
on such remuneration; (i) make recommendations
on the remuneration packages of executive
directors and senior management; and (iii) review
and approve performance-based remuneration by
reference to corporate goals and objectives
resolved by the Board from time to time.

Details of the remuneration of each Director for
the year ended 31 December 2010 are set out in
note 9 to the financial statements contained in
this annual report.

During the period from the Listing Date to the date
of this annual report, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting and the attendance
records of each member at the meeting are set

out below:

Attendance /
Name of Director Number of Meetings
Mr. Dong Li 1/1
Mr. An Wenbin 11

Mr. Cao Yixiong Alan 11
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namely, Mr. Cao Yixiong Alan, Mr. An Wenbin and
Mr. Liu Yangsheng, all of them are independent
non-executive Directors. Mr. Cao Yixiong Alan, is
the chairman of the Audit Committee and he
possesses relevant accounting and financial
management expertise.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee are
to (i) review the financial statements and reports
and consider any significant or unusual items
raised by the staff responsible for the accounting
and financial reporting function or external auditor
before submission to the Board; (i) review the
relationship with the external auditor by reference
to the work performed by the auditor, their fees
and terms of engagement, and make
recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of
external auditor; and (jii) review the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Company'’s financial reporting
system, internal control system and risk
management system and associated procedures.

The Audit Committee held a meeting on 15 March
2011 with the presence of Mr. Cao Yixiong Alan,
Mr. An Wenbin and Mr. Liu Yongsheng together
with the Company’s external auditor and the
senior management and performed the following
major tasks:

— Reviewed the scope of audit work, auditor’s
fees and terms of engagement for the year
ended 31 December 2010; and

— Reviewed and discussed the financial
statements, results announcement and
report for the year ended 31 December
2010, the related accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and the
relevant audit findings.
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B.3

During the period from the Listing Date to the date
of this annual report, the Audit Committee held
one meeting and the attendance records of each
member at the meeting are set out below:

Attendance/

Name of Director Number of Meetings

Mr. An Wenbin 11
Mr. Liu Yangsheng 1/1
Mr. Cao Yixiong Alan 11

Nomination Committee

Pursuant to the recommended best practice of
the CG Code, the Company has established the
Nomination Committee. The Nomination
Committee comprises three members, namely,
Mr. Dong Li, Mr. An Wenbin and Mr. Liu
Yangsheng, the majority of which are independent
non-executive Directors. Mr. Dong Li is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee
are to (i) review the Board composition; (i) develop
and formulate relevant procedures for the
nomination and appointment of directors; (iii)
identify qualified individuals to become members
of the Board; (iv) monitor the appointment and
succession planning of directors; and (v) assess
the independence of independent non-executive
Directors.

During the period from the Listing Date to the date
of this annual report, the Nomination Committee
held one meeting and the attendance records of
each member at the meeting are set out below:

Attendance/
Name of Director Number of Meetings
Mr. Dong Li 11
Mr. An Wenbin 11
Mr. Liu Yangsheng 11
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Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial
Reporting in respect of the Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the
preparation of financial statements of the Company with
a view to ensuring that such financial statements give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group
and that relevant statutory and regulatory requirements
and applicable accounting standards are complied
with. The Board has received from the senior
management the management accounts and such
accompanying explanation and information as are
necessary to enable the Board to make an informed
assessment for approving the financial statements.

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibilities
for preparing the financial statements of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2010.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Internal Controls

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for
maintaining an effective internal control system to
safeguard shareholder investments and the Group’s
assets and for reviewing the effectiveness of such
system on an annual basis. The senior management
reviews and evaluates the control process, monitors
any risk factors on a regular basis and reports to the
Audit Committee on any findings and measures to
address the variances and identified risks.

During the year under review, the Board conducted a
review of the effectiveness of the internal control system
of the Company including the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and their
training programmes and budget.
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External Auditor and Auditor’s Remuneration

The statement of the auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements of the Group is set out in the Independent
Auditor’'s Report on pages 57 to 58.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the
remuneration paid and payable to Ernst & Young, the
Company’s external auditor, for audit services to the
Group in relation to the Global Offering and annual audit
amounted to RMB 3.7 million and RMB1.4 million
respectively; and for non-audit services, comprising
professional services for internal control review and tax
services, amounted to RMBO0.9 million.

Relationship with our Controlling Shareholders

The Company has received, from each of the
Controlling Shareholders, an annual declaration on his/
its compliance with the undertakings contained in the
Deed of Non-Competition entered into by each of them
in favour of the Company pursuant to which each of
the Controlling Shareholders has individually, jointly,
unconditionally and irrevocably undertaken and
represented to the Company and each member of the
Group that, among other things, he/it will not and will
procure that his/its associates will not to engage,
directly or indirectly, in businesses which will or may
compete with the business carried on or to be carried
on by the Group. Details of the Deed of Non-
Competition were disclosed in the Prospectus under
the section headed “Relationship with Our Controlling
Shareholders”.

The independent non-executive Directors have
reviewed and were satisfied that each of the Controlling
Shareholders, has complied with the Deed of Non-
Competition for the year ended 31 December 2010.
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Investors

The Board believes that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor
relations and investor’s understanding of the Group’s
business performance and strategies. The Company
also recognises the importance of transparency and
timely disclosure of corporate information, which will
enable shareholders and investors to make the best
investment decisions.

The Company maintains a website at “www.leoch.com”
as a communication platform for shareholders and
investors, where information and updates on the
Group’s business developments and operations,
financial information and other information are available
for public access. Shareholders and investors may write
directly to the Company’s principal place of business
in Hong Kong for any inquiries.

The Board considers that general meetings of the
Company provide an important channel for
shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The
chairman of the Board as well as the chairmen and/or
other members of the Board Committees will endeavor
to be available to answer questions raised by the
shareholders.

The Company continues to enhance communication
and relationship with its investors. Designated senior
management maintains regular dialogue with
institutional investors and analysts to keep them
informed of the Group’s developments.

Shareholder Rights

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, a
separate resolution is proposed for each substantially
separate issue at shareholder meetings.

All resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings will
be voted by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll
results will be posted on the websites of the Company
and of the Stock Exchange after each shareholder
meeting.
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To the shareholders of
Leoch International Technology Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Leoch International Technology Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 59
to 171, which comprise the consolidated and company
statements of financial position as at 31 December 2010,
and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) (which also include
International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”) and for the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. Our
report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Ernst & Young RGBT SH A
18th Floor BREDREREH

B A 021812

Two International Finance Centre
8 Finance Street, Central

Hong Kong B 55 +852 2846 9888

{EH: +852 2868 4432
Tel: +852 2846 9888
Fax: +852 2868 4432
WWWw.ey.com
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Independent Auditors’ Report

JA8 i A S Vil At +fy

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing, issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and
of the Group as at 31 December 2010, and of the Group’s
profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with IFRSs and have been properly prepared in accordance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

18th Floor, Two International Finance Centre,
8 Finance Street, Central, Hong Kong

15 March 2011
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Consohdated Statement of Comprehensive Income
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Year ended 31 December 2010
BE-F-TF+-A=t—ALFEE

59
2010 2009 _—
—E-=5F —ZEENF || i
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 o
B 5 AR®T ARBTT P
¥ S
REVENUE U % \ 6 2,116,871 1,391,533 W=
Cost of sales S5 6 P A (1,591,254) (1,102,083) syt
pxi)
Gross profit EF 525,617 289,450 %
Other income and gains R O E 6 22,375 20,561
Selling and distribution costs SHE R SR A (76,495) (57,292)
Administrative expenses TEAX (119,261) (70,084)
Other expenses Hth 5 2 (30,311) (13,220)
Finance costs B 7% B 7R 8 (22,205) (9,614)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 75t A& A 7 299,720 159,801
Income tax expense Frigfim s 11 (42,210) (14,523)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 2N 5% A 257,510 145,278
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ~ EM 2 E Wi
Exchange differences on translation ~ #E RN EFKH[E 5 =58
of foreign operations (1,027) (56)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ~ AFEH 2 mEIkes
FOR THE YEAR (1,027) (56)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AEEEMNEREE
FOR THE YEAR 256,483 145,222
Profit attributable to: D/(TA%K‘&?TE?E&*'J :
Owners of the Company NN T%Eﬁ/\ 257,510 145,273
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR M A - 5
257,510 145,278
Total comprehensive income L/(T)\iJETEi\E
attributable to: W 48 5E
Owners of the Company PIN/N W%ﬁ/\ 256,483 145,218
Non-controlling interests FEP2E IR - 4
256,483 145,222
EARNINGS PER SHARE NAIEBEEEREA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY FE1E TR A
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 14
Basic BN
— For profit for the year — FE % T RMBA R#0.257 NA &
Diluted e
— For profit for the year — FE A RMBA K %0.247T NAZ 35 A
Details of the dividends payable and proposed for the year are ANF R AT SR AR B EF B B T 3R & M

disclosed in note 13 to the financial statements. 13K E -
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

»»/3 A B IR I 2R

31 December 2010
—E—ZTF+-A=+—H

2010 2009
—ZE-ZF —ZEENF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BT AR® TR ARBTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment L EIN N S 15 520,929 367,587
Prepaid land lease payments TEfT LA EFKIB 16 57,907 42 440
Intangible assets EREE 17 3,401 2,719
Long term portion of trade receivables & 5 & U 55 18 ) & HA 2617 20 11,335 19,346
Deposits paid for purchase of items ~ FKREDE - BE
of property, plant and equipment REZ AR 2 42,584 11,371
Deferred tax assets FEFRTEE B 29 1,801 1,628
Total non-current assets FEMBEEMLE 637,957 445,091
CURRENT ASSETS MBEE
Inventories T 51 19 687,654 180,659
Trade and bills receivables B 5 eI e K el E i 20 585,140 340,393
Prepayments, deposits and ?Eﬁ/f 5 i3 &
other receivables R B Ath g Uk I8 21 175,008 28,526
Tax recoverable &R Bl 7 I8 24,997 335
Amounts due from related companies & U 8 :& A 7 38 27 4,806 34,245
Equity investments at fair value RIERE  BAR
through profit or loss EBEF AR 22 1,480 —
Time deposit with terms over 3 months #:@ =1 A > & 81 & 23 721,075 —
Pledged deposits BEBFR 23 67,311 18,754
Cash and cash equivalents HekBEE2EEYD 23 178,647 43,189
Total current assets MENEERE 2,446,118 646,101
CURRENT LIABILITIES iER= R
Trade and bills payables B S RENFIBERENEE 24 345,450 163,106
Other payables and accruals Hih A RIERETE R 25 161,320 130,550
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTEIRITERE 28 416,629 173,331
Amount due to a director Bt —REENIA 26 - 58,476
Amounts due to related companies JEN @R R FRIA 27 48,135 54,383
Income tax payable JERT TS A 32,556 13,428
Total current liabilities RBAEAE 1,004,090 593,274
NET CURRENT ASSETS MBEEFE 1,442,028 52,827
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BERERRDEE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,079,985 497,918




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
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31 December 2010

—E-TE+-B=+—AH

61
2010 2009 —
—s—®E | —BBAE gk
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5T AR® TR ARBTT Eg{
%
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBAR 8
Deferred tax liabilities REFIEEE 29 211 754 el
Net assets BEFE 2,079,774 497,164
EQUITY s
Issued capital BEEITIRAR 30 114,267 —
Reserves E 33(a) 1,965,507 497,164
Total equity M AR 2,079,774 497,164
Dong Li Zhao Huan
B HE
Director Director

EF EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
A i A B 3R

Year ended 31 December 2010
BE-F-TF+-A=t—ALFEE

Year ended 31 December 2010

WE—F-FE+ A=
—H (4

Share Share  Statutory  Exchange
Issued  premium Merger option reserve  fluctuation  Retained
capital  account*  reserve*  reserve* fund*  reserve* profits* Total
BRORE RGBER AEEE BRERE iE0ES  EiRE  REER fit
Notes RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RWMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
Mg ARBTL ARETR ARMTR ARETn ARETn ARETR ARETR AREfR
(Note 30)  (Note 33(b)  (Note 33(a))  (Note 31)  (Note 33(a))  (Note 33(a))
(¥s0) (mitssp)  (MfiEss@)  (MiEs1)  (WEssa)  (Fi3E33(a)
At 31 December 2009 and 1 January 2010 R=EENF+-F=1+-H
k=Z-25-8-H - - 264,717 - 22,251 6,633 203,563 497,164
Proft for the year RERER - - - - - - %7510 257510
Other comprehensive income for the year:  REEEM2ERE :
Exchange differences on translation ~ EENERNELZE
of foreign operations - - - - - (1,027) - (1,027)
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ AEE2EUALR - - - - - (1,027) 257510 256,483
Contributed by then equity holders SEEANENNIELA
of the subsidiaries ERRBEALE
before group reorganisation - - 12,959 - - - - 12,959
Dividend paid to then equity holders REBEAHNERNHELE
of the subsidiaries ERkBALARE
before group reorganisation 13 - - - - - - (147,655)  (147,655)
Issue of shares EE0 ) 30 114,067 1,414,053 - - - - - 1528320
Share issue expenses OEF - (71,756) - - - - - (71756)
Acquisition of subsidiaries pursuant RESEERNENELR
to group rearganisation - - (2,571) - - - - (2,571)
Equity-settled share option arangements [ £ BERER 3 - - - 6,830 - - - 6,830
Appropriations to reserves BIERRE - - - - 27,380 - 27,380) -
At 31 December 2010 R-E5-FF+-f=1-H 114267 1,342,297 275,105 6,830 49,631 5,606 286,038 2,079,774
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated * W EREREKGEMBERRERAZGEREEA

reserves of RMB1,965,507,000 (2009: RMB497,164,000) in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

R¥1,965,507,000 L (ZZETHF : ARK
497,164,0007T) °
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Year ended 31 December 2010

BHEEZ-FFET A=

[*]
(]

~H¢$E it
\
A 5
Share Share  Statutory  Exchange Non- E g
Issued  premium Merger option  Reserve fluctuation  Retained controlling Total %ﬁ
capital  account*  reserve*  reserve* fund*  reserve* profit* Total interests equity il
R ROEER AHEE BRERE iELELS  ERRR  RERW &t FERER  EREE ?”
Notes RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
i ARETT ARMTR ARETRT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETn ARETR
(Note 30)  (Note 33(b)) (Note 33(a)) ~ (Note 31)  (Note 33()  (Note 33(a))
(Wis0) (Waxssi)  (MfaESs@)  (AfREST)  (MHEss@)  (F:Ess(a)
At 1 January 2009 RZEENE
-A-H - - 259,046 - 14,515 5,348 76,168 355,077 1,200 356,277
Profit for the year TERRT - - - - - - 145273 145273 5 145278
Other comprenensive income A% & Hﬁ
for the year: g
Bxchange differenceson~ #2 %9 5%
translation of foreign HEXZS
operations - - - - - (65) - (55) 1) (56)
Total comprehensive income K 2 EME
for the year &8 - - - - - (B5) 145278 145,218 4 145,222
Contribution by then equity ~ EEHELA
holders of the subsidiaries B8 A E - - 16,374 - - - - 16,374 - 16,374
Acquisition of equity interest in TEE AL
asubsidiary by the Group ~~ EEEAE AME
from the equity holders ~HNEAT
of the Company LiE - - (10,850) - - 1340 - (9510) - (9510)
Acquisition of non-controling WS ERER
interest - - 147 - - - - W24 [1057)
Dividend paid to then equity WEBEAFE
holders of the subsidiaries I B2 AIER
before group reorganisation  HEALTEE 13 - - - - - - (10142 (10,142) - (10,142)
Appropriations to reserves  Bi{EEf - - - - 7,736 - (7,736) - - -
At 31 December 2009 RZEENE
T-A=t-8 - - 264,717 - 22,251 6,633 203,563 497,164 - 497,164
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
e N/ =

GZEBERE

Year ended 31 December 2010

BE—T-TF+_A=t+-ALFE

2010 2009
—E-EF ZEENF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR®T R ARETT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING KEEBMBRERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax B B A i ) 299,720 159,801
Adjustments for: MRS IEEY A
Finance costs B 7% B 7R 8 22,205 9,614
Interest income FEWA 6 (2,706) 610)
Fair value gain from equity BRETE AR EBEYE
investment at fair value through ZRAEE 2 A REE
profit or loss &y 6 (275) —
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items BEME - BB K&E
of property, plant and equipment BEMER, (W) (33) 11
Depreciation e 15 42,100 32,044
Amortisation of prepaid land TET 4 Hh 7 & 0 5
lease payments 16 1,573 919
Amortisation of intangible assets m A EE 17 372 324
Amortisation of deferred 3R RE ST 7 B 4 5
government grants (433) (857)
Government grants credited O EL A A B RS A8 B
to other income 6 (14,506) (17,145)
Impairment of trade receivables B 5 RWHIERIE 20 3,786 688
Equity-settled share option expenses AR EEERER 31 6,830 —
Transaction expenses for offering R EEE R EH
and listing of shares ZRXSHAX 7 16,871 —
375,504 184,789
Increase in inventories FE N (506,995) (82,090)
Increase in trade and bills receivables & 5 & Uz 7178 K JiE UL
FEIE N (240,522) (121,546)
Increase in prepayments, deposits TERTRIE - 5l REME
and othe receivables U FRIEHE N (169,536) (15,652)
Increase in trade and bills payables Z 5 e FE M e
TR BIE AN 182,344 21,543
Increase in other payables and accruals H i & 1~ Z & & &
&AM 39,938 12,523
Movements in balance with a director H1E 3~ I H & 4% (61,047) (11,909)
Movements in balances with ERREE AN+ 2 MR AR E
related parties 23,191 (5,555)
Cash used in operations KERTAE S (357,123) (17,897)
Income tax paid EFEH (23,798) (9,175)
Net cash flows used in KEEBFTARESREFE
operating activities (380,921) (27,072)




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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Year ended 31 December 2010
BE-F-TF+-A=t—ALFEE

65
2010 2009 —
—E-ZF —ETNF ||
Notes RMB’000 RvB'O0O i
B 5 AR TR AREFT ek
e
Net cash flows used in SR AR SRR a3
operating activities (380,921) (27,072) =
S
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING HEEHNHRERE =
ACTIVITIES
Interest received 2 W F 8 1,077 610
Purchases of items of property, plant  WEWH « BEM&EHEB
and equipment (224,722) (84,358)
Proceeds from disposal of items BEME - BE M
of property, plant and equipment IH B W1 3R 2,347 2,350
Additions in prepaid land TEf L b A & SR A3 N
lease payments (17,019) (3,599)
Additions in intangible assets & E RN (1,077) (363)
Increase in time deposits with terms @3 1E A 2 & #A7F 514 1N
over 3 months (721,075) —
Investments of financial instruments £ @I T ARE (1,205) —
Increase in pledged deposits [REECREE= 6Pl (48,557) (3,635)
Net cash flows used in investing KREFRBMANES
activities ME /TR (1,010,231) (88,995)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING BEEHMNRERE
ACTIVITIES
Issue of shares, net of RDE1T  BEITHRZFRE
issuance expenses 1,439,693 16,374
New bank borrowings FERITER 652,370 243,038
Repayment of bank borrowings EEIRITER (409,072) (133,257)
Interest paid B2 B (22,205) (9,614)
Dividend paid BT B 13 (147,655) (10,142)
Receipt of government grants WU BRI A 8 6 14,506 17,145
Net cash flows from BEEBELEN
financing activities WEMEFE 1,527,637 123,544
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND Re MRS FEWIEINFE
CASH EQUIVALENTS 136,485 7,477
Cash and cash equivalents at REVNEHESEREEEY
beginning of year 43,189 35,718
Effect of foreign exchange EXEFHNTE  F8
rate changes, net (1,027) (6)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERNBEERE2EEYD
AT END OF YEAR 178,647 43,189
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH IR& kB EZEWMESGO T
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances and RIT RIS LR
unpledged deposits N BT R 23 178,647 43,189
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2010
—E-ZF
Notes RMB’000
{hx=3 AR® TR
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EMEBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHTE R RMIEE 18 1,009,571
CURRENT ASSETS mENEE
Time deposits with terms FEA3ME A 2 F BF
over 3 months 23 721,075
Cash and cash equivalents ReLRESEFED 23 45,128
Prepayments, deposits and TERTRIE ~ 5] R E AR EIE
other receivables 21 1,629
NET CURRENT ASSETS MENEEFE 767,832
NET ASSETS BEFE 1,777,403
EQUITY =
Issued capital BETIRA 30 114,267
Reserves A 33(b) 1,663,136
Total equity W 4258 1,777,403
Dong Li Zhao Huan
X HE
Director Director
EF -
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Corporate Information

Wy

A H-
The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands ARB)TRZE—ZEFOA -+ EHBRE N;ﬁ
on 27 April 2010 as an exempted company with limited FENESFE2EMSHERANE(1961F A
liability under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 FEIER - LERE RIER]) EHERST g;ﬁ
of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman iz AEREERART - MARERMD =
Islands and the Company’s shares have been listed on EEZE—ZEF T AT BREDEE E

the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 16 November 2010 (“the listing”). The
registered office of the Company is located at the office
of Codan Trust Company (Cayman) Limited, Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The Group is principally
engaged in the manufacture and development of lead-
acid batteries.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”), the holding company and the ultimate
holding company is Master Alliance Investment Limited,
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands,
which is wholly owned by Mr. Dong Li.

Before the formation of the Group, the Company’s
business was carried out by the subsidiaries now
comprising the Group as set out in note 4, all of which
were collectively controlled by Mr. Dong Li (hereinafter
referred to as the “Controlling Shareholder”). Pursuant
to the group reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”) in
preparation for the Listing, the Company became the
holding company of the subsidiaries now comprising
the Group on 8 June 2010.

Reorganisation

Pursuant to the Reorganisation, the Company was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 27 April 2010.
The initial authorised share capital was HK$380,000
divided into 3,800,000 shares of HK$0.10 each. Upon
incorporation, the Company was wholly owned by
Master Alliance Investment Limited, which is in turn
wholly-owned by the Controlling Shareholder. In
preparation for the Listing and as part of the
Reorganisation, the Company established Catherine
Holdings International Company Limited (“Catherine
Holdings”) and acquired the present subsidiaries in the
Group. The details of the Reorganisation are as follows
(the abbreviations of the companies’ names are defined
in note 4):

N ER

ERGFABRAR ([EBRZFF]) £ ([ £
M) o R A& & Ml 3% =5 5 2 7 Codan
Trust Company (Cayman) Limited, Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands o ZN 5[ 3= 2 1 &5 B35 A0 A 35 20 R

HEE=EY o

ARaAEE([EE])RE  ANARMIER
RARREIER AR AR RABELRET
i B 37 By Master Alliance Investment

Limited (HEZLE2EHE) °

EAEBEERA - ARREB TS B ATAE
RAEBERETEMB AR (SR E4) B
BRRE  FIBERERAREAEFLE A
A TERRBCR]) 2= - IRIBER LT
HEET2EEEE ([EA]) - ARFR
—E-TFEXNANBKAS B ATERAEE
ETEMBEARNERAF -

HA

BIEEH ARAR_Z—ZTFWA_—
+tHERSBESEMKIL - TENVIHE
TE A% AR £380,000/8 7T+ 93 £3,800,0004%
EREBE0N0ETTHRMD - LM
1% » ZKA Al Master Alliance Investment
Limited® & # & + M Master Alliance
Investment Limited 8I| f3 #% I I B8 2 & 1
B REEHELMAMEREAN—EH @ K
A &)X 37 Catherine Holdings International
Company Limited ([ Catherine Holdings])
WIKEAEERRENB AR - EAFE
T (ARIEBOEHEOMF4TER)

(=]
~
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1. Corporate Information (Continued)

Reorganisation (Continued)

(@) Restructuring of Peak Year, Shieldon, Access
Bright, Leoch Battery Company and Leoch

Europe

On 16 March 2010, Access Bright transferred its
350,000 shares in the issued share capital of
Leoch Battery Company (representing 35% of the
total issued share capital of Leoch Battery
Company) to Peak Year at par value of HK$1.00
per share. On 16 March 2010, Shieldon
transferred its 150,000 shares in the issued share
capital of Leoch Battery Company (representing
15% of the total issued share capital of Leoch
Battery Company) to Peak Year at par value of
HK$1.00 per share. After the above share
transfers, Leoch Battery Company became a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Peak Year, and Leoch
Europe became an indirect wholly-owned

subsidiary of Peak Year.

(b) Incorporation of Leoch Battery Pte

On 5 April 2010, Leoch Battery Pte was
incorporated and is wholly owned by Leoch
Power Supply with Mr. Dong as the director.

(c) Incorporation of Catherine Holdings

On 3 May 2010, Catherine Holdings was
incorporated in the BVI with an authorised share
capital of US$50,000 and is wholly owned by the
Company.

1.

NEVERE )
H4H &)

@

(b)

()

g4 - JIEE - ZEF - Leoch Battery
Company fiLeoch Europe E #H

RZZE—ZTF=A+XH  LHES
EE1.008 7T © #E M Leoch
Battery Company@ #1TH AR
350,000 fx fn (#8 & M Leoch
Battery Company B2 277N B FE Y
3% HWETEF - N_ZE—ZF=
A+RE - ERZEREE.00%
7T+ # H M Leoch Battery Company
BT A #9150,000/% [ 1» (B &
M Leoch Battery Companyt, 217 i%
RERFEH)15%)EE T IEF o /£ it
#%1% » Leoch Battery CompanyfX
BEFHEENBAFT + MLeoch
Europefl| Bk & & FF &) 4 2 & 1 B

NI
Leoch Battery Ptest fiftiX 7

RZZE—ZFFWMAARHB - Leoch
Battery Ptest ik © HIE+ERE
BB WHELATETESE -

Catherine Holdings &F it X 7

R-_ZET—FFHH=H " Catherine
HoldingsfE 2 /8 i Z A¥ & sEfit Ak az -
SETERR AN A50,000E 7T © BARAEE
BWA -
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1. Corporate Information (Continued)

Reorganisation (Continued)

(d)

Transfer of Anhui Leoch Battery from Uplus
International Corp. (“Uplus”) to Leoch Power
Supply

Pursuant to a share transfer agreement dated
15 April 2010, Leoch Power Supply purchased
the entire issued share capital of Anhui Leoch
Battery from Uplus, at a fair value of
US$11,943,000. The consideration for the
purchase was satisfied by a promissory note in
the amount of US$11,943,000 issued by Leoch
Power Supply to Uplus. After the acquisition,
Anhui Leoch Battery became a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Leoch Power Supply and an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. On
15 April 2010, Uplus declared dividend in specie
and the promissory note was distributed to
Mr. Dong. On 15 April 2010, Mr. Dong transferred
the promissory note to Master Alliance for a
consideration of HK$1.0, Master Alliance
transferred the promissory note to the Company
for a consideration of HK$1.0 and the Company
transferred the promissory note to Catherine
Holdings for a consideration of HK$1.0.

1. A&k &)
T4 ()

(@)

Uplus International Corp. ([Uplus/)
BRI EM T ELTER

BEBHA_ZE—SFNATHAN
nEEE  BEEREAAEE
11,943,000% Jt M Uplusfé & & #132
TEMHZEEBITRA - BERE
EiiBAETERMUplusEE H £ 58
#311,943,0003 T B A A ZIB AT ©
WEE%  ZHELTEHREELER
HE2EMBRARMARRNEEEE
MEBA AR M _ZE—ZTFNMA+H
H ' UplusfE o £ 5 R E ¥ A% 8F0
DIRAENEE  c R-_E—TFMAH+
B - EEAEREAEE TMaster
Alliance * X8 &1.0/8 T * Master
Aliance#EE A L RIBE T ARF] - K
BR1.0BTT - ARARREEAR
Z & F Catherine Holdings * R 1B A
1.0 7T °

(2]
©

L;
%—%-l

=

g A 7
(=27 i B 0 2k 554 o) -
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1. Corporate Information (Continued)

Reorganisation (Continued)

(e)

Transfer of Jiangsu Leoch from D&P International
Research and Development Corp. (“D&P”) to
Leoch Power Supply

Pursuant to a share transfer agreement dated
13 May 2010, Leoch Power Supply purchased
the entire issued share capital of Jiangsu Leoch
from D&P, at a fair value of US$37,658,000. The
consideration for the purchase was satisfied by a
promissory note in the amount of US$37,658,000
issued by Leoch Power Supply to D&P. After the
acquisition, Jiangsu Leoch became a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Leoch Power Supply and an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
Accordingly, each of Shenzhen Leoch, Dongguan
Leoch, Kunming Leoch, Nanjing Leoch, Beijing
Leoch, Xining Leoch and Shenzhen Leoch Battery
became an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company. On 13 May 2010, D&P declared
dividend in specie and the promissory note was
distributed to Mr. Dong. On 13 May 2010,
Mr. Dong transferred the promissory note to
Master Alliance for a consideration of HK$1.0,
Master Alliance transferred the promissory note
to the Company for a consideration of HK$1.0
and the Company transferred the promissory note
to Catherine Holdings for a consideration of
HK$1.0.

1.

NEVERE )
H4H &)

(e)

D&P International Research and
Development Corp. ([D&P]) ¥ T
HIE+ T+ ER

BEABA—S—SFRAA+=HN
B EZERE  BLERIEAAEE
37,658,000% s MD&PHE BT &k 12 +
MEFEBITRA - BERELBB
METEFRADAPEHSEA
37,658,000 LAY # A BB o K
B IHETHRARLTERNEE
MEBARMARGENEEZEHRBA
A o Ft  RYEL - REEL R
AEL  mREL - tREL - AmE
BEMAIELENS B ALRRR
WEEE2ENBAR - RZT—ZF
HAE+=H " D&PHELLTKEY
REMDIRALEE - R_ZT—FTF
FA+T=H EX4EZEHERT
Master Alliance * KB &1.0/8 7T °
Master Alliance®$ ;&% H =& T AR
A REB1.0ET  WERARFH
#7# 5 Z 8 T Catherine Holdings -
REA1.0BT -
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1. Corporate Information (Continued)

Reorganisation (Continued)

"

()

(h)

Acquisition of Honour Label

On 24 May 2010, Catherine Holdings acquired
the entire issued share capital of Honour Label
from Mr. Dong. The consideration for the
acquisition was satisfied by Catherine Holdings
allotting and issuing, credited as fully paid, one
ordinary share of US$1.00 to the Company as
directed by Mr. Dong. After the share transfer,
Honour Label became a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Catherine Holdings and an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company.

Acquisition of Peak Year

On 24 May 2010, Catherine Holdings acquired
the entire issued share capital of Peak Year from
Mr. Dong. The consideration for the acquisition
was satisfied by Catherine Holdings allotting and
issuing, credited as fully paid, one ordinary share
of US$1.00 to the Company as directed by
Mr. Dong. After the share transfer, Peak Year
became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Catherine
Holdings and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company.

Acquisition of Shieldon

On 24 May 2010, Catherine Holdings acquired
the entire issued share capital of Shieldon from
Mr. Dong. The consideration for the acquisition
was satisfied by Catherine Holdings allotting and
issuing, credited as fully paid, one ordinary share
of US$1.00 to the Company as directed by
Mr. Dong. After the share transfer, Shieldon
became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Catherine
Holdings and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company.

1. A&k &)
T4 ()

()

(9)

(h)

WeBEHonour Label

RZE-—ZFRA=-_THTA -
Catherine HoldingslAl & 7t 4 W 8§
Honour Label#) 2 ZP 2 1T o Ik
88 (8 2 A B Catherine HoldingsiZ
EREMIERAANA R AT —
MREE1.00E T ARY AR TR
IR A o Bfn#8:%1% - Honour Label
fX A Catherine Holdings#) & & [ff B
RNRAFAQRNEEE2ENRB AR

Wy i e

R—ZZE—ZEFRAA=-_+WTA -
Catherine Holdings[Al & 4t 4 I BE 1§
FHEHDBITRAN - WERERB
iB Catherine Holdingsi% & 4t 4 945
RAARBACE AT —AREE1.00
EILARY BT HEBRET - iR
meEE%E - BF K ACatherine
HoldingsH) 2 & [ff B A Bl F1 AN 2 &) HY
ME2ERBAR -

W fE B R

RZE—ZETFRA=-_+TM®A -
Catherine Holdings[Al 2 4t £ Ut B8 JIE
RHOEFEETRA - WERELB
i& Catherine Holdings¥Z & %t 4 &9 45
RAEARARIBCEE AT —REE.00
EILARY AR T B - ik
meEEE%E - IBR K & Catherine
Holdings#) & & Kt & 2~ Al AR 2 &) #Y
ME2ERBAR -

~
—h

L;
%—%-l

=

g A 7
(=27 i B 0 2k 554 o) -
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Corporate Information (Continued)
Reorganisation (Continued)
()  Acquisition of Leoch Battery Corp

On 31 May 2010, Catherine Holdings acquired
the entire issued share capital of Leoch Battery
Corp., a company established in the State of
California principally engaged in the trading of
battery products in the United States, from Peng
Hui, the spouse of Mr. Dong, at a fair value of
approximately US$300,000. The consideration for
the acquisition was satisfied by cash. After the
share transfer, Leoch Battery Corp became a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Catherine Holdings
and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company.

2.1.Basis of Preparation

Pursuant to the Reorganisation, the Company became
the holding company of the subsidiaries now
comprising the Group on 8 June 2010. Since the
Company and the subsidiaries now comprising the
Group were under common control of the Controlling
Shareholder both before and after the completion of
the Reorganisation, the Reorganisation has been
accounted for using merger accounting.

These financial statements have been prepared on the
basis as if the Company had always been the holding
company of the subsidiaries now comprising the Group.
These financial statements presents the consolidated
results, cash flows and financial position of the
companies comprising the Group as if the group
structure had been in existence throughout the
presented periods and as if all of the Group’s business
was transferred to the Group as of the earliest period
presented, or since their respective date of
incorporation or establishment when this is a shorter
period.

1. ~NalER )
HH @)
() Y FELeoch Battery Corp

RZE—ZTFRA=Z+—H
Catherine Holdingsik A A2 (B {EH)
300,000 7T [A1 & 5t 4 ) e (B 2 18 UL
B eoch Battery Corp (— A AN A
VHAE  FEREEREEMER
Z5)WEREEBITRA - WEARE
MBI - R #EEE - Leoch
Battery Corpfk £ Catherine Holdings
MEEMBARNARARNMEEEE
EAR -

2.1. 4 B L e

REBEHE  ARBRR-_ZT—ZFFANR
XA B ATARAR AR SR B IR TS 35 B A R e 12
RRE] o HRARTE N A ATAEKRANEEE
TEMTEBA RN EETAAT TR R
ZRCARR RS - EBBEAEHEFHE
N

SZEVBRRDERA LR —H R B ATAE
XA BIE T S B A B MER AR B
RMAREL - PBEHRZINERANEEET
NEIMEHES  ReRERVBARR
BINEERER 2B —BFE&EL
MBEAREEEBRERNZEHHENEE
FBEMEMAIEKT AL CAREE
RE)DEETAEKHE -
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2.1. R L HE ()

2.1.Basis of Preparation (Continued)

|
These financial statements have been prepared in ZEUBRER B ERE B REELR N;ﬂ
accordance with IFRSs which comprise standards and 2 gheEER S ENEZESEIE E
interpretations approved by the IASB and the disclosure FERIFN R A R BB R aHERIH 3 R R d

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
The Group has early adopted all IFRSs, which are
effective for the accounting period beginning on
1 January 2010, that are relevant to the Group’s
operations throughout the periods presented in these
financial statements, except for IFRS 3 (Revised), which
has been applied for business combination for which
the acquisition date is on or after 1 January 2010, and
IAS 27 (Revised) which has been applied for accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010.

These financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, except for investment
properties, certain buildings, derivative financial
instruments and equity investments, which have been
measured at fair value. These financial statements are
presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries comprising the Group for the presented
periods. As explained herein before, the acquisition of
subsidiaries under common control has been
accounted for using merger accounting.

The merger method of accounting involves
incorporating the financial statement items of the
combining entities or businesses in which the common
control consolidation occurs as if they had been
consolidated from the date when the combining entities
or businesses first came under the control of the
controlling party.

E o AEEDRFPRMEANE BAERERZ
FSH MR 2N HENEBEBHO B
R BHREEN(R=_F—FF—-F—H
R &t HIRAER) - BT BREERY
BEERIEIFE (KR (HERARIK
BERA-ZT—TF B HRZEME
BaoH) KBRS ERIF 275 (EERT)
(HeEARE—Z—ZTF—A—BHH
KRR G HIRE) -

A EVBRRTIRIBE L A AEPIRER -
HREYE - ETET TEERITAR
BREREC AR EBEEI - ZFHH
BEUAARE (TARE]) 27 =B HE
RS RAEEBEDABEREONTIT -

B Y 2k e

ZERAMBERREBBARARERNE
B K B A RN 25 BRI TR EK W
o ESCRAt - B R — R HIE B A R
WEDRAAHEFHAAR -

BHEESRINABRER —ZFHIFA A
HEHERIEBHNYEHRRIAR - B
MZERBEREFEHERAEHERT
BRAZESSEHE AL AMEE -

P

(=27 i B 0 2k 554 o) -
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2.1.Basis of Preparation (Continued) 2.1.4m RETE ()

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

No amount is recognised in respect of goodwill or the
excess of the acquirers’ interest in the net fair value of
acquirees’ identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over the cost of investment at the time of the
Reorganisation under common control.

These financial statements include the results and
financial position of each of the combining entities or
businesses from the earliest date presented or since
the date when the combining entities or businesses
first came under common control, where this is a
shorter period, regardless of the date of the
Reorganisation under common control. The financial
statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies.

All intra-group balances, transactions, unrealised gains
and losses resulting from intra-group transactions and
dividends are eliminated on consolidation in full.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

2.2.Changes in Accounting Policy and

Disclosures

As mentioned in note 2.1 above, the Group has
adopted the following new and revised IFRSs for the
first time for the current year’s financial statements.

IFRS 3 (Revised)
IAS 27 (Revised)

Business Combinations
Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements

The adoption of the new and revised IFRSs has had
no significant financial effect on these financial
statements.

HPE ) B UE ()

& L R SR R T AR KRR 1 R A
REE AERSBREANFENER
HBHEARE 660 ERNRERAR
R -

AEMNHREBESEHERREHEM
ERNEFEMAREAHERAEBE
REZ R4 E B AR R%E) &
¥ TwEAXR—ZHEHANBEH -
f /R R AR E 2 iR R 2 W HIRE
MR WA R Z G BRER -

FIBEREARRRZERS X5 KENR
NEIRARGEEZARBER RS REBIAR

REHNEERE2EEHE -

MEATEEEER B (WARKREE
HHE) IR R PRI o

2.8 FHEOR S 55k 2 BT

Bt EE2 A Pt - AEBEEART B wE
FEERERAT THIFEMEERT B
FI75 s 2R

\:

BIBR B 53R A Ey =N
)

3R]

FE 3R (B3
Ra st A8 HEEREVHE
F275% (1Z37T) HE
ZEF T MEIETTR R I RS ERE
RHH S RRETERRREBRERY

i
Z
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2.2.Changes in Accounting Policy and
Disclosures (Continued)

The principal effects of adopting these new and revised
IFRSs are as follows:

IFRS 3 (Revised) introduces a number of changes in
the accounting for business combinations that affect
the initial measurement of non-controlling interests, the
accounting for transaction costs, the initial recognition
and subsequent measurement of a contingent
consideration and business combinations achieved in
stages. These changes will impact the amount of
goodwill recognised, the reported results in the period
that an acquisition occurs, and future reported results.

IAS 27 (Revised) requires that a change in the
ownership interest of a subsidiary without loss of control
is accounted for as an equity transaction. Therefore,
such a change will have no impact on goodwill, nor
will it give rise to a gain or loss. Furthermore, the revised
standard changes the accounting for losses incurred
by the subsidiary as well as the loss of control of a
subsidiary. Consequential amendments were made to
various standards, including, but not limited to IAS 7
Statement of Cash Flows, |IAS 12 Income Taxes, I1AS
21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates,
IAS 28 Investments in Associates and IAS 31 Interests
in Joint Ventures.

The changes introduced by these revised standards
are applied prospectively and affect the accounting of
acquisitions, loss of control and transactions with non-
controlling interests after 1 January 2010.

2. @ EIHUR Mg 2 5 ()

RINZEFNE REIERT OB B dRE &
AMEEZEMT :

BRI 1 75 i 5 E RI BB 35k (REAERT) B %
BAGNETRIEETT T ZHNME - K
FENBEY KOHEBRERN IR E
RHRANGETRIE - A HENVIIHHE
RAMBREATEARDERETHERS

Bt - ELUNEBETERERANTHE I
BN B RS M A R A BT B 3R R

RE R ERIFE 279 (HEE]) Bk - MY
BARIZBENMEERENEE - 18
Bk BIERERR S HAZ
ot ZERERTSFERE DT
TEERZNIBLA - MA @ KEFTH%ER|
WETHHB AR EBNSEE LY
B AR RTINS RIE - ZIHE
Al ET THRENARE 215 (BETE
R B g ERIE7TREERER
Re T ERIFE 125 ATZF - BIR gt 4R
FoVRIEXREHHZE - B SR
O8SR B A D E AR AU KB & 52 R
31EAE LA A -

% EF BT E R E LM E EBIRA
Ry YREBHR_ZT—TF—A—HM
BUEE - FRARIEDIME N IR AR R AR
S EFTBRIETE
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2.3.Issued But Not Yet Effective

International Financial Reporting

Standards

The Group has not applied the following new and
revised IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these financial statements.

IFRS 1 Amendment

IFRS 1 Amendment

IFRS 7 Amendments

IFRS 9

IAS 12 Amendments

IAS 24 (Revised)

IAS 32 Amendment

IFRIC 14 Amendments

IFRIC 19

Amendments to IFRS 1
First-time Adoption of
International Financial
Reporting Standards —
Limited Exemption from
Comparative
IFRS 7 Disclosures for
First-time Adopters ?

Amendments to IFRS 1
First-time Adoption of
International Financial
Reporting Standards —
Severe Hyperinflation
and Removal of Fixed
Dates for First-time
Adopters *

Amendments to IFRS 7
Financial Instruments:
Disclosures — Transfers of
Financial Assets *

Financial Instruments °

Amendments to IAS 12
Income Taxes — Deferred
Tax: Recovery of
Underlying Assets ©

Related Party Disclosures °

Amendment to IAS 32
Financial Instruments:
Presentation —
Classification of Rights
Issues !

Amendments to IFRIC 14
Prepayments of a Minimum
Funding Requirement 2

Extinguishing Financial
Liabilities with Equity
Instruments ?

2.3. B AR {E 1 A A= 5 B P
S S i

#EH

_|_‘/\IJ

REBRARERER AL ERAUTER
o MR SRR HT ] S A B AT B BIR B 155 3

EESTR

BRI RS
ZERIZF 5%
fEFTAR

BB R s
ERIE 1R
fEFTAR

R TSRS
ZERIF TR
fERTA

BABR B A R
B 9%
BpR & 5T 2R
$12%
EHEN

B B & w2 Al
E 2458
(&183])

B R & 5 R Al
#3258
(EHIEN

B B B 7 R
ZEZES
FE1458
BRI A

B PR B 75 R
“ZEZE®
E195%

CEIN=0 T p
ERIET S B RRA
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2.3.Issued But Not Yet Effective

. . . . |
International Financial Reporting e >‘y
Standards (continued) e

_FH‘
Apart from the above, the IASB has issued br bt oo - BIR gt ERIZE 2 E Y g

Improvements to IFRSs 2010 which sets out
amendments to a number of IFRSs primarily with a view
to removing inconsistencies and clarifying wording. The
amendments to IFRS 3 and IAS 27 are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010,
whereas the amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7, IAS 1,
IAS 34 and IFRIC 13 are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2011 although there
are separate transitional provisions for each standard.
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1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after L RZE—TF A —HAxk 2 &RBNFED
1 February 2010 B

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2 RZE—TF+LA—Hxk 2 ERABNFED
2010 A

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 8 RZE——F—A— Az &RABNFED
2011 A

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 4 RZE——F A — Az &RABNFED
2011 A

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 5 RZE—=F—A—Hxkz&RABNFELD
2013 A

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 6 RZE——F—A—Hxkz&RABNFED
2012 A

Further information about those changes that are
expected to significantly affect the Group is as follows:

IFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part of
phase 1 of a comprehensive project to entirely replace
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement. This phase focuses on the classification
and measurement of financial assets. Instead of
classifying financial assets into four categories, an entity
shall classify financial assets as subsequently measured
at either amortised cost or fair value, on the basis of
both the entity’s business model for managing the
financial assets and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the financial assets. This aims to
improve and simplify the approach for the classification
and measurement of financial assets compared with
the requirements of IAS 39.
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2.3.Issued But Not Yet Effective

International Financial Reporting
Standards (Continued)

In November 2010, the IASB issued additions to IFRS
9 to address financial liabilities (the “Additions”) and
incorporated in IFRS 9 the current derecognition
principles of financial instruments of IAS 39. Most of
the Additions were carried forward unchanged from
IAS 39, while changes were made to the measurement
of financial liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss using the fair value option (“FVO”). For
these FVO liabilities, the amount of change in the fair
value of a liability that is attributable to changes in credit
risk must be presented in other comprehensive income
(“OCI”). The remainder of the change in fair value is
presented in profit or loss, unless presentation of the
fair value change in respect of the liability’s credit risk
in OCI would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch
in profit or loss. However, loan commitments and
financial guarantee contracts which have been
designated under the FVO are scoped out of the
Additions.

IAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by IFRS 9 in its entirety.
Before this entire replacement, the guidance in IAS 39
on hedge accounting and impairment of financial assets
continues to apply. The Group expects to adopt IFRS
9 from 1 January 2013.

IAS 24 (Revised) clarifies and simplifies the definition
of related parties. It also provides for a partial exemption
of related party disclosure to government-related
entities for transactions with the same government or
entities that are controlled, jointly controlled or
significantly influenced by the same government. The
Group expects to adopt IAS 24 (Revised) from
1 January 2011 and the comparative related party
disclosures will be amended accordingly.
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2.3.Issued But Not Yet Effective

changes in the accounting policy, the revised standard
is unlikely to have any impact on the related party
disclosures as the Group currently does not have any
significant transactions with government-related
entities.

. . . . e
International Financial Reporting i
\

Standards (Continued) e
55

=1

While the adoption of the revised standard will result in BERARKEBII 2 ZEeE ST HRE Lo
pzii]

b

el

Improvements to IFRSs 2010 issued in May 2010 sets
out amendments to a number of IFRSs. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments from 1 January
2011. There are separate transitional provisions for
each standard. While the adoption of some of the
amendments may result in changes in accounting
policies, none of these amendments are expected to
have a significant financial impact on the Group.

Those amendments that are expected to have a
significant impact on the Group’s policies are as follows:

(@) IFRS 3 Business Combinations: Clarifies that the
amendments to IFRS 7, IAS 32 and IAS 39 that
eliminate the exemption for contingent
consideration do not apply to contingent
consideration that arose from business
combinations whose acquisition dates precede
the application of IFRS 3 (as revised in 2008).

In addition, the amendments limit the
measurement choice of non-controlling interests
at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets to components
of non-controlling interests that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in
the event of liquidation. Other components of
non-controlling interests are measured at their
acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by another IFRS.

The amendments also added explicit guidance
to clarify the accounting treatment for non-
replaced and voluntarily replaced share-based
payment awards.
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2.3.Issued But Not Yet Effective

International Financial Reporting
Standards (Continued)

(b)

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements:
Clarifies that an analysis of other comprehensive
income for each component of equity can be
presented either in the statement of changes in
equity or in the notes to the financial statements.

IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements: Clarifies that the consequential
amendments from IAS 27 (as revised in 2008)
made to IAS 21, IAS 28 and IAS 31 shall be
applied prospectively for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 July 2009 or earlier if IAS 27 is applied
earlier.

2.4.Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating
policies the Company controls, directly or indirectly, so
as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the
Company’s profit or loss to the extent of dividends
received and receivable. The Company’s investments
in subsidiaries that are not classified as held for sale in
accordance with IFRS 5 are stated at cost less any
impairment losses.

2.3. EL AE M AH i o A 5 B R

Ik

B 5 HE R ()

b) BERESFERNFIRABFTHREZZ
5l - MRAA BRSSO EMEE
Waa ot - AR E B R TS
WRMFEZT -

© BIBREFEAFE27RAS KRBT
Bk ARG ERE27R
(R =TT N\FLIER]) HERGHE
A1 215% - BB FHERIF285% &k
REETERIES1RPAIIE L VIR S
EFTRHRN —ETNFLA B
Z &G 2 F 2 AR 2 P in 1 AR B R
SR ERIE 27T (ME P UREE
RYE)ERA o

2.4 FE G RTEUORME

lige A

B 2 R A R B SRR B LB
RS TR A HOE B R M2 8
-

B R RMERAET ARRRMBEGERS
WA WAL B K B AR B R IR - RABR
(I8 AR MIRE (LERBEERM SRS
RN E IR ITE BFHEHLE) BIAKAER
EEFDRERB B



Notes to the Financial Statements

VA it o Y ik

31 December 2010
—ZE-TF+_A=+—H

2.4.Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets other than
goodwill

When an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other
than inventories, financial assets and deferred tax
assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset’s recoverable amount is calculated as the
higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in
use and its fair value less costs to sell, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to
profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

An assessment is made at the end of the year as to
whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset is reversed only
if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such
impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the year
in which it arises.
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2.4.Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)

the party, directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled by, or is
under common control with, the Group; (i) has
an interest in the Group that gives it significant
influence over the Group; or (iii) has joint control
over the Group;

the party is an associate;

the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

the party is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or its parent;

the party is a close member of the family of any
individual referred to in (a) or (d); or

the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by or for
which significant voting power in such entity
resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual
referred to in (d) or (e).
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2.4.Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction
in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs
of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after
items of property, plant and equipment have been put
into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which
it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciation.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The estimated useful lives of property, plant and
equipment are as follows:

Buildings 20 years
Plant and machinery 3-10 years
Office equipment 3-10 years
Motor vehicles 3-10 years
Tooling and equipment 3-10 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and
each part is depreciated separately.

Residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
reporting date.
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2.4.Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings, plant
and machinery under construction or installation and
testing. It is stated at cost less any impairment losses,
and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs
of construction or installation and testing and
capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds
during the period of construction or installation and
testing. Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for use.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and
the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is
measured at the fair value of the consideration received,
excluding other sales taxes or duties. The following
specific recognition criteria must also be met before
revenue is recognised:
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2.4.Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
(@) Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised
when the significant risks and rewards of
ownership have been transferred, the title has
been passed to the buyer and the amount of
revenue can be measured reliably, provided that
the Group maintains neither managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership, nor effective control over the goods
sold.

(b) Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying
the rate that discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial
instrument to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.

(c) Rental income

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion
basis over the lease terms.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e.,
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised.

All other borrowing costs are recognised as expenses
in the period in which they are incurred.
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2.4.Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB”), which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency. Each entity within the Group
determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency.

Foreign currency transactions are initially recorded
using the functional currency rates of exchange ruling
at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the rates of exchange ruling at the
reporting date. All differences are taken to profit or loss.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined.

The functional currencies of certain overseas entities
within the Group are currencies other than the RMB.
As at the reporting date, the assets and liabilities of
these entities are translated into RMB at the exchange
rates ruling at the reporting date and, their incomes
and expenses are translated into RMB at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year. The resulting
exchange differences are included in a separate
component of equity. On disposal of a foreign entity,
the deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised
in profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas entities within the
Group are translated into RMB at the exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas entities within the
Group which arise throughout the year are translated
into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.
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2.4.Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. Where the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income over the periods
necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis to
the costs that it is intended to compensate. Where the
grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to profit or
loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset
by equal annual instalments.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and
prior periods are measured at the amount expected to
be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries
in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.
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2.4.Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses can be utilised, except:

° where the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.
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2.4.Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each of the year and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each of the reporting
period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on
tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of each of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred
taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same
taxation authority.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition as cost. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be finite. Intangible assets with
finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life
and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method
for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets of the Group represent computer
software which is amortised over the estimated useful
life of 10 years.
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2.4.Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to profit or loss as
incurred. Expenditure incurred on projects to develop
new products is capitalised and deferred only when
the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale, its intention to complete and
its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will
generate future economic benefits, the availability of
resources to complete the project and the ability to
measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Product development expenditure which
does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 are classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and receivables, as appropriate. The Group
determines the classification of its financial assets at
initial recognition. When financial assets are recognised
initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the
case of investments not at fair value through profit or
loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

The Group determines the classification of its financial
assets after initial recognition and, where allowed and
appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at end of
reporting period.
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2.4.Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group’s financial assets include pledged deposits,
cash and bank balances, trade and bills receivables,
deposits and other receivables, amounts due from
related companies and equity investments at fair value
through profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

The Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss represent financial assets held for trading.
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they
are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in other income
and gains in profit or loss.

The Group evaluates its financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (held for trading) to assess
whether the intent to sell them in the near term is still
appropriate. When the Group is unable to trade these
financial assets due to inactive markets and
management’s intent to sell them in the foreseeable
future significantly changes, the Group may elect to
reclassify these financial assets in rare circumstances.
The reclassification from financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss to loans and receivables,
available-for-sale financial assets or held-to-maturity
investments depends on the nature of the assets.
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2.4.Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. After initial
measurement, such assets are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised
cost is calculated taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and includes fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in interest
income in profit or loss. The loss arising from
impairment is recognised in profit or loss in other
expenses.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is derecognised when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred
control of the asset.
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2.4.Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, and has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset
is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement in the asset. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset
and the associated liability are measured on a basis
that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group
has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset
and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of reporting period
whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A
financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed
to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence
of impairment as a result of one or more events that
has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset
(an incurred “loss event”) and that loss event has an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or the group of financial assets that can
be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may
include indications that a debtor or a group of debtors
is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation and observable data indicating
that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
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2.4.Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses individually whether objective evidence
of impairment exists for financial assets that are
individually significant, or collectively for financial assets
that are not individually significant. If the Group
determines that no objective evidence of impairment
exists for an individually assessed financial asset,
whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a
group of financial assets with similar credit risk
characteristics and collectively assesses them for
impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or
continues to be, recognised are not included in a
collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss
has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured
as the difference between the assets’ carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not yet been
incurred). The present value of the estimated future
cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition). If a loan has a variable
interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any
impairment loss is the current effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through
the use of an allowance account and the amount of
the loss is recognised in profit or loss. Interest income
continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying
amount and is accrued using the rate of interest used
to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written off
when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery
and all collateral has been realised or has been
transferred to the Group.
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2.4.Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost
(Continued)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is increased
or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a
future write-off is later recovered, the recovery is
credited to profit or loss.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are
classified as loans and borrowings, or as derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge, as appropriate. The Group determines the
classification of its financial liabilities at initial
recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and in the case of loans and borrowings, plus directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills
payables, other payables and accruals, amounts due
to a director and related companies and interest-
bearing bank borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The measurement of loans and borrowings is as
follows:
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2.4.Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest
rate method amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest
rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included
in finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated
as a derecognition of the original liability and a
recognition of a new liability, and the difference between
the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit
or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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2.4.Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, which are not
restricted as to use.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on a weighted
average basis. The costs of raw materials comprise
the purchasing costs of the materials and other costs
incurred in bringing the materials to their present
locations and conditions. The costs of work in progress
and finished goods comprise direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of manufacturing
overheads.

Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices, less estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event and it is probable that an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of
the amount of the obligation.
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2.4.Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

Provisions (Continued)

When the effect of the time value of money is material,
provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate
that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to
the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in
the provision due to the passage of time is included in
finance costs in profit or loss.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and
risks of ownership of assets to the Group, other than
legal title, are accounted for as finance leases. At the
inception of a finance lease, the cost of the leased asset
is capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease
payments and recorded together with the obligation,
excluding the interest element, to reflect the purchase
and financing. Assets held under capitalised finance
leases are included in property, plant and equipment
and depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms
and the estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance
costs of such leases are charged to profit or loss so as
to provide a constant periodic rate of charge over the
lease terms.

L eases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are
accounted for as operating leases. Where the Group
is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under
operating leases are included in non-current assets,
and rentals receivable under the operating leases are
credited to profit or loss on the straight-line basis over
the lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals
payable under operating leases, net of any incentives
received from the lessor, are charged to profit or loss
on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases
are initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised
on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
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2.4.Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

Retirement benefits

Obligatory retirement benefits in the form of
contributions under a defined contribution retirement
scheme administered by local government agencies
are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified
as a separate allocation of retained profits within the
equity section of the statement of financial position,
until they have been approved by the shareholders in
a general meeting. When these dividends have been
approved by the shareholders and declared, they are
recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority
to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim
dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when
they are proposed and declared.

Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the
Group’s operations. Employees (including directors) of
the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-
based payment transactions, whereby employees
render services as consideration for equity instruments
(“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
for grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are
granted. The fair value is determined by an external
valuer using a binomial lattice model, further details of
which are given in note 31 to the financial statements.
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2.4.Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

Share-based payment transactions (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised,
together with a corresponding increase in equity, over
the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end
of the reporting period until the vesting date reflects
the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit
to profit or loss for a period represents the movement
in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not
ultimately vest, except for equity-settled transactions
where vesting is conditional upon a market or
non-vesting condition, which are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other
performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are
modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if
the terms had not been modified, if the original terms
of the award are met. In addition, an expense is
recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payment transaction, or
is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured
at the date of modification.
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2.4.Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

Share-based payment transactions (Continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where
non-vesting conditions within the control of either the
Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is
designated as a replacement award on the date that it
is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated
as if they were a modification of the original award, as
described in the previous paragraph. All cancellations
of equity-settled transaction awards are treated equally.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected
as additional share dilution in the computation of
earnings per share.

3. Significant Accounting Estimates

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the reporting date.
However, uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial years are discussed
below.
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3. Significant Accounting Estimates
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Impairment of trade receivables

Impairment of trade receivables is made based
on an assessment of the recoverability of trade
receivables. The identification of doubtful debts
requires management’s judgment and estimates.
Provision is made when there is objective
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect
the debts. Where the actual outcome or future
expectation is different from the original estimate,
such differences will impact the carrying value of
the receivables, doubtful debt expenses and
write-back of impairment of trade receivables in
the period in which such estimate has been
changed.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The carrying value of property, plant and
equipment is reviewed for impairment when
events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying value may not be recoverable. The
recoverable amount of an asset, or, where
appropriate, the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, is calculated as the higher of its fair value
less costs to sell and value in use. Estimating the
value in use requires the Group to estimate future
cash flows from the cash-generating units and to
choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows.
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3. Significant Accounting Estimates
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(i)

(iv)

v)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group determines the estimated useful lives
and related depreciation charges for its property,
plant and equipment. This estimate is based on
the historical experience of the actual useful lives
of property, plant and equipment of similar nature
and functions. It could change significantly as a
result of technical innovations, competitor actions
in response to severe industry cycles or
unforeseeable change in legal enforcement rights
in future. Management will increase the
depreciation charge where useful lives are less
than previously estimated lives, or it will write off
or write down technically obsolete or
non-strategic assets that have been abandoned
or sold.

Useftul lives of intangible assets

The Group determines the estimated useful lives
and related amortisation charges for its intangible
assets. This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful life of intangible
assets of similar functions. It could change
significantly as a result of technical innovations.
Management reassesses the useful life at each
reporting date.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of an inventory is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal. These estimates are
based on the current market condition and the
historical experience of selling products of similar
nature which could change significantly as a result
of competitor actions. Management reassesses
these estimates at each reporting date.
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3. Significant Accounting Estimates
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(vi)

(vii)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carry forward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised.
Significant management judgment is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that
can be recognised, based upon the likely timing
and level of future taxable profits together with
future tax planning strategies.

Valuation of share options

As described in note 31 to the financial
statements, the Company has engaged an
independent professionally qualified valuer to
assist in the valuation of the share options granted
during reporting period. The fair value of options
granted under the pre-IPO share option scheme
is determined using the binomial lattice model.
The significant inputs into the model were the
weighted average share price at the grant date,
risk-free interest rate, exercise price, expected
volatility of the underlying shares, expected
dividend yield and expected life of options.
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4.

Particulars of Companies Comprising

AL A R B 1Y 2 w1

105

P

the Group i
\
As at the year end, the Company had direct or indirect RAFER  ARGRUTEZNB AR ﬁ?ﬁ
interests in the following principal subsidiaries: EEESEEER %@
S
Place of o
incorporation Percentage of
Date of and equity interest
incorporation/ registration/ Issued and attributable
Subsidiaries registration operations paid-up capital to the Company Principal activites
RIREMR/ BEAR KARER
WEAF RY/ZMBH EEHE BRER RAEZEAL ITEXRK
Direct Indirect
E# B#&
% %
THETENERDA 11 March 2003 PRC US$34,245,210.70 - 100 Investment holding
(Leoch Battery (Jiangsu) “3E=F H 34,245 210.70% T and manufacture
Corp.) (“Jiangsu Leoch”) " ZA+-8 and sale of
IHEETEHERATA lead-acid batteries
(IT&EL)0 REER - RiEM
BERREE)
ERETERRMARAA 9 May 2005 PRC US$28,000,000 - 100 Manufacture and
(Zhaoging Leoch Battery “2TRE i 28,000,000% T sale of lead-acid
Technology Co., Ltd.) nANE batteries
(“Zhaoging Leoch”) @ HERHES
EERTERRMERAT REBH
(l2E®RL])?
ZHBTEHRMERDR 26 July 2006 PRC US$10,001,455 - 100 Manufacture and
(Anhui Leoch Battery e S HE 10,001,455% 7T sale of lead-acid
Technology Corp.) ;N = batteries
(“Anhui Leoch Battery”) © SEMBES
ZHETBHRITERAA REBH
(IREBLEM])O
ABLEERRTERAT 26 April 1999 PRC RMB20,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
(Shenzhen Leoch Battery —“NANE i AE 20,000,000 and manufacture
Technology Co., Ltd.) mA=+7A and sale of

(“Shenzhen Leoch”)
AIBLRERRMARLA
(TRIIEL])

lead-acid batteries
REZR - 2EM
HENREE)
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4. Particulars of Companies Comprising 4. #H A< £ B B9 23 7] B9 55 1%

the Group (Continued) (&)
Place of
incorporation Percentage of
Date of and equity interest
incorporation/ registration/ Issued and attributable
Subsidiaries registration operations paid-up capital to the Company Principal activites
R R/ BRITR NGl 3
MEAR RI/ZMEH EEHY BEER RAEREAL TEXH
Direct Indirect
E# B#&
% %
EMETRERRMARALR 27 November 2002 PRC RMB3,500,000 - 100 Manufacture and
(Dongguan Leoch Battery e S HE AR¥3,500,0007 sale of lead-acid
Technology Co., Ltd.) +-F-++H batteries
(Dongguan Leoch”) BEREED
REMETEERRE BEBH
BRAR([REEL])
Kinetic Growth International 11 January 2008 Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Sale of lead-acid
Limited (“Kinetic Growth”) ZZTNE 3 28T batteries
BREERARRAA ([8E]) —At—H HEWRES)
Leoch Battery Corporation 17 June 2003 USA US$200,000 - 100 Sale of lead-acid
(“Leoch Battery Corp’) 25> ES 200,000% 7T batteries
(Leoch Battery Corp)) ~AtHtA HERBET
Leoch Power Supply (H.K)) 18 August 2004 Hong Kong HK$12,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
Limited (“Leoch Power “ZENAE 55 12,000,000 ¢ and sale of lead-acid
Supply’) NA+N\E batteries
BrER(EB)ERATA REER - UR
([ELER)) HENRESH
Honour Label Investments 28 February 2005 BVI US$1 - 100 Investment holding
Limited (“Honour Label’) “ETHF RERKES 1% REAER
(THonourLabel ) ZAZTNR
Peak Year Investments Limited 25 January 2007 BVI USS1 - 100 Investment holding
(“Peak Year’) ZEELF RERUHE 1% REER
(TPeak Year)) —AZtHA
Shieldon International Limited 19 January 2007 BVI US$1 - 100 Investment holding
(“Shieldon”) ([ Shieldon]) “ETtE RERIES 157 REER

—~AthA
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4.

Particulars of Companies Comprising 4.

ALSAS 2 J 19 22 | AR

-
o
~

ol

P

the Group (Continued) (&) >|¥
.
Place of Eg
incorporation Percentage of Lo
Date of and equity interest ’;‘;
incorporation/ registration/ Issued and attributable Z
Subsidiaries registration operations paid-up capital to the Company Principal activites
RY R,/ BRITR KRFEG
HWEAH RY/ZMEE EEnY BREX RAERREAL TEXH
Direct Indirect
EE &
% %
Leoch Battery Company Limited 25 April 2007 Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
(“Leoch Battery Company’) e 2 BA 1,000,0007 1 and sale of lead-acid
(TLeoch Battery Company)) MAZ+HA batteries
REER IR
HERRESD
Nanjing Leoch Battery 15 March 2006 PRC RMB300,000 - 100 Sale of lead-acid
Technology Co., Ltd. ZEERE i ARE300,0007 batteries
(“Nanjing Leoch”) =At+hA HEMBEE)
BRETRERRI
ARAR([AREL])
Beijing Leoch Engineering 14 December 2004  PRC RMB1,000,000 - 100 Sale of lead-acid
Technology Co., Ltd. “2ENE i AR %1,000,0007 batteries
(‘Beiing Leach’) TZA+HA HENREESH
FTRETREREM
ARAA(HEREL])
Kunming Leoch Engineering 25 May 2006 PRC RMB500,000 - 100 Sale of lead-acid
Technology Co., Ltd. ZEERE H ARE500,0007 batteries
(*Kunming Leoch’) TAZFEA HENREESH
RRETRIRERN
ERRA(EREL])
Xining Leoch Engineering 25 November 2006  PRC RMB700,000 - 100 Inactive
Technology Co., Ltd. ZEERE i ARE700,0007 EREX
(*Xining Leoch’) +-A-+3E
AERTRTIREN

AROR(TREEL))
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4. Particulars of Companies Comprising

4. AL R B2 R YRR

the Group (Continued) (#)
Place of
incorporation Percentage of
Date of and equity interest
incorporation/ registration/ Issued and attributable
Subsidiaries registration operations paid-up capital to the Company Principal activites
RY R,/ BRITR KRFEG
MELR RY/ZMEE EEnY BREX RABREAL TEXH
Direct Indirect
EE &
% %

Leoch Battery Shenzhen Corp. 27 September 2007 PRC RMB1,000,000 - 100 Inactive
(“Shenzhen Leoch Battery’) ZEELE i AR %1,000,0007 EEEx

RIETERHMERA A ABRZt+H
(TRYBTER])

Catherine Holdings International 3 May 2010 BVI Us$6 100 - Investment holding
Company Limited 2% RERUHE ES REER
(“Catherine Holdings”) TA=A
(Catherine Holdings))

Leoch Europe Limited 5 January 2010 United Kingdom GBE1 - 100 Inactive
(“Leoch Europe) —2-%F R 154 ETmes
(TLeoch Europe]) —ARA

Leoch Battery Pte. Ltd. 5 April 2010 Singapore $G$200,000 - 100 Inactive
(“Leoch Battery Pte.”) 2% ETDIIE 200,000 S0 T EE 3
(TLeoch Battery Pte.]) MATH

Anhui Leoch Power Supply Corp. 26 October 2010 PRC HK$75,000,000 - 100 Inactive
(“Anhui Leoch Power") —2-%F i 75,000,000 T gmex

RERTERRIMERAA TE-tXA

(IREELER])O
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Particulars of Companies Comprising
the Group (Continued)

Notes:

©

The increase of capital injection into Jiangsu Leoch by the
Company amounted to US$9,245,211 in 2010, and the
related capital verification report was issued by Jiangsu
Dingxin Certified Public Accountants (“ 3T & 5 {= € 5t £l
R

The increase of capital injection into Zhaoging Leoch by
the Company amounted to US$20,000,000 in 2010, and
the related capital verification report was issued by
Zhaoging Xiangxin Certified Public Accountants (* % T
HE AN BT ).

The increase of capital injection into Anhui Leoch by the
Company amounted to US$2,001,455 in 2010, and the
related capital verification report was issued by Anhui
Zhilian Certified Public Accountants (“ Z# B ¥ & &1l =
TR ).

The increase of capital injection into Leoch Battery Pte.
amounted to SG$199,999 by Leoch Power Supply was
completed on 30 November 2010.

The increase of capital injection into Anhui Leoch Power
by the Company amounted to HK$75,000,000 in 2010,
and the related capital verification report was issued by
Anhui Shicheng Certified Public Accountants (* Zz i tt 3
BT EBHM).

ALSAS 2 J 19 22 | AR
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ol

GEE

(1) —ZZT—ZF . AQAMIHFETEMNEE
9,245211%7 - BHEEAREREEHT
B SR B IEATE S -

@ —ET-TF AAGAEERHHEMEE
20,000,000%7% + EREAZERED B
E T R L

(B —E—ZTF . AQRAMTHELEMNEE
2,001,455%7 - BEHEEAREREEHRT
HEH S AN B IEATEE -

(4) B+ ERALeoch Battery Pte i T &
199,000 I3t * ERN—ZE—ZF+—A
=+HEX -

(6) —T—TF  AATARUDTTREEME
%75,000,0005 7T« BBAARERED
MR N E R A -
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4.

Particulars of Companies Comprising
the Group (Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally
affected the results for the year or formed a substantial
portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

Operating Segment Information

The Group is engaged in the manufacture and sale of
lead-acid batteries. For management purposes, the
Group operates in one business unit based on its
products, and has one reportable segment which is

the manufacture and sale of lead-acid batteries.

No operating segments have been aggregated to form
the above reportable operating segment.

Geographical information

(a) Revenue from external customers

AL RAS 52 B Y 22 W) RO RIS
(%)

EREFN2ARFMBRARNEETRRE
AEREERATEFEABNASEEE
FEEZERIDZMBAR - EERA
A EMME AR 2 BN ERRERITT
E o

~

A8 i R
AEBRERENHEMBRES R -
REERN  AEERBHEEMEE —E

EFEL - WA —EREDH - NBER
HEMKRES I

WA FHEE 7 BAAR Bl e s R &

@ KESEEF K

Group

rEE
2010 2009
—E-2F —ZTENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARETT
PRC F 878,176 625,398
European Union BL R 409,179 248,439
United States of America ES 343,894 256,199
Other Asian countries/areas Hih MR, = 399,417 202,198
Other countries EMBExR 86,205 59,299
2,116,871 1,391,533

The revenue information above is based on the
location of the customers.

EXEREERTDER TP MBI O
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. S 111
5. Operating Segment Information 5. BEaIER @) T
(Continued) A ﬁ
\
'E
Geographical information (Continued) M [ & K (48) E;ﬁ
23
(b) Non-current assets (b) FnBEE ;‘;
El
All significant operating assets of the Group are AEBEFAEENEEEEHUNT
located in the PRC. Accordingly, no geographical o HItI 2515 EE ERHEE
information of segment assets is presented. #} o
Information about major customers HBEBEEFWER
During year ended 31 December 2010, the Group HE_ZT-ZTFF+_A=T—RHILFE "
made sales to two customers of RMB246,802,000 and AEERNMEREFPDAEEARE
RMB272,563,000, respectively (2009: 246,802,000 7T & A R#272,563,0007C
RMB264,019,000 and RMB204,911,000 respectively), (ZZZNF : HRIRAR264,019,000
which individually exceeded 10% of the Group’s total TR AR#204,911,0007T) © 2 BIEEHA

revenue for that period. SEHABIKZERN10% °
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6. Revenue, Other Income and Gains 6.

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents
the net invoiced value of goods sold. An analysis of

R N N &Rl

YWt TREIASBENZERRE - BAEEY

HEERE - BWRE - HtRARER

revenue, other income and gains is as follows: BT
Group
EEE
2010 2009
—E-=F —ZEENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBTT
Revenue &
Sale of goods HEEW 2,116,871 1,391,533
Other income and gains H AU A R W 5
Rental income el 20 186
Bank interest income RITHA B Mz 2,706 610
Government grants B 8 B 14,506 17,145
Sale of scrap materials HERER 2,812 1,096
Fair value gains from equity RERE R EBERE -
investments carried at fair value BAnBEFAER
through profit or loss 275 —
Others Hith 2,056 1,524
22,375 20,561

Various government grants represented cash payments

BEBFMEL T T M 1584 T AN B

and subsidies by the local finance bureau to the Group KR & R A MR - ABENR B kil
as an encouragement to its investment and ¥ o R E B R AL B R AE A IR SR
technological innovation. There are no unfulfilled REIF ©

conditions or contingencies relating to such subsidies.
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7. Profit Before Tax

7. B i A

Wy
A
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging: REBOB AT M TR IA TIE B fFat Nj
nE
Group ;;.g%
rEE >
2010 2009 =
—E-2F —ZTEENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBTT
Cost of inventories sold FEFEMR 1,440,799 1,102,083
Employee benefit expense EERHAX
(including directors’ remuneration (BREFHE
as set out in note 9): FHRHIEE9) -
Wages and salaries FMETE 182,450 108,482
Performance related bonuses BEBNNTEAT 586 321
Equity-settled share A ERE
option expense A& #E R 2 6,830 —
Retirement benefit RORRE A ET B
scheme contributions 7,652 5,658
197,518 114,461
Research and development costs Tt 88 A AR 16,501 10,853
Auditors’ remuneration Z AN EN & 1,445 135
Transaction expenses for offering At 8 & K £
and listing of shares ZRFHRE 16,871 —
Depreciation of property, plant EN
and equipment (note 15) NEEE (fiE15) 42,100 32,044
Amortisation of prepaid land A L E K
lease payments (note 16) By (fHsE16) 1,573 919
Amortisation of intangible B EE#E
assets* (note 17) (BSE17) 372 324
Impairment of trade receivables Z 5 W IERE
(note 20) (Ff5E20) 3,786 688
Minimum lease payments under KEHRETHREHEE
operating leases (N 4,832 5,839
Exchange losses, net PR =% FEE 7,493 780
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of items BEME BEK
of property, plant and HEEE®
equipment eI ! (33) 11

*

The amortisation of intangible assets is included in

*

“Administrative expenses” in the consolidated statements

of comprehensive income.

BIZEEMEEINAGHEEKER TR

FIXJIBET »

-
-
w0
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8. Finance Costs

An analysis of finance costs from continuing operations

K

43

8. WA AR

LERBOMBEADITT -

is as follows:
Group
AEE
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETHF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T AREF T
Interest on bank borrowings RITEEFE 17,293 6,549
Interest arising from AR EBRELEMNTE
discounted bills 4,912 3,065
22,205 9,614

9. Directors’ Remuneration

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant
to the Listing Rules and Section 161 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

9. = HM 4

RIFCETRAD RBERBEFE161FE

B2ESFRFMFBTOT :

2010 2009
—E-=5F —ZEENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBTT
Salaries, allowances and e SRR
benefits in kind EYEN 1,478 1,241
Performance related bonuses* BB TEAT 586 321
Equity-settled share At ZR A B R
option expense** IR R 377 —
Retirement benefit Rt ET &
scheme contributions K 15 8
2,456 1,570
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9. Directors’ Remuneration (Continued) 9. EHME @)

* One executive director of the Company is entitled to bonus * AAB—BRTESEIURGAREERTIE
payments which are determined at a percentage to the A2 B D EE 2 EAL
profit after tax of the Group.

** During the year 2010, two directors were granted share x> ZE-EFEAN MEEZFEEMAEER
options, in respect of their services to the Group, under M RIEMBERR R EX ARSI 2B
the pre-IPO share option scheme of the Company, further IR#ERT S ER AR - KB NMHE
details of which are set out in note 31. The fair value of 31 - ZEEBREZAABEENEBHHE
such options which has been recognised in profit or loss TERRRTPHER  UARLAEE M2
over the vesting period, was determined as at the date of ZE-EF+ A=+ —HIEFETVHR
grant and the amount included in the financial statements KPFETAZGRE Bt A ENEZBEHE
for the year ended 31 December 2010 is included in the B oo
above directors’ remuneration disclosure.

(a) Independent non-executive directors () M IEFATE S
The fees paid to independent non-executive FARBYIFRTESZ N 2R
directors during the year were as follows: ™

2010 2009
—E-BF | —TThF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE TR AREFIT

Independent non-executive BYUEMITES -

directors:

Mr. An Wenbin XM E 17 —
Mr. Liu Yangsheng 2R ELE 17 -
Mr. Cao Yixiong Alan BN A 17 —
51 —

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the
year (2009: Nil).

FRABFABLIFRTETINEMBHE
(ZZEZTNE 8| -

-
-
(9]

L;
%—%-l

=

g A 7
(=27 i B 0 2k 554 o) -
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9. Directors Remuneration (Continued)

(b) Executive directors

9. HHME @)

(b) HATHE I

Salaries, Equity-  Retirement
allowances Performance settled benefit
and benefits related share option scheme Total
in kind bonuses expense contributions remuneration
Fe - BRER EyEn UEREER RIKER
ENER A PR AERE X HE a3 @zt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARTR AR®Tn AR%¥Tx AR®Trn AR%Tx
2010 —E-%f
Executive directors: ~ #/TEF
Mr. Dong Li EFNAE 461 - - 10 47
Ms. Zhao Huan HExL 171 - 230 5 406
Mr. Philip Armstrong ~ Philip Armstrong
Noznesky Noznesky4t 4 795 586 147 - 1,528
1,427 586 377 15 2,405
2009 “ZTNEF
Executive directors: ~ #/TEF
Mr. Dong Li i 318 - - 7 325
Ms. Zhao Huan HETL 114 - - 1 115
Mr. Philip Armstrong ~ Philip Armstrong
Noznesky Noznesky4t & 809 321 - - 1,130
1,241 321 - 8 1,670

There was no arrangement under which a director
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
during the year ended 31 December 2010 and
no emoluments were paid by the Group to the
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

HE T ZF+-_A=+—HILFE "
AT {r] A A 2 5 D3R ok B B D 1) B
SR - N E INE M E S S AT
EIEAIAZE B i A ZN 5 B 55 1) 228
B E -
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10. T 44 =1 5 B g &

10. Five Highest Paid Employees

Wy
A H-
The five highest paid employees during the year FARGERFMNEEY EPRA (= 4;3{
included two (2009: two) directors, details of whose TENGF  WMB)RES  EHFMFEH Eiﬁ
remuneration are set out in note 9 above. Details of R EXHIFFS - FA - HB=F (ZZTZT N 5 ot
the remuneration of the remaining three (2009: three) F:ZR)IESELTMNEE 2FMT ?‘;
non-director, highest paid employees for the year are FaAR e
as follows:
2010 2009
—E-=F —ETTNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBTT
Salaries, allowances and e EEEREMET
benefits in kind 1,499 957
Equity-settled share NS EEBRERS
option expense 644 —
Retirement benefit scheme RIRTEFET B K
contributions 9 5
2,152 962

The number of non-director, highest paid employees IFEEESFNEE CHFIHEB T &
whose remuneration fell within the following band is as :
follows:

Number of employees

BEAH
2010 2009
—E-BF | —TThF
Nil to RMB1,000,000 ARBZTE ARY1,000,0007T 3 3
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10. Five Highest Paid Employees (Continueq)

11.

During the year, share options were granted to a
non-director, highest paid employee in respect of his
services to the Group, further details of which are
included in the disclosures in note 31 to the financial
statements. The fair value of such options, which has
been recognised in profit or loss over the vesting period,
was determined as at the date of grant and the amount
included in the financial statements for the current year
is included in the above non-director, highest paid
employees’ remuneration disclosures.

During the year, no highest paid individuals waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments and no emoluments
were paid by the Group to the non-director, highest
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

Income Tax

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis
on profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in
which members of the Group are domiciled and
operate.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman
Islands, the Company is not subject to any income tax
in this jurisdiction.

10. LA i iE B =)

1.

RERR  —BIEEREFHEERER
AR B 2 IR S MR B A - HFF1E
HNHBMEMES - ZEBBREZ AR
BECNEEHREESRTER IR
R BB AFEEMBRERFAA
ZE8 Bt AL ESRARFEEDN
MEHER -

RAEE - BEECAKSHMALRESR
RENEEAMESNLZY - NEBEIER
FEZHZSFHMA LN EABEERN
AZRER B 3 0 A AN S5 [ B 1) B2 S R BB Y
fE

P 154
A BB S B B 22 A FAE T

N
M RDEE BRI E A E L ra NEY
PriS# -

REREFHENRALRP - KRRIHBA
R BVEE BB TG -
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11. S8 @)

11. Income Tax (Continued)

|
Leoch Battery Corp incorporated in the United States 78 35 Bl 53t 5K 32 /) Leoch Battery Corp3t N;ﬂ
was not subject to income tax for the period from EEBH ST MEREE R NRERR] E
1 January 2007 to 31 May 2010 as it made an election (")) - At =TT F—H—Hite d

to be treated as a small business corporation
(“S corporation”) for the United States federal income
tax purpose. In general, a U.S. domestic corporation
is eligible to make an S corporation election if it does
not have more than 100 shareholders, does not have
shareholder who is not an individual, does not have a
non-resident as a shareholder, and does not have more
than one class of stock. During the above period, the
subsidiary is an eligible entity for an S corporation
election as it is a U.S. domestic corporation that has
only a single U.S. citizen shareholder. Moreover, the
subsidiary has only one class of stock. S corporations
are corporations that elect to pass corporate income,
losses, deductions and credit through to their
shareholders for federal tax purposes. As such, the
subsidiary was not subject to corporate level tax in the
United States, except for certain built-in gains and
passive income. Since 1 June 2010, the subsidiary was
no longer qualified as an S corporation and has been
subject to corporate income tax in the United States.
The applicable federal corporate income tax rate is in
the range of 15%~35% regarding taxable income.

The subsidiaries, Honour Label, Peak Year, Shieldon
and Catherine Holdings, which were incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands are not subject to income tax
as such subsidiaries do not have a place of business
(other than a registered office only) or carry on any
business in the British Virgin Islands.

Leoch Europe incorporated in the United Kingdom and
Leoch Battery Pte in Singapore are not subject to
income tax as such subsidiaries have no taxable
income.

E_E-TFRAA=T—HIBEHNAR
B —RME - WEXEBRANRRILE
100% A ERRR ~ W EIFEE AR ~ I
BE-HIEEROKRER  URLEEB—
EFROFE  BZAREEREL D
HEE - R A EIRA - B AR R —
BEEBEARR B —RE—XBEQR
PRER - E LM B A R ERIEL N
B o LS - ZIEARIEE —ERRE
g NERME BB MERKEEK
7 R HRFUR R RE GG ERR
HRR] o it - %M B A R B AR KB
MEEHIE - B TEB NS MEEK
RN - ZMBARIR —T—FF A~
BENBEERER D RABARSE
BB ERMEHR - LERBEEmS
BERANBACERTRENFI5%E
35% °

MRERBEZHSTMA LK B AR
(Honour Label &4 - JEE & Catherine
Holdings) RSB EE X B S B A & ¥
B GEM =S EBRIN B EER -
Sz S B AR EBBMFTEH -

FR PAFE 52 B 5 Bk 32 Ay Leoch Europe & AE
7 N3 s AKX 37 B9 Leoch Battery Ptedf £
FERBIUNE - BOIBAEBNFREH -

P

(=27 i B 0 2k 554 o) -
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120 s \

oC 11. Income Tax (Continued) 11. T8 Hi )

>

3

c

> The provision for Hong Kong current tax is based on BEETIEMNEE - SRR E BTN
%D the statutory rate of 16.5% of the assessable profits of YHKB AR - BNELEIR KLeoch
g the subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong, i.e. Leoch Battery Company® FE R T & ) + AT
> Power Supply and Leoch Battery Company. No THRE16.5%T & o AREIET EREBHR

A3LINIT ADOTONHOFL TYNOILYNYILINI HOOF1

provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made by
Kinetic Growth as it did not carry on any business in
Hong Kong and had no assessable profits arising in or
derived from Hong Kong during the year. The
operations of Kinetic Growth were carried out in the
PRC by the PRC subsidiaries of the Group. Such
arrangement may have PRC tax exposures. The
relevant potential PRC income tax provision has been
recognised by the Group by way of allocating the profits
of Kinetic Growth to the respective PRC subsidiaries
based on the total cost of goods purchased by Kinetic
Growth from each PRC subsidiaries.

The provision for PRC current income tax is based on
the statutory rate of 25% of the assessable profits of
the Group as determined in accordance with the new
PRC Corporate Income Tax Law which was approved
and became effective on 1 January 2008, except for
certain subsidiaries of the Group in PRC which are
charged for tax at preferential rates.

In accordance with the relevant income tax laws and
regulations of the PRC for manufacturing enterprises,
Anhui Leoch Battery, Zhaoging Leoch and Jiangsu
Leoch were exempted from corporate income tax
(“CIT”) for two years and were entitled to a 50%
reduction in the PRC CIT for the subsequent three years
(“CIT Exemption”). The year ended 31 December 2010
was the third year for Anhui Leoch Battery and
Zhaoging Leoch and the fifth year for Jiangsu Leoch
to enjoy the CIT Exemption.

EERMER  ERAFEALEREBE
A REVEAT EER B A - BCEL I SR AR R
BAENGSHEHE - BIZNEK T R AEE
P EMBARETEZE - ZFLHEA
fEemiETERBFER - ANEED RER
FERTENBARIRBEERWANRAE
[7) - o B Y B8 % B) 0 BL A3 s 1) - #E A
HERARR BT B SHAE -

B 55 B e B 2 T B 28 R A5 B
o) - P EEDIAT B o AR ek El O
$FERE (R /\E— B — B
T A ) 7 o ) R B A 259%
BEEHEE -

BIEEBREERNEEPRETEEED
NG ZEETE EEE L NTH
B E AR F E R T ER SN
XREE ([REMER]) URER=F
BRSBTS HI50% ([ EEH
Bel) - HE_E—ZEF+-_A=1+—AH
HEEARHBEL SN MEFETE=F
ZHEEMBRBERABIHELERF
ZELEMBBHRENFE -
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11. Income Tax (Continued)

Pursuant to the transitional arrangement under the new
PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, the income tax rate
applicable to Shenzhen Leoch will be gradually
increased from the rate of 18% to the unified rate of
25% over five years commencing from year 2008.
Meanwhile, Dongguan Leoch, another PRC subsidiary,
was recognised as a high-tech enterprise by the PRC
tax authority in 2008 with an effective period of three
years from year 2008 to year 2010 and was entitled to
a 15% CIT rate from 1 January 2008 onwards.

The major components of income tax charge/credit for
the year are as follows:

11. TS H )

BEFPECEMSHETHRENER
B BARNRYIEBELHAEHEZR =T
TN\FRFNAFRETH18%ILEE25%
B —BE o ELRIF - 5 — R EH B
AAREETR ST N\FEFEHEE
RERARFRELE  BRFHHE-ZT
ENFREZZ—ZTFI=F HH=F
ENF-—F—HERNLCEMBMREA
15% °

RAFEEEMNLEMEB L, BN
T~

Group

rEH
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ZTENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARET T

Group: AEH :

Current — PRC BNERT IR — 1 42,133 13,920
Current — Hong Kong EVEARE e — B A 793 18
Deferred tax (note 29) EIERIE (HI5E29) (716) 585
Total tax charge for the year FAMIEFR B5E 42,210 14,523

-
N
are

L;
%—%-l

=

g A 7
(=27 i B 0 2k 554 o) -
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11.

Income Tax (Continued)

A reconciliation of the income tax expense applicable
to profit before tax multiplied by the applicable statutory
rate for the country in which the Company and the

11. 15 #i @)

38 PR A B AR A ) P S99 B SO SR AR 2 )
REREBOMB LB EMAAERR (Bld
B)WEmAEREBRBERNRFEN

majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled (i.e., PRC) to MIER T AR -
the tax expense at effective tax rate is as follows:
Group
rEH
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ZETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBEFT
Profit before tax A& 299,720 159,801
Applicable tax rate of the Group AREBEMBEAHE 25% 25%
Tax at the applicable tax rate BEABEGTENTIE 74,930 39,950
Tax concession for certain ETHBARN
subsidiaries BsER (39,398) (25,819)
Income not subject to tax BARB E= (934) (478)
Expenses not deductible for tax TAIFF X 8,102 380
Others Hit (490) 490
Tax charge at the Group’s BEAEEEBRMETE
effective rate TR X 42,210 14,523

12. Profit Attributable to Owners of the

Parent

12, B w1 A N FEAL e Al

The consolidated profit attributable to owners of the
parent for the year ended 31 December 2010 includes
a loss of RMB23,821,000 which has been dealt with
in the financial statements of the Company (note 33(b)).

HE-_Z-—SFE+_A=+—HILFE "
BARHEAEARGGAEBNEEARKE
23,821,0007THE1E + B RANA BB R
FIEHEE (FI7E33(b)) °
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13.

14.

Dividends

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company
since the date of its incorporation.

The dividends paid or declared by the Company’s
subsidiaries to its then shareholders were as follows:

13.

Ji B

AR B B B AR MR E
IRAE RIS -

RRBIME R FAERHRRRNRE IR
ST

2010 2009
—E-%F | ZTTNF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE T AREFT

Dividends paid B E 147,655 10,142

Earnings Per Share Attributable to
Ordinary Equity Holders of the Parent

The calculation of basic earnings per share amounts is
based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent, and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares of 1,041,666,750 in issue
during the year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share amounts
is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent. The weighted average
number of ordinary shares used in the calculation is
the number of ordinary shares in issue during the year,
as used in the basic earnings per share calculation,
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
assumed to have been issued at no consideration on
the deemed exercise of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares into ordinary shares.

14.

UNEIRL SR ETES SN
i 4 1 28 )

EREABNSEIRET R ERESE
B ANEAEHF R FERNE BT INAEFS
£01,041,666,7500% f% 7 A EEFHE -

BRETAN B NIRG AR EREDR
BABIGGENREEGE - T EAANE
BN FHBEEFAC BEITROEAE
(T ESREREFPTMERR) - AR
BRENRAERETEEHEEGTENE
SRR 5 AR A A R B T 3 T B A
IHEF IR -

-
| &
()

.
E—&"

=

g A 7
(=27 i B 0 2k 554 o) -
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14. Earnings Per Share Attributable to

. .
Ordinary Equity Holders of the Parent i
(Continued)

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share HESH

are based on:

14. BF 20w d 4 o 7 A A

2010
=
RMB’000
Earnings ZF| AR® T
Profit attributable to ordinary ARFTESRELRK
equity holders of the parent, BERAGAR L BER
used in the basic and diluted B ARG R
earnings per share 257,510
Number
of shares
& B
2010
Share B& —E-=F
Weighted average number of AR ESRERK
ordinary shares in issue BEsRNFAD BT
during the year used in TR Nt
the basic earnings
per share calculation 1,041,666,750
Effect of dilution — weighted HEyE — TRk
average number of nwEFEE -
ordinary shares:
Share options fE R 42 15,942,500

1,057,609,250
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N 125
. = 0 =L
15. Property, Plant and Equipment 15. W3 ~ s Lot T
HeE
A H-
=]
Group ZN L] 4;% %
5t
W=
Tooling e
Plant and Office Motor and Construction §
Buildings ~ machinery  equipment vehicles  equipment in progress Total el

BT HERREE WOERG RE  IAREE @ RRIE it
RVBOOO  RMB'OO0  RMBOOO  RWB'OO0  RMB'000  RMBOO0  RWB'000
ARBTL  ARBTRL  ARETL ARETR  ARETR ARETR ARETR

Cost; A
At 31 December 2009and R -EENE
1 January 2010 t-A=+-BEk
“5-55-f-H 218,722 195,121 9,938 11,471 38,046 3,497 476,795
Additions 5 5,607 64,219 5,854 4128 8,329 109,612 197,749
Transfers b 195 7% - - - (930) -
Disposals BE 19 (1499 ) ) 1959) - 13,900
Exchange realignment EEERS (16) - - - - - (16)
At 31 December 2010 RZE-TF
+ZA=T-H 223,389 258,582 15,752 15,303 45423 112,179 670,628
Accumulated depreciation 2ENE
and impairment: RIAE -
At 31 December 2009 RZZENE
and 1 January 2010 T-A=1-H
RZE-FF
i : (7088 (4187 (4369 @ 5T ~ (109208
Depreciation charge EREHR
for the year 0339 (0443 RTY R0y (15 TR0
Disposals BE 39 725 2 272 552 - 1609
At 31 December 2010 RZE-TF
+=f=+-1 06380 (03905 (L5 675 (15549 — (1496%)
Net carrying amount; RAE:
At 31December 2010 RZE-%F
+ZA=1-H 197,009 164,677 8,637 8,549 29,878 112,179 520,929
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15. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

Group (Continued)

15. W12 ~ Wz Mkt o)

AREHE ®)

Tooling
Plant and Office Motor and Construction
Buildings  machinery  equipment vehicles  equipment in progress Total
BY HEREE BOERE RE IRRRE  REIR @3t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTE  ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARETR ARETR
Cost: A
At 31 December 2008 RZZENE
and 1 January 2009 tZAz+-Bk
“EENE-A-H 153,351 162,306 7,959 9,949 16,308 29,843 879,711
Additions Y 2,868 34,452 1,854 1,934 21,926 37,582 100,616
Transfers a5 62,503 832 360 - 283 63,929) -
Disposals RE - (2,379 (239) (#12) (416) - (3,442)
Exchange realignment EiA% - (90) - - - - (90)
At 31 December 2009 RZEENE
TZAZ+-H 218,122 195,121 9,938 11471 38,046 3497 476,795
Accumulated depreciation ZRAERGE:
and impairment:
At 31 December 2008 RZZENE
and 1 January 2009 +ZAZ+-Bk
ZEENE-F-B (9460 (57,634) (3,087) (3,448 (4,616) - (78,245)
Depreciation charge Emiri
for the year (7,626) (16,944) (1,480) (1,739 (4,255) - (32,044)
Disposals RE - 391 204 190 296 - 1,081
At 31 December 2009 RZEENE
T-A=1-H (17,086) (74,187) (4,363 (4,997) (8,575) - (109,208)
Net carrying amount; REME
At 31 December 2009 RZZENE
TZAZ+-H 201,636 120,934 5,575 6,474 29,471 3497 367,587

At 31 December 2010, certain of the Group’s buildings
and machinery with a net carrying amount of
approximately RMB258,260,000 (2009:
RMB180,249,000) were pledged to secure general
banking facilities granted to the Group. For details of
pledged assets, please refer to note 34.

As at the date of this report, the Group has not obtained
certificates of real estate ownership from the relevant
PRC government authorities for certain buildings with
a carrying amount of RMB1,629,000 at 31 December
2010. Management is in the process of obtaining these
certificates. Until obtaining the certificates, the Group
has no right to assign or pledge these buildings.

WZZE—TF+-A=+—0 A£HE
R EH ARE258,260,0007T (ZZEZ S
F: AR¥180,249,00070) 2 & THE K
D EREARERER —RIRITHE
2R BRI EEFBFL2HMNE34 -

RARERH > AEER T —FTF+=
A=+—REKHE{EARK1,629,0007TH
ETORIARGEBETEBFHBART
FHE#SE EEELREERZETE
£ -BERBZEREZN  AEBEERE
EERNEALFET -



Notes to the Financial Statements

VA it o Y ik

31 December 2010
—E—ZTF+-A=+—H

127
. = &/,
16. Prepaid Land Lease Payments 16. TEAT + HHH & 3K e
He
e
=
Group ik
rEEH ﬁg
2010 2009 %%JE
%% | —TThF s
RMB’000 RMB’000 =
AR T ARBTT
At cost: B
At beginning of year RE] 46,987 43,388
Additions IR 17,019 3,599
At end of year RER 64,006 46,987
Accumulated amortisation: RiEEH
At beginning of year REH 3,601 2,682
Charge for the year FRNEH 1,573 919
At end of year RER 5,174 3,601
Net book amount: FREFE -
At end of year RER 58,832 43,386
Less: current portion included B FIIATERRIE - BT
in prepayments,deposits Ko H fth FE U SR8
and other receivables HENERER 75 (M9 7E21)
(note 21) (925) (946)
57,907 42,440

The leasehold land is situated in Mainland China and IHHE TR BEREE - 2 —BREME
is held under a long term lease. 7 o

At 31 December 2010, certain of the Group’s prepaid
land lease payments with a net carrying amount of
approximately RMB6,508,000 (31 December 2009:
RMB38,528,000) were pledged to secure general
banking facilities granted to the Group (note 34).

W-_ZE—ZTF+-_FA=+—0 AEEEF
WHEM I EERERAENDAREK
6,508,000 (ZEZENF+_A=+—
B @ AR#38,528,0007T) 2K EIT
EER - FIRTTRVE A AEE - (HI5E34)
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. /Y
17. Intangible Assets 7. Y e
Group
rEH
Computer software
=M
RMB’000
ARBEFT
Cost: DN
At 1 January 2009 RZEENF—HA—H 2,928
Additions R 363
At 1 January 2010 RZE—FF—H—H 3,291
Additions R 1,077
Disposals BRE (44)
At 31 December 2010 RZE—FF+-HA=+—H 4,324
Accumulated amortisation: RIEHH -
At 1 January 2009 R-ZEEAFE—A—A 248
Charge for the year FAZH 324
At 1 January 2010 R-ZE—ZFF—H—H 572
Charge for the year FAZH 372
Disposals BE (21)
At 31 December 2010 RZZE—ZEF+=ZA=+—H 923
Net book amount: AREDFE -
At 31 December 2009 R_ZEZEAF+_A=+—H 2,719
At 31 December 2010 R_E-TF+_HA=+—H 3,401
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18. Investments in Subsidiaries

18. i &~ ml B &

Company
AN
2010
—E-ZF
RMB’000
AR®T T

Unlisted shares, at cost
Advances to subsidiaries

JEETMRR - AR 337,831

BNGEHMEAR

671,740

1,009,571

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are listed in note

4 above.

The amounts advanced to the subsidiaries included in
the investments in subsidiaries above are unsecured,
interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

19. Inventories

TE2MBEARMFBER EXE425

FIARSE BB A RFIEN B QR
’E - DHEER - 2R RAREREEN
BE-

19. 7 &
Group
rEH
2010 2009
—E-EF —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR ARETTT

Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods

FEEm
LR ah

175,940 34,897
285,789 80,321
225,925 65,441

687,654 180,659

-
N
©

L;
%—%-l

=

g A 7
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lif 20. Trade and Bills Receivables 20. & 5y ME W IE M RE i 2 45
C;DJ ; Group
g0 AEE
S 2010 2009
53 —e-25 | —EThE
= RMB’000 RMB’000
@ AR¥T T ARBTFIT
Z
e Trade receivables % 5 e W 0R 572,561 365,570
0 Bills receivable fE IR =R 33,264 949
% Less: Impairment provision B ORERE (9,350) (6,780)
=
5
596,475 359,739
Less: Non-current portion B FEBNHAER (11,335) (19,346)
585,140 340,393

The Group grants different credit periods to customers.
Certain customers are required to make partial payment
before or upon delivery. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables and
closely monitors them to minimise credit risk. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management.

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had discounted
certain trade and bills receivables amounting to
RMB2,455,000 (2009: RMB969,000) to banks with
recourse in exchange for cash. The proceeds from
transferring the trade and bills receivables of
RMB2,455,000 (2009: RMB969,000) were accounted
for as collateralised bank advances until the bills were
collected or the Group made good of any losses
incurred by the banks (note 28).

An aged analysis of the trade and bills receivables as
at 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2010 based
on the invoice date, net of provisions, is as follows:

AEFREFPRTTIRANEEH - FTE
AR AN EH B MR - &
S E SRR PIREEE N YGRS
BARTES - WRINERZFRN - UREIE
EERR AEENSREEESETHE
BB B R e ko

R-_E—TFE+-_F=+—H AEEMA
RITAIRETHEERENE S EWFIAR
YRR - 8 A ARKE2455,0007T (=
TENF : AREE969,0007T) + MAK IR
© o HWRE HENFIEREREEMEK
m ARM2,455,000 (ZEZENF : AR
#969,0007T) JHFIEBEIRRITER - B
EREERREEBEL S ASERMRITESE
HEAEE AL (H5E28) -

TREIMN-_ZZNFHR-_F-TF+—
A=1+—BEZREFIEANERREILSE
FH ORERE) WREK DT -
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20. Trade and Bills Receivables (continueq)

Outstanding balances with ages:

20. & 5 ME WS TE T JRE i 22 9

RRERTEA TEHEM REEER

Group

rEEH
2010 2009
—E-2F —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBTT
Within 90 days 90H K 444,047 268,565
91 to 180 days 91£2180H 88,472 42,245
181 to 365 days 1812 365H 44,545 41,019
1 to 2 years 1224 17,992 6,830
Over 2 years 29 Ak 1,419 1,080
596,475 359,739

Movements in the provision for impairment of trade

receivables are as follows:

B 5 RYGRREREHEEFIIMT

Group
rEH
2010 2009
—E-BF | —TThF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFTT
At 1 January 2010 W-E-—T&—F—A 6,780 6,002
Impairment losses recognised R EEE (a7
(note 7) 4,737 688
Amount written off as YE R AR Be Y B ;I8
uncollectible MEEe 25 (1,216) -
Impairment losses reversed e EEE (M7
(note 7) (951) —
At end of year RER 9,350 6,780

-
w0
-

L;
%—%-l

=

g A 7
(=27 i B 0 2k 554 o) -
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20. Trade and Bills Receivables (continueq)

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade
receivable is a provision for individually impaired trade
receivables of RMB9,350,000 (2009: RMB6,780,000)
with a carrying amount before provision of
RMB12,997,000 (2009: RMB6,808,000).

The above provision for impairment of trade receivables
relate to individual customers that were in financial
difficulties and the receivables that are not expected
to be recoverable. These balances were fully provided
for. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over these balances. The bills
receivables are due to mature within 180 days from
31 December 2010.

An analysis of trade and bills receivables that were not
considered to be impaired is as follows:

0. 5 5y W s TH e JE Wi SR 4%

(&)

il B SRR IERERE S EERRE
2 5 W IR B AR 9,350,000t (=
TTHF : AR¥6,780,0007T) © BRI
BREEAARK12,997,000T (ZEZEH
& AR¥6,808,0007T) °

it 5 MR IR R R E B R AR BTN
MEREFAR - MREREFIARERT
ARE - WEEHZREEE - AEELE
Lok 5 R R A (T I an sl SR EVEL (b5
ERRtEG - BRREBRR _T—TF+=
A=+—BiEs180R NE|H] -

TERBE HIRENE 5 EWRIE N E
WRESTWT

Group
rEE
2010 2009
—E-2F —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARETT
Neither past due nor impaired i Bl b ISR (E 595,056 358,659
Past due over 1 year IR R—F AN RE
but not impaired 1,419 1,080
596,475 359,739

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
relate to a large number of diversified customers for
whom there was no recent history of default.

REH TR ARBE R FE UK IR I D 2
MRBNZREP -
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20. Trade and Bills Receivables (continueq)

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate
to a number of independent customers that have a
good track record with the Group. Based on past
experience, the directors believe that no impairment
allowance is necessary in respect of these balances
as there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances.

The carrying amounts of the trade and bills receivables
pledged as security for interest-bearing bank loans
granted to the Group amounted to RMB2,455,000 as
at 31 December 2010 (2009: RMB969,000) (note 34).

20.

B oy E WS TR S U 7
(#)

B 28 BB RRUE HY FE R IR T B % 4 B
AEBERHRFCHENBILIEFEH -
MR EEE RS EEREE RAERDAR
Nzl - RIEBELR  EFHEL
BUBRZFERIELRERRE - A%E
W EpL % T ERIT A TR

R-E-ZTE+-A=+—0 2&ME
AAREBESBRTERERZESE
WHRERERZEENEEEAARKE
2,455,000 (ZEZENF : ARK
969,0007T) (Ff5E34) °

. + 2
21. Prepayments, Deposits and Other  21. AT 3K IH ~ 7] 4 S HAth i
. =+
Receivables W A
Group Company
rEH ¥ NN
2010 2009 2010
—E-ZF —ETNF —E-ZF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBEF T AR®T
Prepayments B FRIB 162,700 23,526 -
Prepaid land lease payment A LA E %K
(note16) (F$5E16) 925 946 -
Deposits and other receivables 7] & & E s fE U FR 18 11,383 4,054 1,629
175,008 28,526 1,629

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired.
The financial assets included in the above balances
relate to receivables for which there was no recent
history of default.

P EEYEBRSRE o LRAEERTE
RS B E A B ST HE R RO AR BY I UL

HRIAFR

-
E
(&)

.
E—&"

=

g A 7
(=27 i B 0 2k 554 o) -
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22. Equity Investments at Fair Value

22 R HERLE > HRAN R EEET

Through Profit or Loss AB 1
Group
rEE
2010 2009
—ZE-Z5F —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBETT
Listed equity investments, ERAEE -
at market value: BmiE
Hong Kong BE 1,480 —

The above equity investments at 31 December 2010
were classified as held for trading and were, upon initial
recognition, designated by the Group as financial assets
as at fair value through profit or loss.

R-E-—FTF+-A=1T—HZ LARX
BEDHE %?%T’E%”E ROITHER - WA

KEEEREAAEEF ABm

E o

S ERE
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23. Cash and Bank Balances and Time

23. Bl g b sRAT 45 R DA SoE

. £
Deposits K
Group Company
PN | PN
2010 2009 2010
—2-3F ZETNF —E-Zf
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AREBTT AR®BT R
Cash and bank balances Be NRRITH 200,948 61,943 118
Time deposits EETF T 766,085 - 766,085
967,033 61,943 766,203
Less: Pledged for interest-bearing & : ©3tat 88817
bank borrowings BEEEA (1,178) (1,000) -
Pledged for bills payable B LI R IR (59,063) (15,799) -
Pledged for letters of credit ERtE AR (7,070) (1,955) -
Time deposits with terms HEiE3EA 6
over 3 months THER (721,075) — (721,075)
(788,386) (18,754) (721,075)
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEEED 178,647 43,189 45,128
Denominated in RMB ARMGHE 909,368 57,024 766,115
Denominated in US$ AZETTEME 30,344 4,419 -
Denominated in HK$ B TTEE 19,843 492 88
Denominated in EUR LABR T EHE 6,496 8 -
Denominated in SG$ PAFT N3 et & 982 — -
967,033 61,943 766,203

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in RMB amounted
to RMB909,368,000 (2009: RMB57,024,000). The
RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations,
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign

exchange business.

RBEER - AEEUAREAENES
M ERTT#E #RiE A R#909,368,0007T (=&
THE : ARES7,024,0007T) © AR
TS EBLREINE - A - REP B
PEE B G0 R EE  SERNESER
E o AREBEIEBBEERITHEARKE

RSN AT ONE 7S -
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136 . L JES

s 23. Cash and Bank Balances and Time 23. ¥4 N8R 1745 8% DA M & H1
. =+

3 DepOSItS (Continued) ;l,? i‘ﬁ (&)

5

by N _ —

g Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based FRIBITHRESZSARITERF XA Z

= on daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits BEERRBANE - EHEMFRAER—

g are made for varying periods of between one day and RETZERAZEBHR (RFAREEHED

RIS HR) KIRE 5 HI & 817 30N & Bk
RS - SRITAE SR R B EREF AL
EHER LR B EBRIRTT

12 months depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the
respective short term time deposit rates. The bank
balances and pledged deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

24. Trade and Bills Payables 24. B 5y FEAT 3R IE I e AT 2R 45

A3LINIT ADOTONHOFL TYNOILYNYILINI HOOF1

Group
rEE
2010 2009
—E-=5F —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBETT
Trade payables 2 S EMNIE 100,378 74,211
Bills payable NS 245,072 88,895
345,450 163,106

RBEYR - BFRNFTBMENZEZ
HEAHKRERITAOT

An aged analysis of the trade and bills payables as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice
date, is as follows:

Group

rEE
2010 2009
—E-=F ZEENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBETT
Within 90 days 90H K 196,091 65,671
91 to 180 days 91£2180H 83,092 83,888
181 to 365 days 1812 365H 58,868 3,243
1to 2 years 1224 1,734 4,104
2 to 3 years 2E3F 923 750
Over 3 years HBiB3F 4,742 5,450
345,450 163,106

Pledged assets for bills payable are listed in note 34
below.

ENRENEREER TXE3427 -
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25. Other Payables and Accruals 25. HAh FEAS 20 IE K E R

Wy
A H-
Group 4;%
FEH A
L
2010 2009 e ot
—2-BF | —ZTAF s
RMB’000 RMB’000 e
AR®T R ARBTT
Payables for purchase of items of ~ BEBE®WE « BE LXK EHEE
property, plant and equipment B FE < SRR 11,597 20,332
Advances from customers EPIEMK 25,387 19,406
Accrued expenses JERT R 29,489 18,251
Accrued payroll EETIE 16,681 9,621
Value-added tax payable JE -4 (B 7R - 4,963
Deferred government grants i AE TR # B 43,493 30,436
Provision for social insurance ftERE
and retirement benefits MR R A8 F) B 45 27,203 20,807
Others H At [l < 5/ 7,470 6,734
161,320 130,550
26. Amount Due to a Director 26. AT FH K IH
Group
rEH
2010 2009
—E-=F —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBTT
Amount due to director ER AR RRIZEEZMNIEAE
of the Company - 58,476
The amount due to a director of the Company as at 31 R-ZEZNF+-_A=Z+—HENARF

EENHECHASER T —FF5

(=
g ©

December 2009 was settled by the Group in 2010.
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27. Balances With Related Companies 27. BB N 7)Y & R
Amounts due from related parties R WA A 2 N 9 K
Group
rEH
2010 2009
—2-%F | —TTLF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R AR¥TT
Access Bright Group Limited Access Bright Group Limited - 308
D&P International Research D&P International Research
and Development Corp and Development Corp. - 18,147
Marshell International Inc. Marshell International Inc - 13,552
Shanghai Donmin Vehicle FBRVEHEARRD
Co., Ltd. 1,364 —
Shanghai Leoch Power Supply  F/EBLERRFEEREBGREQ
Co., Ltd. 105 2,238
Shenzhen Marshell Power Supply & 311 35 78 8 828 5 fiT B[R A 7
Co., Ltd. 967 —
Shenzhen Marxon Power Supply &I ERLEE BRI AR A 7
Co., Ltd. 2,370 —
4,806 34,245
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27. Balances With Related Companies 27. BB N R AR a) 1%
(Continued) A ﬁ
\
Al
Amounts due to related parties JRE At BRI N - 114 3K TH Eiﬁ
Group §
rEE =
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARBTT
Dongguan Leoch Power Supply RERBTEREMBMRAA
Co., Ltd. 10,892 18,640
Leoch Holding Co., Ltd. Leoch Holding Co., Ltd. 32,558 1,233
Leoch International (H.K.) Ltd. Leoch International (H.K. ) Ltd. - 6,151
Shanghai Donmin Vehicle FERRBEHERRAD
con., Ltd. - 13,439
Shenzhen Marshell Green Power RYEEREBEBRA
Co., Ltd. 4,685 10,837
Shenzhen Marshell Power Supply — FEIITIIEFAFEAER M AR A
Co., Ltd. - 3,000
Shenzhen Marxon Power Supply AT ERREIRFM AR A
Co., Ltd. - 391
Uplus Batteries Private Limited. Uplus Batteries Private Limited - 692
48,135 54,383
All balances in the year ended 31 December 2010 are HE-_TZF+_A=+T—HILFEHN
trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free and have no FiIE#BEAREZINE  BEA 28K
fixed terms of repayment. The related companies are EETERY ZEBREQRIAARAE
controlled by Mr. Dong Li, a director and controlling EREREREST AT -

shareholder of the Company.

The details of the transactions with related parties are BEAEA TR ZFBERMFEI7HE -
disclosed in note 37.
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28. Interest-bearing Bank Borrowings

28. 5 E R TR

Group
rEE
2010 2009
—E-%F | ZTTNHF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBEF T
Interest-bearing bank borrowings, & EERITER - BT
secured 336,296 172,362
Interest-bearing bank borrowings,  FF B IRITER - EIKIF
unsecured 77,878 —
Collateralised bank advances, BEMIBITER
secured BE M 2,455 969
Total #Et 416,629 173,331
Dominated in RMB IAREEHE 396,146 166,900
Dominated in US$ ETTEHE 20,483 6,431
416,629 173,331
3.46% 2.28%
Interest rates per annum: FHE to £5.89% to £5.31%

The above interest-bearing bank borrowings are all
repayable within one year. The Group’s secured bank
borrowings are secured by the following pledge or
guarantees:

(i)  pledge of the Group’s assets with a total value of
RMB265,314,000 (31 December 2009:
RMB210,162,000) for the bank borrowings is
disclosed in note 34.

B BRITEREHAN—FREE -
AREBMRITEFIA MR B (EERM L IE

®

ARITEFIERFNBREBARK
265,314,000C (ZEZNF+=A
=+—H : AR™210,162,0007T)
WAREEEENRM 345 -
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28. Interest-bearing Bank Borrowings  28.

At ERITHER @)

(Continued)
(i)  guarantees executed by one of the directors and (i) HA—BESBR—KBERAIZRINE
a related company to the extent of: RRE -
Group
rEH
2010 2009
—E—ZF —ZTENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBTT
Personal guarantee by BEFEENREAER
Mr. Dong Li - 5,463
Corporate guarantee by —REEQFMRAIER
a related company:
Dongguan Leoch Power REBELTEREMERAA
Supply Co., Ltd. - 30,000
— 35,463

The above guarantees were released in the
current year.

(i) cross guarantees executed by companies within (iif)
the Group.

EAERRAFE DML o

AEERRBRRTOHEEER

-
H
-
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29. Deferred Tax

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities

29. IR AL TH

TRAFNEEHBEE ABENEDHIE

during the year are as follows: W
Deferred tax assets IEAEBLIH &
Group Kt
Provision  Provision for
for impairment Decelerated
impairment of property tax on pre-
of trade plant and operating  Provision of
receivables equipment expense inventories Total
EZRKZE W% BER EEAEX
HERE REAERE WELHE FERBE @zt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT AEBTR
Gross deferred tax assets RZEENF
at 1 January 2009 —A—RET
HEEESE 253 1,487 14 - 1,754
Deferred tax credited/ ERBAN/ (M)
(charged) to profit or loss BRRNELHE
during the year (note 11) (P3E11) 77 (189) (14) - (126)
Gross deferred tax assets RZEENE
at 31 December 2009 TZA=+-Ak
and 1 January 2010 ZE-TE-f-H
MEEREEERR 330 1,298 - - 1,628
Deferred tax credited/ EREBRENGN/
(charged) to profit or loss (10%) MERLRE
during the year (note 11) (P3E11) 163 (189) - 199 173
Gross deferred tax assets at RZE-5F
31 December 2010 TZAZT—A/
BEREAESE 493 1,109 - 199 1,801




Notes to the Financial Statements

VA it o Y ik

31 December 2010
—E—ZTF+-A=+—H

29. Deferred Tax (Continued) 29. I|IEFLIH ()
Deferred tax liabilities I SiE ol JE B A
Group KEFH
Reversal of
welfare
Group payable Others Total
rEH BEEAER Hib et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF T AREFIT AREFIT
Gross deferred tax liabilities R-ZZEZENF—HA—H
at 1 January 2009 EREFIEAERE 295 — 295
Deferred tax charged/(credited) S R#&EE A (F1)
to profit or loss BRRMIELERIE
during the year (note 11) (PFg5E11) (31) 490 459
Gross deferred tax liabilities RZZEENF
at 31 December 2009 +=ZA=+—8xk
and 1 January 2010 —E-TF—H—H
HIEETIE A ERE 264 490 754
Deferred tax credited FRFABRERN
to profit or loss JRIERIE
during the year (note 11) (M$3E11) (53) (490) (543)
Gross deferred tax liabilities R-E—FF
at 31 December 2010 +=-—A=+—H
RN IE B RARE 211 — 211

At 31 December 2010, no deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable
on the unremitted earnings that are subject to
withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries
established in Mainland China. In the opinion of the
directors, these subsidiaries will not distribute such
earnings as of 31 December 2010 in the foreseeable
future and therefore, no deferred tax has been provided

thereof.

R-TE—FTF+-_A=+—H UERX
£ B2 T B K P R S O BT /B8 X R ORI
BT ((RBMBRMER) BNOBREME
BHERELENIR - EFERR - ZSEHEBR
AHEARERIENRBEE—_T—TF+
“A=1T—BW&H - KRB 5
EFERIA -

-
E
(&)

.
E—&"

=

g A 7
(=27 i B 0 2k 554 o) -
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30. Share Capital 30. A
2010
—E-FF
RMB’000
ARE TR
Authorised: JETE ¢
10,000,000,000 ordinary shares 10,000,000,000/% & H% E1E
of HK$0.1 each 0.1 TR E A% 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEEITERHRE :
1,333,334,000 ordinary shares 1,333,334,0000% & i% &
of HK$0.1 each 0. 1B TR E BA 133,333
Equivalent to RMB’000 HERARKE T T 114,267

During the year, the movements in authorised and
issued share capital were as follows:

FAR - ERERBBEITRAZSHNT

Number of
ordinary shares of Nominal value of
HK$0.10 each ordinary shares
SREELIBLH
LakREE LERNER
HK$'000 RMB’000
TAER AREFTL
Authorised: iy
On incorporation on RZZ-TF
27 April 2010 MAZ+EAAEMRKL () 3,800,000 380 334
Increase in authorised share capital ¥ JIiZE R A& (i) 9,996,200,000 999,620 857,674
As at 31 December 2010 W-E2-2F+-F=1—H 10,000,000,000 1,000,000 858,008
Issued: BT
Issued and fully paid upon Bl AvESIaE I61
incorporation: RER (i) 1 - -
Capitalisation issue BRI R
credited as fully paid ERRARDEER
conditional on the RAARETHRN
share premium account i B 14 1551 B
of the Company being BRRAEREEST
credited as a result of the
issue of the new shares
to the public (iv) 999,999,999 100,000 85,700
Issuance of new shares under REZEE
the global offering BITHR () 333,334,000 33,333 28,567
As at 31 December 2010 RZE-ZF+-A=+—-H 1,333,334,000 133,333 114,267
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30. Share Capital (Continued)

31.

(i)

(i

(ii)

(iv)

On incorporation of the Company, the authorised share
capital of the Company was HK$380,000 divided into
3,800,000 shares of HK$0.10 each.

On 14 October 2010, the authorised share capital of the
Company was further increased from HK$380,000 divided
into 3,800,000 shares to HK$1,000,000,000 divided into
10,000,000,000 shares through the creation of
9,996,200,000 additional Shares of HK$0.10 each.

The share capital of the Group represented the issued and
fully paid share capital of the the Company on
incorporation.

Pursuant to the resolution passed on 14 October 2010,
an aggregate of 999,999,999 shares of HK$0.10 each of
the Company were allotted and issued, credited as fully
paid at par, by way of capitalisation of the sum of
HK$99,999,999.90 from the share premium account. Such
allotment and capitalisation were conditional on the share
premium account being credited as a result of the issue
of new shares to the public in connection with the
Company’s initial public offering (the “IPO”) as detailed in
(v) below.

In connection with the Company’s IPO, 333,334,000
shares of HK$0.10 each were issued at a price of HK$5.35
per share for a total cash consideration, before listing
expenses, of HK$1,783,336,900. Dealings of these shares
on the Stock Exchange commenced 16 November 2010.

Share Option Schemes

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Company operates a pre-IPO share option scheme
(the “Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible persons
who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Eligible persons of the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme include the Company’s directors and
other employees of the Group. The Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme became effective on 1 June 2010 and,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in
force for 10 years from that date.

30. lXAS ()

31.

(i) AABGEMKZE - NATREEERS A
380,0007 7 * 9 43,800,0000% & §%0.10
BITHRRD -

i) MNZF-—FTF+A+ME@A - BAEMN
9,996,200,000/% &[%0.10% 7T 2 B 1 + &
N AMETERANHS80,0008 T (9 A
3,800,0000%) # — #5#& % 1,000,000,000/%
7t (% £10,000,000,0004%) °

(i)  ANERERRATIAR R R E EETT
BRI -

vy RE-Z-ZFE+ATMNBERBANRE B
BUREBR G EEERFRERNEESH
99,999,999.90/8 7T + A AEIEE M 31T
$£999,999,99988 F I EE0.10% L 2 %
7 BEREEARIAHE - kORRER
{ERTFE R ARETHIRM AR ARQ A
KRB BAQNANEAAHAEEEH] -
FRTXX(V) -

(v) HEARRFEBRRFEEFR  BIRERE.35%
JUHY{E 1% 8£77333,334,000/% F I EIfE0.10
BRI - RIOBR A MBESRE
#£1,783,336,9008 T c ZEWMH R =T —
TFE+—A+"BRABRBRMESE -

i R M T B
A B A

R E VR B IR A3 E AT IE R 8
(MBRAHAEBEERNBRESS] - §ED
HBARKENRNEBELERNAERA
TRERBNEE - ERAFHEEABER
BETEINAEBALBEBREARTNEER
AEBHNEMES - BERXAFEEAEK
AN —T—TFRNA—BER Bk
RITHEBERIN  BRIKHAZBEE—E
ETEF -

145

.
E—&"

) 364 54 b T i

é&{ﬁ#

I=ENA1=4
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31. Share Option Schemes (continueq)

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The principal terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme, approved by written resolutions of the
Company passed on 25 May 2010, are as follows:

(@)

(b)

(c)

()

The grantees

The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is available
to the directors and employees (whether full time
or part time) of any member of the Group.

Maximum number of shares to be allotted

The maximum number of the shares in respect of
which options may be granted under the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme shall be 60,000,000 shares
representing approximately 4.5% of the total
issued share capital of the Company immediately
after completion of the global offering, taking no
account of the exercise of the over-allotment
option.

Subscription price

The subscription price in respect of each share
under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is
determined by the board of directors at its
discretion and set out in the relevant offer letters
provided that it should not be less than the
nominal value of the shares.

Duration of plan

After the 28 October 2010, no further options will
be offered or granted under the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme but in other respects the
provisions of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
shall remain in full force and effect to the extent
necessary to give effect to the exercise of any
options granted prior thereto or otherwise as may
be required in accordance with the provisions of
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, and options
which are granted on or before 28 October 2010
may continue to be exercisable in accordance
with their terms of issue.

31. BEAR ST & ()
BN B R ST B ()

BRI 3 E A R AR T 8160 = B IR
ARAR-_E—TFRAA - THHBEBEN
EEORFERLLE - WA T -

(@ EKRA

BRAREEBEEBIRET
AEBEEAKEARNEZNESR
(TamE B FRE) -

b) FTFEENREEE LR

NS = WNNG =T T
ATRE R M ERENRNEE LIRE A
60,000,000/% %15 + HHERAQ BN
ZEERIRBE TR (WERT RITE
FREEAC AR M) B BT A B EL
4.5% o

(c) FREEE

ERARTE MR METER
BARRBE R EFRIRABIBE
BT WRAEBELORER - BR
LR IR HE (8 -

(@) & EIAYRA

RZE-ZF+A-+/\RiZ T8
BIREE R AFREEAERETSI%
EREBEMEMBEE  BEERA
(A3 5 A B U R T B IR SUE R AR 77
ERAR TR AFER - BRI
BT A AT B AL AT T T 3R
BERAREE R BB BRI IR
AREREMRITITE MR =T —F
FHAZTN\BRIROOEERE - 5
AARIB IR F R BT IR E T IATT
& -
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31. Share Option Schemes (continueq)

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(e

Exercise period and vesting period

(e)

Options granted on 1 June 2010 under the Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme can only be exercised

in the following manner:

Exercise period

TR

Maximum percentage of
options exercisable

31. BEACREST 3 ()

UL B A A R AT ) (8)

TTIERI R &7 8 7

REE

NNGES=FIE 8 )

“E-TFRA-ARENEREE
AHRATS T AT LATTEE -

AFTERRENRSEIL

Vesting period
FEH

Anytime during the 10 years
after the second anniversary
of the date of offer of the
options (the “Offer Date”)

REREZHEM(ZHRE])
HE _BFRTFREREHE

Anytime during the 9 years
after the third anniversary
of the Offer Date

REHNBHNE = BFR%
JVEE A o] B

Anytime during the 8 years
after the fourth anniversary
of the Offer Date

REXN RN EMEF%R
J\EE A fa] s

Anytime during the 7 years
after the fifth anniversary
of the Offer Date

NEHNBRHNERESFER
+ 5 R (o] B

25% of the total number

of options granted
ERHBRERZI25%

25% of the total number
of options granted
BRI AE R B E25%

25% of the total number

of options granted
EREBRERZH25%

25% of the total number
of options granted

EREEREAHMN25%

Up to the date immediately
before the second
anniversary of the
Offer Date

BEEEERZHHEEHN
FEFHERARIL

Up to the date immediately
before the third
anniversary of the
Offer Date

BEEEEZHBEHN
EFZBEFHEARL

Up to the date immediately
before the fourth
anniversary of the
Offer Date

BEEEEZHAEN
FNBFAMERRIL

Up to the date immediately
before the fifth
anniversary of the
Offer Date

HEEERZHHEEHH
EFRBFAERRIL

-
E
~

.
E—&"
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31. Share Option Schemes (continueq) 31.
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued)
(e) Exercise period and vesting period (Continued)
Options granted on 14 October 2010 under the

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme can only be
exercised in the following manner:

I RE ST )
ER/ NIRRT 0 E A ()
0 FTEHREEN(E)

IRIEE R AR TS BT ARES 815 =

Z-TF+ A TOARGHERER
AHRAT T T ATTE

Maximum percentage of

Exercise period options exercisable Vesting period
T AFIRERENSESEIL BB
Anytime during the 10 years 1/3 of the total number Up to the date immediately
after the first anniversary of options granted before the first
of the Offer Date ERHEREREN1/3 anniversary of the
RNEHNBHNE —BFR% Offer Date
T AE R E BEEZRENAHN
E-BFAERRIL
Anytime during the 9 years 1/3 of the total number Up to the date immediately
after the second anniversary of options granted before the second
of the Offer Date ERHBRELHEN/3 anniversary of the

REXABHHFE —BFR

Offer Date

JVEE A A o] B P BEEEEZHAEN
EZBFREARL
Anytime during the 8 years 1/3 of the total number Up to the date immediately
after the third anniversary of options granted before the third
of the Offer Date ERHEREREHN1/3 anniversary of the
RENBHNE=BF %R Offer Date
JNE R E A R BEEZEREZENAHN

(f)  Exercise of options

Any exercise of an option granted under the Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme is subject to conditions
as may be specified in the offer letter in respect
of the grant of options.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders
to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

FoBEMEARL
()  TTEERE
TTEREE R AFEE R BRERT S

S BB A AT (TR AR B 01
FERR BB 2 et ok =

RSN B T4 A AT AER - A
EEBREBHRBRAG LRE -
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31. Share Option Schemes (continueq) 31. FEARRE ST &I (&) ;g
A H-
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued) IR B EE RSB () 4;3{
i
(f)  Exercise of options (Continued) () TTEEBERE (E) §§
=
On 1 June 2010, an aggregate of 37,680,000 RZE—ZFFNA—H ' MARXRFN E
share options under the Pre-IPO Share Option MBERNMAEBMN1442 R EETT
Scheme were issued to two directors of the BRAARAZREABRESSIETEaH
Company and 144 employees of the Group. On 37,680,0000 B - R—F—TF
14 October 2010, another 1,500,000 share TATHA  AREE—RBEEEEA
options under the Pre-IPO Share Scheme were BERITE R A ARE SR ERETE
issued to a key management of the Group. The T8~ B 49M,500,00017 B AL o A —
exercise prices and exercise periods of the Pre- E—EFF_A=+—HERTHFEH
IPO Share Options outstanding at 31 December RARBEERBRENITEBRITE
2010 are as follows: ERE AT -
Number of Exercise price
options per share Exercise period
BRERE BRITEE 17 1 5
1,500,000 HK$5.0/8 7T 14 October 2011 to 14 October 2021
—E——F+A+tWMBEE-_ET-_—F+A+WMA
4,030,000 HK$0.27%& 7T 1 June 2012 to 1 June 2022
2 _H#RA-HEZ-ZE-__49,A—H
4,830,000 HK$0.4/% 7T 1 June 2012 to 1 June 2022
—E—_HFRA-HE-_Z-_49,A—H
820,000 HK$0.6/8 7T 1 June 2012 to 1 June 2022
—E——HFAAB—HEZ-E-_—_F,XA—H
2,650,000 HK$0.87% 7T 1 June 2012 to 1 June 2022
—E-_H#RA-HE-_Z-__4,A—H
5,320,000 HK$1.0/8 7T 1 June 2012 to 1 June 2022
T —FANA—BEZZE=-=F,A—H
2,780,000 HKS$1.27%8 7T 1 June 2012 to 1 June 2022
—E——FXA-HEZZE--FA—H
3,940,000 HK$1.4% 7T 1 June 2012 to 1 June 2022
T —FXNA-HE-Z-_—_F,XA—H
3,030,000 HK$1.6/8 7T 1 June 2012 to 1 June 2022
—E——HF#RA-HE-_Z-_9FA—H
4,880,000 HK$1.8% T 1 June 2012 to 1 June 2022
—E——_FRA—HEZ-Z-__FA—H
5,400,000 HK$2.07% 7T 1 June 2012 to 1 June 2022
2 _HF#RA-HEZ-ZE-__49,A—H

39,180,000
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31. Share Option Schemes (continueq)
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(f)  Exercise of options (Continued)

31. AR RERT 3 ()
ERONEE: ) Y (NE )

() TTRBERE (&)

Fair value of share options: BERENARER :
Average fair Recognised
value on in expense
Grant date Total shares granted date Total value in 2010
BHAM —E2-%F
BB BRY THALEERE BEE EIABEX
HK$ per share RMB RMB
BRAET AR AR
1 June 2010 —E-TFRA-H 37,680,000 1.110 36,655,000 6,574,000

14 October 2010  —Z—ZF+A+mHA 1,500,000

0.381 491,000 256,000

39,180,000

37,146,000 6,830,000

The fair value of the Pre-IPO Share Options
granted was estimated as at the date of grant by
Jones Lang LaSalle Sallmanns Limited, an
independent firm of professionally qualified
valuers, using the binomial lattice model, taking
into account the terms and conditions upon which
the options were granted. The following table lists
the inputs to the model used:

BREMBERAMESHBRENDAE
B WREBSEB I EXSERMEERM
MEBITEPIAR AR RA ZHA B EE
B A B th R ASCARE AT 4 ) 1R 3R S A6
HFMETTER o PRBIIRAZEL &
ARER

Grant date
A
1 June 2010 14 October 2010
—E-ZF —E-ZF
~NA—H +A+@A

Exercise price (HK$ per share) TEEEERET) 0.2-2.0 5.0
Expected dividend yield (%) TEEIRR B % (%) - -
Expected volatility (%) TEHR 18 (%) 62.47 49.24
Risk-free interest rate (%) = 3 P A1 (%) 3.64 212
Expected life of share options TEHARE AR E R R (5F)

(years) 10 10
Weighted average share price at R B E 8y hnE

grant date (HK$ per share) FHRRAE (BRRATT) 1.667 1.600
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31. Share Option Schemes (continueq)

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued)

"

Exercise of options (Continued)

The expected life of the Pre-IPO Share Options
is not necessarily indicative of the exercise
patterns that may occur. The expected volatility
may not necessarily reflect the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was
incorporated into the measurement of fair value.

At 31 December 2010, the Company had
outstanding Pre-IPO Share Options for the
subscription of 39,180,000 shares under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, which
represented approximately 3.8% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at that date. The
exercise in full of the outstanding Pre-IPO Share
Options would, under the present capital structure
of the Company, result in the issue of 39,180,000
additional ordinary shares of the Company and
additional share capital of HK$3,918,000
(equivalent to RMB3,432,700) and share premium
of HK$47,466,000 (equivalent to
RMB41,538,300), before related issuance
expenses.

31. BEACREST 3 ()

UL B A A R AT ) (8)

()

TTIEFEAR 1 (&)

BRAREEMBRENERFH
—ERAREREEMNTTEERMNER -
BHIRE RO —ERRERER

ER N BEENE BT EREAA
NAEENTENR -

RZZE—ZTFE+_A=+—H &R
BB RITEE A AHAEEBER
o TRIEE R ARRERIERET
2178 739,180,000/ f% 17 + FHE A
AEIRE BB BITIRAL3.8% -
REBERNBNIRBIRAZERE - 2ET
FERITEER A RBEEIERESS
BUEE 1T A A A1 88 4M39,180,0000% %
1+ LA EESNIRZ<3,918,00078 7T (A8
ZWAREES,432,7007T) R ARID B
47,466,000 T (HHER AR
41,538,3007T) (HBRABEA TR X
Al) °

-
a1
'y

L;
%—%-l

=

g A 7
(=27 i B 0 2k 554 o) -
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31. Share Option Schemes (continueq)

Share Option Scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) which was approved and adopted by the
written resolutions of all the shareholders of the
Company passed on 14 October 2010 for the purpose
of providing incentives or rewards to eligible persons
for their contribution to, and continuing efforts to
promote the interests of, the Group and for such other
purposes as the Board may approve from time to time.
Eligible persons of the Scheme include any director or
employee (whether full time or part time), consultant
or advisor of the Group who, in the sole discretion of
the Board, has contributed to or will contribute to the
Group. The Scheme became effective on 16 November
2010, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will
remain in force for 10 years from the date of adoption
of the Scheme by shareholders by resolution at a
general meeting.

The maximum number of unexercised share options
currently permitted to be granted under the Scheme
and any other share option schemes, must not,in
aggregate, exceed 30% of the total number of shares
of the Company in issue at any time. The maximum
number of shares issuable under share options to each
eligible participant in the Scheme within any 12-month
period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options
in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting and certain disclosure
and reporting requirements.

31. BEAR ST & ()

i P R iR

ARRIET-REREE ([RHE)) - &
ARABAERRR-_ZT—TF+A+HNA
BRNEERBRWELRY - EEMOR
AEBEELERET S DRI AREEF
BmZABBATRHEBINER  HRE
FETRHLENEMBR - FHEIRAAL
BREFS2EA/CYHIARHAREEE
HEBNAKREEIMEENRE (2R
KB BEHEIAEAA - FER_T-F
FH—ATRNBEN  RAITERIESHIER]
S - % B BRI IR A G BB R A R R
AEBRMETFRAREER -

et gl R A bR &8 B AT Al IR T
M ARTT 8 2 FE R R T s v 238 2 A £
Re LREE - FNMEEBARQBTNEMER
BB BT B2 30% ° IME(T+ =&
A REAIRTFTEUAERSEE
Z BRI 17RO 2 &S 8B EEAE
EERNARR D BTN Z1% © Bt
PR EI 2 T — SR h 2 B A LS
BRERNBRAEHE - WETETRER

WGBS -
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31. Share Option Schemes (continueq)
Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by
the independent non-executive directors. In addition,
any share options granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of
0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
time or with an aggregate value (based on the price of
the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess
of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are
subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a
general meeting and certain disclosure and reporting
requirements.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by
the directors, but may not be less than the highest of
(i) the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s
shares on the date of offer of the share options; (i) the
average Stock Exchange closing price of the
Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of offer; and (i) the nominal value
of the shares of the Company. A consideration of
RMB1.00 is payable on acceptance of the offer of an
option or options.

At 31 December 2010, there has no share option been
granted under the Scheme.

31. BEACREST 3 ()

I IR 5T 1 ()

BRTIARARIES TRITHABRTER
RABENEAHBEALOBERE - BAF
TEEUSERITE S AVILE © BEON  7E(ERM
TEARERFARBNEZRRESE
VIFHMITES IR ENEMBEALHY
EATRB A - B8 AN 2 B ME ) B R Y
FATRD #90.1 %k # (B B #15,000,00078
TTREREH BRARRNRENEE)
EF RAASAEERRARE LBUSBRY
o WANAEETHRERBRATE -

BREZITEERESS AT - BTEE
FA()PA 5% L B AR A 2 B AN 2 R IR FE B 32
FrzWmE » R(iEZEFRHBHATAER
5B AR RRMDIER T2 FHWTE
R (i) AN ARRG 2 EE (AREERLE)
% S IEARAE 2 AR S A AR 1,009
RE -

RZZE—TF+_A=+—H ITEEE
AHEIR LB AR

-
| &
(&)

.
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32. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows

Major non-cash transactions

(@)

(b)

Additions in property, plant and equipment

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the
controlling shareholder of the Company
contributed plant and machinery of
RMB12,959,000 as capital injection in the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the
Group purchased certain equipment of
RMB11,371,000 which was settled through the
current account with a director, Mr. Dong Li.

Acquisition of subsidiaries

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the
Group acquired certain subsidiaries pursuant to
the Reorganisation at an aggregate consideration
of RMB2,571,000 from the controlling
shareholder, Mr. Dong Li, which was settled
through the current account with a director, Mr.
Dong Li.

During the year ended 31 December 2009, the
Group acquired a 100% equity interest of Leoch
Power Supply from the controlling shareholder,
Mr. Dong Li, and a non-controlling shareholder at
an aggregate consideration of RMB10,567,000,
which was settled through the current account
with a director, Mr. Dong Li.

p=i

32. & P B4 Uil B R B A

FEIFHERS
(a) RNEYZE - BELKRE

HE-ZT-—ZT+-_A=+—HLHF
g m AR IERRE L E AR
12,959,000 T HIMIEE I 4 B8 1E A ¥ 7R
EEMITE -

REBEZE—Z—ZTF+=-_A=+—H1t
FE AEEEEEEARK
11,371,000 cHYE T34 - WiFEiB—
BEE (EDTLE)MARERER -

(b) WEEHTE 2 F]

RBEZE—ZTF+_A=+—H1
FER - $EI$E'<FE£HF1T AR AR R
EFAERBEETHBLAR - BRE
BARE2571,0007T Emﬁi@—
BEE(ETLE)MERERPER -

REE-_ZZTNAF+_A=+—HH
IEFEA - AEBRIERBRREST L
AR —ZIFER R R EEE T BIRN
100% M Atz - BREBARKE
10,567,0007T * E ViR —RES
(BEZRE)MEREFPEN -
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33. Reserves

(a) Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years
are presented in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity of the financial statements.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve of the Group represents the
capital contributions by Mr. Dong Li, a director
and controlling shareholder of the Company, to
the subsidiaries directly held by Mr. Dong Li before
the group reorganisation on 8 June 2010. The
additions during the year represent the injection
of additional paid-up capital by the equity holders
of the subsidiaries to the respective companies,
and the acquisition of non-controlling interests in
the respective companies by the equity holders
of the subsidiaries, which were consolidated from
the effective date of acquisition. The deductions
during the year represent the distribution of the
paid-up capital of the subsidiaries to their then
equity holders in exchange for their equity interest
in the respective companies.

Statutory reserve fund

In accordance with the PRC Company Law, the
PRC subsidiaries of the Group are required to
allocate 10% of their profit after tax to the reserve
fund until such reserve reaches 50% of the
registered capital of the PRC subsidiaries. Subject
to certain restrictions set out in the Company Law
of the PRC, part of the reserve fund may be
converted to increase paid-up capital/issued
capital of the PRC subsidiaries, provided that the
remaining balance after the capitalisation is not
less than 25% of the registered capital. The
reserve fund of the PRC subsidiaries amounted
to RMB49,631,000 and RMB22,251,000 as at
31 December 2010 and 2009, respectively.

33. fetithd

(a)

AAE

AEEAFEIBEFENFRSER
REBBBEREMERENEG S E
HERTL -

B O

REENAFHEEREAARESRE
BRREFEER_Z-—ZFAN
REENMAEERSAENNEAR
TE - RERRIENMARARIMER
Bk FE e S PNGE ] PNGIF St &Nz
BINTE - ARARRINE R RER
FAEAKBERARNIEES tER
(EREEEMBEEH) - RFEAD
FRMIEM B AR AE RS A A
DIRERIRA - NIBREUNE B AR R
AR HE -

EENEE

BRIBPEQEE - NEE/T BB
NRVEBEBEEMNTREEF10%EA
EENES EEZREBESREDF
BERES0%A1E - EHRBEIARER]
A TRERERT » FoEER &
SAENBRER MLAREBEITR
A ERERNME RIS ESHAETE
PREMEAE25% o R EHBAFIN
AEER_E—TF+-A=1+—8
r=ZZTFENF+ZRAR=1+—HH5A
AER#49,631,000T & AR
22,251,0007T °
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33. Reserves (Continued)

(a)

Group (Continued)
Exchange fluctuation reserve

The exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of
companies outside the PRC. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy set
out in note 2.4.

Share option reserve
Details of the Company’s share option schemes

and the share options issued under the schemes
are included in note 31 to the financial information.

33. fitifhi )

(a)

AREHE #)
[E 35 R B b

PSR BY R R I PTA RRE R EIA
SNABIBI SRR MAELREN Z5 -
AR RE N M 2. 40 B R BUR R
e

BIREFE

BRAARNRR R 8 st 8%
TTHVRBRHER S - SR ERHI &
31-°

Company (b) A/ ]
Share
premium  Shareholder's  Share option  Accumulated
account  contribution reserve losses Total
R RERE BRR AT BRERE R ER &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETL ARETT ARETT AREFT AREFT
At 1 January 2010 RZE-ZE
—R-H - - - - -
Total comprehensive FRR2EEE
loss for the year ag - - - (23,821) (23,821)
Contribution from RERBEEALE
a shareholder pursuant
to Reorganisation - 337,830 - - 337,830
Issue of shares ki 1,414,053 - - - 1,414,053
Share issue expenses R BIRZ (71,756) - - - (71,756)
Equity-settled share i B iR
option arrangements 2 (MEEs1)
(Note 31) - - 6,830 - 6,830
At 31 December 2010 RZE-%F
+-A=1+-H 1,342,297 337,830 6,830 (23,821) 1,663,136
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34. Pledge of Assets

31 December 2010

34, EE AR
SR -EEF+A=Z+—H

Prepaid land Property, Trade and
lease plant and Pledged bills
payments equipment deposits  receivables Total
Bttt ES EZEWTE
HEX HBERRKE BERER REWER @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR  ARBT:R AR¥TR ARBTR AR¥TR
(note 16) (note 15) (note 23) (Note 20)
(Kt 16) (Rt 15) (Kt z£23) (B =£20)
Interest-bearing bank FERTHEE
borrowings (note 28) (Pt 28) 3,421 258,260 1,178 2,455 265,314
Trade and bills payables  EZENFHER
(note 24) ERRE (FzE24) 3,087 - 59,063 - 62,150
Deposits for issue of RHEERARENTS
letters of credit - - 7,070 - 7,070
Total @t 6,508 258,260 67,311 2,455 334,534
31 December 2009 W _EFEENFE+ A =1+—H
Prepaid land Property, Trade and
lease plant and Pledged bills
payments equipment deposits receivables Total
Bt ER BHEWE
BER BT BEEARER REKZE @t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETFT ARETFT ARETFT ARETT
(note 16) (note 15) (note 23) (Note 20)
(Fi3E16) (Rt3£15) (R3t23) (F520)
Interest-bearing bank FTERTEE
borrowings (note 28) (Firzk28) 27,944 180,249 1,000 969 210,162
Trade and bills payables BHRAFER
(note 24) R (M524) 10,584 - 15,779 - 26,363
Deposits for issue of BHERENTS
letter of credits - - 1,975 - 1,975
Total @it 38,628 180,249 18,754 969 238,500
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158 . 7 K

——  35. Operating Lease Arrangements 35. K & 2P

3

>

c Y

> (a) As lessor () TEAHTEA

(0]

e}

o

g The Group leases its staff quarters and office KEBRBKEHELTHHBEETE
> premises under operating lease arrangements, IEE  WAEMERTH - KR

A3LINIT ADOTONHOFL TYNOILYNYILINI HOOF1

with leases negotiated for terms ranging from five
to ten years. The terms of the leases generally
also require the tenants to pay security deposits
and provide for periodic rent adjustments
according to the then prevailing market
conditions.

At 31 December 2010, the Group had total future
minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable
operating leases with its tenants falling due as
follows:

M SR F5FE10F - FHH—
RETAEFP AL MRES MRIEER
TRTEHEHESIEL AR -

W=F-BF+-A=+—H0 &%
ERBE AL HER 5 2 E
B 5K 2R B (K 7 & JE W R IE 4B 5B 1D
T -

Group

rEEH
2010 2009
—E-=F ZETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBTT
Within one year 1R 43 60

In the second to fifth E2FEEHF

years, inclusive BREEEMT 123 214
After five years REE%E 80 755
246 1,029
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35. B E LY &)

35. Operating Lease Arrangements (Continued)

i

(b) As lessee (b) 1EZ &M A 4;3{
3

The Group leases certain of its office properties AEERBKEHELHERRSE T g;ﬁ

and office equipment under operating lease NREMERPRZME - BREMERN §
arrangements. Leases for properties are KEMEAEBRAN FIEF - ER Iy

negotiated for terms ranging from three to five
years, and those for office equipment are for terms
ranging between two and five years.

MAZERNF2EEEF o

As at 31 December 2010, the Group and the
Company had total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases
falling due as follows:

N-ZE-FE+-_A=+—H K&
BIREA A A SAEN T 725
MERREEEMRAREMOT -

Group

rEH
2010 2009
—E-%F | ZFTNHF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE TR AREFIT
Within one year —F R 5,607 3,531

In the second to fifth F_FEERF

years, inclusive BREREEMTE 8,365 10,107
After five years RAFE% - 28,473
13,972 42,111
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160
- 36. Commitments 36. K&
> m
>
5 § In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed Br =32 (FFE35(b)) FF il ) 4% & 70 & A4
§ Z in note 35(b) above, the Group and the Company had SN RIREBERE - AEERARRA
%g the following capital commitments at the end of the AT & AR EHE
g % reporting period:
Z
E Group
m TEHE
z 2010 2009
é —ZE-Z5F —ETNF
ﬁ RMB’000 RMB’000
% AR T AR®TTT
m
” Contracted, but not provided for: DETA)BE R B
Land and buildings T RETF 104,486 937
Plant and machinery R 55 Ko 25 41,507 15,098
Capital contribution payable to: ERHEE -
Acquisition of an associate (i) IR B B 2 2 | () 1,433 -
Subsidiary (ii) iog=NSI () 20,000 —
167,426 16,035

(i)

(i

Leoch Power Supply agreed to acquire a 30%
equity interest in Manufacturing Sdn. Bhd., a
company incorporated in Malaysia, from an
independent third party at a consideration of
RMB1,433,000 (i.e., MYR664,500) in accordance
with the terms and conditions set out in an
agreement entered into by both parties on 18
December 2010.

Shenzhen Leoch entered into an agreement with
Chengdu Shenhua Electric Vehicles Co., Ltd. on
18 December 2010 to form a new company in
Chengdu. The registered capital of the new
company will be RMB23,800,000. Shenzhen
Leoch will make its part of contribution of
RMB20,000,000 to the company in cash, while
Chengdu Shenhua Electric Vehicles Co., Ltd. will
make its part of contribution of RMB3,800,000
to the company in the form of physical assets.
Upon its establishment, Shenzhen Leoch and
Chengdu Shenhua Electric Vehicles Co., Ltd.
respectively will own 84.04% and 15.96% equity
in the new company.

() WBEXZEIFR-_Z—ZTF+_A+
NBETL BT E M R S G - 18
TERRABRBYIE=FWE—RP
B R EFEMAKSZH QA
Manufacturing Sdn. Bhd. 30%%#
KRB A AREE1,433,0007T (664,500
BT) o

(i) RZZE—Z=F+-A+N\H FJIE
TEKEHRESZEEREF ARG
ek - EREBRL S —RFTAE - 12
Al st & AN A A R%23,800,000
TC o AYIBETE AR eRAEE AR
& AR #20,000,0007T © MACEBEREE
BEBREARABEUEMEEFLN
A& & A HEARKS,800,000
TL o BERAIKLE - 9B BRRY
BT H84.04% % AN #E s K Ak AP ER
EHEFRETAREER15.96%
i o
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37. Related Party Transactions BRE AN S
(@) In addition to the transactions and balances (a) 75(\\ IS E R E M 5 S22 5 &
detailed elsewhere in the financial statements, the  AEEEFRWBARESF
Group had the following transactions with fellow WEL‘ATE’\]?&% :
subsidiaries during the year:
2010 2009
—E-=5F —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARETF T
Purchases from related EEEATBE (KFED)
companies (note i)
Dongguan Leoch Power REBE+EREM
Supply Co., Ltd. BRAA 76,596 107,421
Shanghai Donmin Vehicle tf%%’é%ﬁiﬁﬁ
Co., Ltd. ERA 6,385 6,198
Shenzhen Marshell Green ﬂHﬁﬁﬁﬁ E =2
Power Co., Ltd. BRQ 44,851 27,896
Shenzhen Marshell Power 5%ﬂ||ﬁi%ﬁ@ﬁ‘éfﬁﬁ?ﬁf
Supply Co., Ltd. BRAA] 4,639 22,206
Shenzhen Marxon Power FY T E R R B R Bl
Supply Co., Ltd. BRA T 4,503 3,364
136,974 167,085
Sales to related companies CEEARHEE
(note i) (Bt 5E1)
Dongguan Leoch Power R+ @/J?%uu
Supply Co., Ltd. BRA 25,783 17,367
Leoch International (H.K.) Ltd. Leoch International (H.K.) Ltd 34,193 28,447
Shanghai Donmin Vehicle FBRMEHERRAF
Co., Ltd. 6,275 5,507
Shanghai Leoch Power txtﬁi Ffﬂ?ﬁ'i?*
Supply Co., Ltd. BRA 9,349 10,265
Shenzhen Marshell Green f)llf%ﬁﬁﬁ £
Power Co., Ltd. BRQ 18,497 8,627
Shenzhen Marshell Power %Téﬂﬂ?ﬁi%ﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁ&m
Supply Co., Ltd. BIRAA] 346 302
Shenzhen Marxon Power FY T E R R B R Bl
Supply Co., Ltd. BRARA 12,658 941
Uplus Batteries Private Uplus Batteries Private
Limited Limited - 202
107,101 71,658

-
(=2}
-
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37. Related Party Transactions (Continued)

(@)

37. BN+ 5 )

(Continued) @ (&)
2010 2009
—E-=F ZEENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARBEFT
Lease of office premises BERELATGREEHEE
from a related company WAEYE
and a director
Shenzhen Marshell Power Y| T 35 P AR B TR R g
(note i) B2 A (T 230 674
Eastern International LLC Eastern International LLC
(note iii) (Bt 2l 2,379 2,458
Mr. Dong Li (note iv) B2 %4 (HsEv) 236 -
2,845 3,132
Lease of a manufacturing BEBREATREERE
plant from a related
company
Dongguan Leoch Power RaE+TEREM
Supply Co., Ltd. (note v) BRAR (M) 84 168
Cash receipts on behalf BEATNRREEE
of the Group by related WER & (B 5Evi)
companies (note vi)
Shenzhen Marshell Power 3N 35 7 BB AL IR BT
Supply Co., Ltd. BRAF - 40
Shenzhen Marshell Green AYEREEE
Power Co., Ltd. BRAT] - 12
D&P International Research D&PInternational Research
and Development Corp and Development Corp 17,572 36,369
Marshell International Inc. Marshell International Inc. 195,205 195,807
212,777 232,228
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37. Related Party Transactions (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

Notes:

0

(i

(i)

(vi)

The sales of products to and purchases of raw
materials from related companies were made at
prices mutually agreed between the parties.

The rental expenses were paid in relation to the lease
of two office premises of the Group to Shenzhen
Marshell Power Supply Co., Ltd. based on monthly
rentals of RMB55,394 and RMB2,136 respectively
from September 2010.

The rental expenses were paid in relation to the lease
of office premises of the Group to Eastern
International LLC based on a monthly rental of
US$30,000 from 1 August 2008 to 31 December
2012.

The rental expenses were paid in relation to the lease
of office premises of the Group to Mr. Dong Li at an
annual rent of RMB72,000 for the period from 1
January 2010 to 31 December 2015 and at an
annual rent of SG$39,000 for the period from 10
March 2010 to 10 March 2013.

The rental expenses were paid in relation to the lease
of a manufacturing plant from Dongguan Leoch
Power Supply Co., Ltd. at annual rental of
RMB168,000. On 30 June 2010, the Group entered
into an agreement with Dongguan Leoch Power
Supply Co., Ltd. to purchase this manufacturing
plant at a future date when the conditions in the
agreement are met. The consideration will be
determined based on a third party valuation report
at the future transfer date. The Group was granted
by Dongguan Leoch Power Supply Co., Ltd. a
licence to use the manufacturing plant at nil
consideration between the date of the agreement
and the actual transfer date in future.

The cash receipts on behalf of the Group by related
companies represented settlement of trade
receivables from customers. Since July 2010, the
related parties have not received any cash on behalf
of the Group.

The directors are of the view that all related party
transactions set out above were entered into in
the ordinary course of business of the Group.

37. B N385 )

@@ (&)

fi i

0

(i

D)

(vi)

RIS A A IH & 2 LB B REHZR]
#77 SR E BV ERAETT

H-Z—TFAAE  giEFIImE
TR AR AR HEREEN
MERAEWEMSZFNHESMS
Ty Bl A ARKS5,304 T R AR
#2 1367TTE °

3t A Eastern International LLCHH & 7%
EENRAEMEMINNEEH
¥ m-EE\F\A-HE-T—
—HE+-RA=+—RALHEMATEA
30,0003 7T °

RAEELEHEREENRIEY
E¥mMZAmeYy T —TF
—H—BE-_T-RFE+_-_A=1—
B EERRNFR A ARET72,0007T
UEkH—E—EF=A+HE_Z—
=F= A+ 8 1R T A39,000
T -

ZEHSHINIRRFEHEEARE
168,000CHE=ERE+EREMBR
NEHEBEMEZ c- RZTE—ZF
ANAZTH ASEHRZELER
LMARARGILHE - LRBEE
I RS BO 2R 2R B HARE B L 8IS IR
B REBBERRESEARNE=
FEERETUETE - AEEERS
B+ERELERARG © Bz
HHEiZ AR EREE B HHRIRER
BFEAZEERE -

BEARRKRASBENRRESETP
EEMBE SRR - (T —FF
T AR B IR A S E Y
EARE -

C EXFRAIEFTEREA LR S

REAREN —REBEBENRRIL

-
E
(&)

.
E—&"
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37. Related Party Transactions (Continued)

(b)

Outstanding balances with related parties: (b)

Details of the Group’s balances with its related

parties are disclosed in note 27.

7. BN+

Ly ()

BALTHREERS

%

REAASEERSREE AR
AT BRI B 75 B BT FE27

B& °
Compensation of key management personnel of ) AEEXZTZEBAENMHE
the Group:
2010 2009
—E-ZF —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR¥TF T
Basic salaries and EAXFHE REAMEF
other benefits 3,621 2,718
Performance related bonuses R IR RTEAL 586 321
Equity-settled share VA 25 45 R AR i A S
option expenses 2,113 —
Retirement benefit RIREFFF 2R
scheme contributions 41 20
6,361 3,059

Further details of directors’ emoluments are

included in note 9 to the financial statements.

The related party transactions in respect of the
sales, purchase and lease transactions above also
constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

Rig EmRAIE
RIHE
B E

EEZMeF BN M BEHRRME -

THOAEMER - LiikE
- BERHERZNBEET XS
RGeS E =
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38. Financial Instruments by Category

38. K 3 A i) B ik T A

Wy
A H-
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of EHAERMTARNFRENEREABELT : 4;3{
financial instruments as at the end of the year are as E;ﬁ
follows: e
=
]
Group ]
rEE
2010 2009
—ZE-ZF —ZEENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARBTT
Loans and receivables BEXRREWRKE
Long term portion of 2 5 WA
trade receivables RHIE S 11,335 19,346
Trade and bills receivables Z 5 e W IE K W R 1B 585,140 340,393
Deposits and other receivables Al N H M FE U SRR 11,383 4,054
Amounts due from related JEUR B8 A B IR
companies 4,806 34,245
Pledged deposits BEBFR 67,311 18,754
Time deposit with terms HBiA =& A & E HiF K
over 3 months 721,075 —
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEEY 178,647 43,189
Financial assets at fair value BRAREESTARR
through profit or loss ZEMEE
Equity investments at fair value BEAnEBEFTFAERE
through profit or loss 2 RiERE
Held for trading BIER 5 1,480 —
1,581,177 459,981
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38. Financial Instruments by Category 38. FHRHI AT T H )
(Continued)
Group
rEE
2010 2009
—E-ZF ZEENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARETT
Financial liabilities at REBHRATIE
amortised cost HEmaE
Trade and bills payables B S RENFIENRENRE 345,450 163,106
Other payables and accruals HiEANRIENRERTEA 65,237 54,938
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FEIRITEE 416,629 173,331
Amount due to a director N —REFEHNIE - 58,476
Amounts due to FEfTREE A RIFRIE
related companies 48,135 54,383
875,451 504,234

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could
be exchanged in a current transaction between willing
parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The
following methods and assumptions were used to
estimate the fair values.

Cash and cash equivalents, pledged deposits, time
deposits with terms over 3 months, current trade
receivables, trade and bills payables, financial assets
included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables, financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals, amounts due from/to
subsidiaries, an amount due to a director and amounts
due to/from related parties approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short term maturities of
these instruments.

EREEMBENAABENZIALR
R 577 REsERHERIN ERIR S
NZAIRZE AR - EER NITAR
BRAERAEE -

ReMReFEY  HHRE  Z@AMR
EOEEER BB SRR - BS
FEN AR BN RE - fFATRNFUR 5
EREMEBRFIENSREE  sTAEM
ENRERETERNSRAE  BR
ENMBARNIE BN —REEHER
JEW, TN A T RN AR EEEE
FREERE  TEARRETIAEEHNE
B o
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38.

39.

Financial Instruments by Category
(Continued)

The fair values of the non-current portion of trade
receivables and interest-bearing bank borrowings have
been calculated by discounting the expected future cash
flows using rates currently available for instruments on
similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based
on quoted market prices.

Financial Risk Management Objectives
and Policies

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than
derivatives, comprise interest-bearing bank borrowings,
cash and short term deposits. The main purpose of
these financial instruments is to raise finance for the
Group’s operations. The Group has various other
financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables
and trade payables, which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, market risk, foreign
currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board
of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to market risk for changes in
interest rates relates primarily to its interest-bearing
bank borrowings. The Group does not use derivative
financial instruments to hedge its interest rate risk.
Since the Group’s interest-bearing bank borrowings
bear fixed interest and are due within one year, its
exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates
is low.

38. MR e SR T B )
B G IEIERNER S MET BIRTTER
ZARBEDNMERAUMER T A ZIRITA
= ZERR N FSGFHRITIR B A KIR

> RATE -
THREREN AR BEIENRD TS

BEstE
39. 4 Fil AR S B H B R

AEBENEZ2ERIAS BRTTET
o +mﬁﬁ§ﬁ RE REHMTFR © %
FEMTANTERRIAKENZER
B AEBRARREMESRMEE - HIW
BHREFENEWRRE  TTHELE
BEL -

$E@iﬂIEFEMIKHKEﬂTH

- MERR - INERR - EERR KT
Eé%ﬂﬂ°§$AE$%EHEHﬁE

HRBR - &t

7] 23 JEL By

AEEARMNEEHMEEOMERREE
BFTBIRITERER - AKBEWEFERY
e T AR ERRER - ARAEE
BT BRITIEFABREFEFE - BR—
FREE - EFEE ST ESEH0HRM
FRIE o

-
E
~

.
E—&"

=

g A 7
(=27 i B 0 2k 554 o) -



Y
(2]
(o]

010z Hodey [enuuy |

A3LINIT ADOTONHOFL TYNOILYNYILINI HOOF1

Notes to the Financial Statements

VA it o B ik

31 December 2010
—E—ZTF+-A=+—H

39. Financial Risk Management Objectives
and Policies (Continued)

Market risk

The Group’s production process requires a significant
amount of electrolytic lead, ABS plastics, sulphuric acid
and other materials, and the Group’s success depends
significantly on its ability to secure sufficient and
constant supply of principal raw materials for its
production at acceptable price levels. Electrolytic lead
is the most significant raw material used in the Group’s
production. The Group does not have long-term, fixed-
cost supply contracts of raw materials with its suppliers.
Since many of the Group’s sales are priced by reference
to the market price of lead at the time of a particular
order, its exposure to the risk of changes in price of
lead is reduced.

Foreign currency risk

The Group operates in Hong Kong, the United States
and mainland China. For companies in mainland China,
their principal activities are transacted in RMB. For other
companies outside of PRC, their principal activities are
transacted in US$. The Group does not enter into any
hedging transactions to manage the potential
fluctuation in foreign currency as the directors consider
that the Group has no significant foreign currencies risk
exposure.
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39. Financial Risk Management Objectives
and POliCies (Continued)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy customers. It is the Group’s policy that all
customers who wish to trade on credit terms are
subject to credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis,
and therefore, the Group’s exposure to bad debts is
not significant.

The credit risk of the other financial assets of the Group,
which comprise cash and bank balances and pledged
deposits, deposits and other receivables and amounts
due from related companies, risk arises from default of
the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to
the carrying amounts of these instruments.

Significant concentration of credit risk

Concentration of credit risk exists when changes in
economic, industry or geographic factors similarly affect
groups of counterparties whose aggregate credit
exposure is significant in relation to the Group’s total
credit exposure. The Group had concentration of credit
risk with the top five customers which accounted for
44% of the Group’s total trade receivable balances as
at 31 December 2010 (2009: 64%). Sales to these
customers accounted for 39% of the Group’s total sales
for the year ended 31 December 2010 (2009: 50%).

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers
the maturity of both its financial instruments and
financial assets (e.g., trade receivables) and projected
cash flows from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
bank borrowings. In addition, banking facilities have
been put in place for contingency purposes.
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39. Financial Risk Management Objectives

and Policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities,
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based on the contractual undiscounted payments, is WRARTWET -
as follows:
2010 —E—FF
Less than 3t012 1t05
On demand 3 months months years Total
REXE HR3MEA 3-12f8 A 1-5% @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARETR
Interest-bearing bank FERTER - 183,128 240,807 - 423,935
borrowings
Trade and bills payables EARMNTER
EREE - 196,091 141,960 7,399 345,450
Other payables and HttERRER
accruals EEA - 65,237 - - 65,237
Amount due to a director Ef-REENHE - - - - -
Amounts due to related ENBELT
companies WA 48,135 - - - 48,135
48,135 444,456 382,767 7,399 882,757
2009 ZEENF
Less than 31012 1105
On demand 3 months months years Total
REXH HR3EA 312 A 156 @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETT ARETT ARBTT AREFTL
Interest-bearing bank FTERITER
borrowings 5,462 84,565 86,741 - 176,768
Trade and bills payables BHEAFER
ERZE - 65,671 87,131 10,304 163,106
Other payables and A ERFER
accruals EHER - 54,938 - - 54,938
Amount due to a director Ef—RZEMNHE 58,476 - - - 58,476
Amounts due to related EEEAR
companies g0 54,383 - - - 54,383
118,321 205,174 173,872 10,304 507,671
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39. Financial Risk Management Objectives

and POliCies (Continued)

Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital
management is to ensure that it maintains a strong
credit rating and a healthy capital ratio in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the
year ended 31 December 2010.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which
is total debts divided by total assets. The Group’s total
debts include interest-bearing bank borrowings, an
amount due to a director and amounts due to related
companies (non-trade).
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40. Comparative Amounts 40.
Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified
to conform with the current year’s presentation.

41. Approval of the Financial Statements 41,

Group

rEE
2010 2009
—E-%F | ZTTNHF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARETFT
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FFERIRTITIEE 416,629 173,331
Amount due to a director B —REEHFIE - 58,476

Amounts due to related companies FERTREE R RIMFRIA

(non-trade) (3EE %) - 1,925
Total debts AR 416,629 233,732
Total assets MEE 3,084,075 1,091,192
Gearing ratio BEAELE 13.51% 21.42%

The financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 15 March 2011.
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Four Year Financial Summary

V] 4 B 265 47

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last four financial
years, as extracted from the published audited financial
statements is set out below.

s B E TR ERHM BHRRNAKERBIE
MEFBFENEENREE  RENMFZEE
SR

Year ended 31 December

BET-A=t-ALEE

2010 2009 2008 2007
—B-BF | —ETAF CZTEN\F  CZERLR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR | ARETT ARETT ARETT
RESULTS E
REVENUE Yz 2,116,871 1,391,533 1,498,997 1,129,129
Cost of sales Fiek=I DN (1,591,254) | (1,102,083)  (1,295,102) (979,696)
Gross profit EF 525,617 289,450 203,895 149,433
Other income and gains A R as 22,375 20,561 10,160 5,898
Selling and distribution costs  $H&E M2 $5 A A (76,495) (57,292) (43,660) (34,122)
Administrative expenses THRAX (119,261) (70,084) (59,028) (43,404)
Other expenses Hifx (30,311) (13,220) (15,401) (18,489)
Finance costs BT SRR (22,205) (9,614) (8,343) (5,405)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX A& F 299,720 159,801 87,623 53,911
Tax IR (42,210) (14,523) (12,865) (2,281)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AEE G 257,510 145,278 74,758 51,630
Profit for the year AT AT
attributable to: REEZRF
Owners of the parent ISNEIETFEPN 257,510 145,273 74,644 50,676
Non-controlling interests FEERER - 5 114 954
257,510 145,278 74,758 51,630
. eqe . M == > YA
Assets, Liabilities and Non-controlling & & ~ B8 M IF 1
Interests
As at 31 December of
Rt+t=-B=+—H
2010 2009 2008 2007
—E-ZH | ZTENF ZZTN\F CZTTtF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR | ARETT ARETT ARETI
TOTAL ASSETS BEBE 3,084,075 1,091,192 793,564 655,362
TOTAL LIABILITIES BEES (1,004,301) (594,028 (437,287) (338,165)
NON-CONTROLLING FERER
INTERESTS - — (1,200) (2,526)
2,079,774 497,164 355,077 314,671
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